
Cabinet

Wednesday 22 September 2021 10.00 am

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

Item Discussion Portfolio

1 Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence.

Leader of  Council

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 16)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 21 July 2021 
(minutes attached).

Leader of the 
Council

3 Declarations of Interest 

To  declare any pecuniary or personal interests relating to specific 
matters on the agenda.

Please see information note (1) at the end of the agenda

Leader of  Council

4 Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

Written questions 

To answer any written questions from a County Councillor, (or any 
person living or working in the county, or is affected by the work of the 
County Council), about any matter which relates to any item on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

The closing date for the receipt of written questions is 4.00 pm on 
Thursday 16 September 2021.

Please submit any questions to 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

A written answer will be provided for each written question received (to 

Leader of the 
Council

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


22 September 2021

be presented to the questioner and to Cabinet (in advance of the 
meeting). The questions and answers will be taken as read and will not 
be read out at the meeting. At the discretion of the Leader of Council, 
each questioner ( in attendance at the meeting) will be allowed to ask 
one supplementary question (in response to the answer given to the 
original question). 

A copy of all written questions and written answers circulated at the 
meeting will be attached to the signed copy of the minutes of the 
meeting.

Urgent questions

An urgent written question may be asked by a member of the public 
about any item on the Cabinet agenda for that meeting which the 
Chairperson considers could not have been reasonably submitted by the 
deadline for the receipt of written questions, provided he or she gives 
notice of the question to the Chief Executive by 12 noon the day before 
the meeting.

Key Decisions

5 Recommissioning of a Move-on and Enablement Service for 
Young People with Disabilities in Stroud (Pages 17 - 28)

Cabinet Member -
Adult Social Care
Commissioning

6 Recommissioning of an Expert by Experience (EBE) led 
Quality Assurance (QA) Programme for health & social care 
commissioned services for people with disabilities.. (Pages 29 
- 38)

Cllr Cabinet 
Member -
Adult Social Care
Commissioning

7 Community Meals – Re-Procurement (Pages 39 - 52) Cabinet Member -
Adult Social Care
Commissioning

8 The procurement of highway services and construction phase 
works in connection with the delivery of Blakeney West 
Geotechnical Stabilisation Scheme (Pages 53 - 58)

Cabinet Member -
Highways and
Flood

9 Highways Major Project Framework Contract (Pages 59 - 66) Cabinet Member -
Highways and
Flood

10 Procurement of Physical Book Stock for Gloucestershire 
Libraries (Pages 67 - 74)

Cabinet Member -
Public Protection,
Parking and
Libraries



22 September 2021

11 Parking ICT Contracts (Pages 75 - 84) Cabinet Member -
Public Protection,
Parking and
Libraries

12 Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service Draft Community 
Risk Management Plan 2022-2025 (Pages 85 - 116)

Cabinet Member -
Public Protection,
Parking and
Libraries

13 Financial Monitoring Report 2021/22 (Pages 117 - 130) Deputy Leader
and Cabinet
Member - Finance
and Change

14 Schedule of Proposed Disposals (Pages 131 - 142)

To consider the disposal of properties and sites deemed surplus to
requirement in line with the Council’s Policy for the Disposal of 
Property.

Please note: this report contains both exempt and non-exempt
information.

To discuss the exempt information detailed in the appendices to
the published report, consideration must first be given to whether
the public and press should be excluded from the meeting b
passing the following resolution:-

In accordance with Regulation 4 (2)(b) of the Local Authorities
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information)
(England) Regulations 2012, consideration must be given to
confirm whether members of the public and press should be
excluded from the meeting for this item of business because it is
likely that, if present there would be disclosure to them of exempt
information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A
to the Act, and the public interest in withholding the information
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the
public.

Deputy Leader
and Cabinet
Member - Finance
and Change

Other Decisions

15 Bus Back Better - Gloucestershire's Bus Service Improvement 
Plan (Pages 143 - 154)

Cabinet Member
for Economy,
Education and
Skills



22 September 2021

Cabinet
Cllr Stephen Davies, Cllr David Gray, Cllr Philip Robinson, Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE, 
Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr David Norman MBE, Cllr Vernon Smith, 
Cllr Lynden Stowe and Cllr Kathy Williams

NOTES
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to 

make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Director of Policy, Performance and 
Governance ( 01452 328506 e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the 
meeting.

2. INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or reports 
relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the meeting, please 
contact: Stephen Bace, Lead Democratic Services Adviser :01452 324204/e-mail: 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk

3. DEFINITION OF A KEY DECISION - A ‘Key Decision’ is one that is, if implemented, is likely to
 Result in significant additional expenditure or savings to the value of £500,000 or more, or
 Be significant in terms of its effect on communities in two or more electoral divisions.

4.

5. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS - Members are required to sign the attendance list.

PHOTOGRAPHY, FILMING AND AUDIO RECORDING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS is permitted 
subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions. Please contact Democratic 
Services (01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting. If you are 
a member of the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the 
Democratic Services Officer on duty at the meeting.  

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please 
leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point located outside the 
main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further 
instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


CABINET

21 July 2021

Gloucestershire
County
Council

Minutes

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Stephen Davies – Cabinet Member for Childrens Safeguarding and Early Years
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin – Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning
Cllr Kathy Williams – Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery
Cllr David Gray – Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning
Cllr Dave Norman – Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries
Cllr Phil Robinson – Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills
Cllr Vernon Smith – Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood
Cllr Tim Harman – Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities

-

The meeting was chaired by Cllr Tim Harman, who had been nominated by the 
Leader of the Council to chair the meeting in the absence of the Leader and the 
Deputy Leader.

1. Apologies 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Leader of Council (In attendance via webex)
Cllr Lynden Stowe – Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Finance and Change

Cllr Tim Harman explained that the Leader was joining the meeting virtually in order 
to answer his questions under item 4.  However, as he was unable to attend the 
meeting in person, he would not be participating in the decision-making .

2. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on 23 June 2021 were agreed as a correct record. 

3. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 1 -

4. Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

A total of 3 public questions were asked at the meeting. The following 
supplementary:

Question 3 – Alan Mossman attempted to ask the question via web ex but had 
connection issues and therefore would submit his question in writing.

A total of 26 member questions were asked for the meeting. The following 
supplementary questions were asked:

Question 3 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton explained that he welcomed the programme, but 
asked when Estcourt road would be resurfaced? He asked that funds be made 
available to include the southern section.

Cllr Vernon Smith replied that he would be happy to meet on site with the local 
highways manager and would look at what the Council could do to get the section 
completed.

Question 4 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton welcomed establishment of the fund, but asked why 
it was named after the conservative manifesto?

Cllr Mark Hawthorne replied through webex that the conservative party set out the 
programme as promised in their manifesto and they had a mandate to deliver it.

Question 6 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson suggested that money had been available in 
February to support the Lib Dem budget proposal for a Covid community grant and 
asked why 6 months had been wasted before bringing a scheme forward. 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne replied through web ex that many millions had been spent on 
supporting communities during the pandemic. There was an underspend in the 
Covid grant at the end of the financial year. Some money had been held back to be 
spent in the current financial year. Cabinet was putting forward a £40,000 pot for 
every councillor.

Question 7 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson stated that the funding from government was 
provided to help communities within that financial year. He asked why the Cabinet 
had not spent that money as opposed to helping their bank balance?

Cllr Mark Hawthorne replied via webex that the funds had been allocated to provide 
support during the pandemic and that the money had been held back ready for 
continuing covid costs. This money would be spent on ensuring the recovery plan 
for the county was delivered.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Question 11 – Cllr Alex Hegenbarth asked what plans were in place for improving 
electricity infrastructure at the site to expand the number of charging points moving 
forward.

Cllr David Gray replied that the Council was looking at energy generation going 
forward through photovoltaic cells. In the longer term it would be including flexibility 
to expand the number of charging points.

Question 12 - Cllr Alex Hegenbarth asked for specific information from the 
assessment that had been carried out about the categories of road users who were 
using the Arle Court Site. 

Cllr David Gray – replied that he would need to check with officers and come back if 
there are any restrictions relating to GDPR.  He would provide the information if 
possible.

Question 13 – Cllr Alex Hegenbarth asked if the cabinet member could confirm that 
there would not be any charging for storage vehicles. 

Cllr David Gray replied that consideration was still being given and that the whole 
objective was to encourage cyclists where possible.

Question 14 – Cllr Alex Hegenbarth asked for commitment of other ways of 
offsetting carbon.

Cllr David Gray replied that the scheme would be a big benefit for reduction of 
carbon. In the construction, the aim was to minimise carbon as much as possible.

Question 15 – Cllr Alex Hegenbarth asked what ‘favourable conditions’  meant and 
how many kilowatts per hour of energy was generated by the photovoltaic cells? , 

Cllr David Gray replied that he was not in position to give detailed numbers, but the 
ambition was there to generate as much electricity as possible.

Question 16 – Cllr Alex Hegenbarth asked whether  the cabinet member would 
commit to bring the Arle Court Transport Hub plans to the Environment Scrutiny 
Committee prior to them being committed?

Cllr David Gray replied that if the Environment Scrutiny Committee wanted to look 
at this and required more information then he would be happy to work with them.

Question 17 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson asked how the Council could increase the 
availability of electric vehicle charging points in rural areas ? 

Cllr David Gray replied that initial priority would be given to those areas where the 
benefits would be greatest, but that the Cabinet was committeed to improving 
accessibility across Gloucestershire.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Question 18 – Cllr John Bloxsom asked if the cabinet member could explain what 
practicable steps could be taken to develop the market given the challenges faced 
by providers.

Cllr Stephen Davies replied that the report was looking to set up a process for 
market testing and working to break tenders down into smaller parts to help 
encourage responses.

Question 21- Cllr John Bloxsom asked whether the  youth strategy would be rolled 
out as proposed by the Youth Strategy Scrutiny Task Group.

Cllr Stephen Davies relied that he had sat on that task group and would be able to 
provide more detail over time with regards to the strategy. 

Question 23 – Cllr John Bloxsom asked for assurances that there would be a 
reduction in out of county placements.

Cllr Stephen Davies stated that the report clearly highlights the need to do this with 
specific targets.

Question 25 – Cllr John Bloxsom asked whether the member would take active 
steps to look at provision of additional accommodation and work with other 
providers?

Cllr Kathy Williams replied that the Domestic Abuse local partnership board was  
very new and the aim was to try to secure placements within the county. 

5. Short Breaks for Children and Young People with Disabilities 

Cllr Stephen Davies, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years,
sought Cabinet support for a revised strategy for the commissioning of short breaks 
for children and young people with disabilities and sought delegated authority to 
conduct the associated procurement processes.

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) was under a legal duty to provide access to 
information and support for children and young people with a disability and their 
families. The Covid19 pandemic had resulted in a very challenging scenario for 
short breaks provision with demand being variable as a result of children and young 
people ‘shielding’ or finding social distancing a significant challenge. This had been 
compounded by provider staff shortages and a large provider (Hop, Skip and Jump) 
going into administration and then closing. 

The existing Short Break arrangements had not been reviewed for some time, a 
new Short Breaks Working Group had been established with representation from 
parents, local providers and a representative from the Gloucestershire Association 
of Special School Heads to consider the needs of the children and young people 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

and their parents and carers.  To meet demand and respond to the closure of Hop, 
Skip and Jump, the paper proposed the retendering of existing contracts and the 
further development of frameworks. 

It was noted that there was an amendment to the recommendation in the report.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and.

RESOLVED to:

(1) Agree the proposed commissioning strategy and timeline.

(2) Authorise the Executive Director of Children’s Services in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years to:

a) Conduct a compliant competitive tender process for the development of a 
three-year contract with the option to extend for a further two years for 
directly provided Short Break services.

b) Upon conclusion of the competitive tender process, to enter into contract 
arrangements with preferred providers

c) Determine whether to exercise the option to extend the contract for a further 
period of not more than two years on the expiry of the initial three year term.

d) Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a three year 
Framework Agreement for the supply of activity provision

e) Award such Framework Agreement to the preferred tenderer(s);
f) Procure and award Call-Off Contracts for the supply of activity provision 

under such Framework Agreement whose combined aggregate value shall 
not exceed £3m

g) The combined value of both the contracts and the Framework is estimated 
as £8.3m over the Five years for the delivery of Short Breaks services for 
children and young people with additional needs.

6. Variation of existing contracts for an extension to the existing services to 
Children and Family Centres 

Cllr Stephen Davies, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years,
sought Cabinet approval to vary existing contracts to Barnardo’s, and Gardners
Lane and Oakwood Federation (GLOW) from 1st  April 2022 to 31st  March
2023 for the provision of targeted family support services with Children and
Family Centres in Gloucestershire,to cover Gloucester City, Forest of Dean,
Stroud, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury localities. This would allow the Council to 
reshape and consult in order to offer an integrated service to the children and 
families
in Gloucestershire.

The service provided support to children pre-birth to 11 years and their families, 
who have a level of need that would require intervention.  Covid had had a major 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

impact on the service and, as such, time needed to be taken to review the service 
to understand what it needs to deliver into the future

The current COVID pandemic had shown the real importance of communities and 
how people had worked together to support each other. 

There had been changes from Central Government around Family Hubs, to 
improve cognitive and non-cognitive outcomes in disadvantaged and vulnerable 
children (conception to age five) across a number of areas to help children to 
achieve their potential and improve their chances of success in later life.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Children’s Services in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years to issue a 
variation to the following contracts with two existing providers to extend the end 
date of the contracts by 12 months:-

 Barnardo’s: for the provision of targeted family support services with children 
and families centres in the Gloucester City locality; and the Forest of Dean 
and Stroud localities.

 Gardners Lane and Oakwood Federation (GLOW): for the provision of the 
above services in the localities of Cheltenham and Tewkesbury.

7. Extension of existing contact for Youth Support Services. 

Cllr Stephen Davies, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years,
sought Cabinet agreement for a way forward for Youth Support services to continue 
to discharge the Council’s statutory and partnership responsibilities towards young 
people aged 10 to 24 years following the end of the current Youth Support contract 
in March 2022, acknowledging the wide-ranging impact of the coronavirus 
pandemic.

In July 2020 Cabinet authorised the Executive Director for Children’s Services, in 
consultation with the Lead Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early 
Years to make a direct contract award to the Council’s incumbent provider of Youth 
Support Services (Prospects Services), for a period of 12 months from April 2021 to 
March 2022.

Cabinet was now being asked to approve a variation of the Council’s existing 
contract with Prospects Services by extending its term for an interim period of six 
months, from 1 April 2022 to 30 September 2022, in order to provide the Council 
with an opportunity to complete a process of extensive market testing and market 
development in preparation for a full procurement process for a replacement 
contract commencing in October.

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

The Youth support services market has not fully recovered from the effects of 
COVID restrictions and the Council was yet to understand the full impact of the 
pandemic on Young people.  Therefore, a short-term contract extension would 
allow additional time to engage in vigorous market testing exercises and the 
exploratory work necessary to develop future provision. It would also allow 
additional time to secure the provision of statutory services for young people whilst 
the market for such services recovers from the effects of COVID restrictions.  

The council has a number of statutory responsibilities outlined in the report.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and.

RESOLVED to:

Approve the variation of the Council’s existing contract with Prospects Services (the 
current provider of integrated countywide Youth Support services) by extending its 
term for an interim period of six months, from 1 April 2022 to 30 September 2022, in 
order to provide the Council with an opportunity to complete a process of extensive 
market testing and market development in preparation for a full procurement 
process for a replacement contract commencing in October 2022.

8. Residential Framework for Children's Homes 

Cllr Stephen Davies, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years,
sought Cabinet approval to undertake a compliant competitive tender process, in
order to develop ‘in county’ residential provision for Gloucestershire children
and young people in care.

Gloucestershire was committed to ensuring, wherever possible, that children who 
needed to be cared for away from home receive the ‘Right Placement First Time’.  
When a child came into care and depending on their needs an option for some 
children was to be placed into residential care. Previously many local authorities, 
including Gloucestershire maintained their own in-house residential provision but 
over time many of these resources closed.  As a consequence, authorities had 
become increasingly reliant on placing children in private residential homes, 
sometimes many miles from the child’s parents and social networks. 

In order to manage issues in the marketplace we had taken steps to address them, 
by joining together as a purchasing consortium with other local authorities to form a 
larger partnership for a dynamic purchasing system (DPS) for residential children’s 
homes. This system gave a route to market and ensured compliance with Public 
Contract Regulations and UK Procurement Legislation.

The Cabinet Member referred to Trevone House as a good example of the 
approach and the importance of better outcomes and greater certainty with improve 
costs.

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and.

RESOLVED to:

(1) To approve the establishment of a pseudo framework opportunity for Residential 
Care, initially for up to ten 2-3 bed children’s homes and up to two 6 bed children’s 
homes;

(2) To delegate authority to the Executive Director of Children’s Services, in 
consultation with the Executive Director of Corporate Services and Cabinet Member 
for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years, to:

a) Conduct a compliant process for the tender of a 5-year pseudo framework 
agreement for residential children homes. The estimated total value is up to £150m.

b) Upon conclusion of the pseudo framework process; call off up to 7 contracts for 
residential children’s homes in the first year, for a period of 5 years, plus an optional 
extension of up to 5 years to an estimated maximum value of £70m; and, up to 5 
additional residential children’s homes for a period of 5 years, plus an optional 
extension of up to 5 years, to an estimated maximum value of £50m in years 2-5 of 
the framework.

c) Determine whether to exercise the option to extend each call-off contract for 
each home for a further period of not more than 5 years on the expiry of the initial 
five-year term.

9. Youth Justice Plan 2021/22 

Cllr Stephen Davies, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years,
sought Cabinet’s recommendation that Council approve Gloucestershire’s Youth 
Justice Plan 2021/2022.

There was a duty placed on GCC as the accountable body to bring forward an 
annual Youth Justice Plan with input from the statutory partners – Health, Children’s 
Services, Police and Probation. 

The main objective of the strategy was to reduce first time entry into the Youth 
Justice System through ‘Children First’.  This had been successful in reducing the 
number of first time offenders from 162 in 2018 to 28 in 2019. The plan attached at 
Appendix 1 to the report set out the direction and strategy for Youth Justice in the 
county. The work to reduce first time entrants to the youth justice system, 
reoffending rates and the use of custody, as key determinants of effectiveness.. 
Gloucestershire’s Youth Offending service was generally performing well in these 
areas.  

The challenges to future delivery were set out on pages 23 – 26 of the plan and 
priorities for the coming year on page 26.  More work was needed to reduce 
exclusions of young people open to YOS and address the overrepresentation of 
certain groups within the youth justice system.  

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

He thanked the officers for their work in this area.

Cllr Philip Robinson commended the plan, which recognised that education 
provision was a key element. He referred to the importance of holding the education 
sector to account on levels of school exclusion. 

Cllr Dave Norman provided the example of the Fire Service in engaging with young 
people and suggested the involvement of the Chief Fire Officer and Chief Constable 
and Police and Crime Commissioner. 

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and.

RESOLVED to:

To recommend the Youth Justice Plan 2021/22, attached at Appendix 1 to
Council for approval.

10. MHCLG Domestic Abuse Section 31 Grant Funding for 2021/22 

Cllr Kathy Williams, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery sought Cabinet 
approval for investment of the MHCLG Domestic Abuse Section 31 Grant for 
2021/22 to enable us to meet our statutory duties under the Domestic Abuse Act 
2021.

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 placed a statutory duty on Tier 1 local authorities to 
provide support to victims of domestic abuse and their children in refuges and other 
safe accommodation.  Other duties include a requirement to convene a multi-
agency local partnership board (LPB); undertake an accommodation based support 
needs assessment and produce a DA Strategy every three years to inform 
commissioning.

The MHCLG had allocated funding to ensure local authorities were able to meet 
their duties under the Act and in 2021/22, Gloucestershire had received 
£1,105,661in non ring-fenced Section 31 grant for the purposes of providing DA 
safe accommodation-based support and to support the administrative burdens 
associated with the duties.

The LPB had recommended a number of investment options which were outlined in 
the body of the report.  Those options would enhance the offer already provided 
through Gloucestershire’s community based support approach and help to meet our 
statutory obligations with respect to the DA Act.  

Cabinet was asked to support the proposed two phase approach to investment to 
ensure that we are able to use the funding effectively this financial year and avoid 
funding penalties in future years.  

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Agreement was sought  to modify the existing Lot 1 Provider contract and to 
delegate authority to the Executive Director: Adult Social Care and Public Health, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery to issue 
contracts under Lot 2 of the Domestic Abuse Framework; part fund DASV 
associated posts and allocate the remainder of the grant following publication of the 
needs assessment and strategy.

The risks had been identified within the report.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and.

RESOLVED to:

Modify the existing Lot 1 provider contract with Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse 
Support Service (GDASS) up to the value of £405,968 over 2 + 2 years (the current 
contract ends 30th June 2023 and if the +2 option is exercised it will end 30th June 
2025) to include:

1.Floating Support (£12,000 x4 = £48,000); Flexible Funding (£40,000 x4 = 
£160,000) and Target Hardening/Sanctuary referral (£49,492 x4 = £197,968)

2. Modify the existing Lot 1 provider contract with GDASS up to the value of 
£60,000 over three years with annual break clauses for Floating Support linked to 
call off contracts for Places of Safety and Dispersed Refuge (£12,000 x3 = £36,000; 
£8,000 x3 = £24,000) 

Delegate authority to the Executive Director: Adult Social Care and Public Health, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery to:

3. Issue contracts under Lot 2 of the Domestic Abuse Framework up to the value of 
£800,000 over three years for the purpose of providing support in Places of Safety 
(£60,000 x3 + £18,100 x3 additional costs = £234,300); a DA Intervention Post 
(£88,000 x3 = £264,000); Specialist DA Advocates in Housing Teams; DA Training 
for the Housing Sector and DA Housing Champions (estimated £100,000 x3= 
£300,000)

4. Allocate a proportion of our Tier 1 administrative burdens funding towards posts 
which support the domestic abuse and sexual violence work associated with the 
duties arising from the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 to a maximum annual value of 
£100,000.

5. Run a mini competition on the DA framework under Lot 2 to support refuge 
accommodation up to the value of £300,000 over three years and award a contract 
to the successful bidder.

6. Issue contracts under Lot 2 of the Domestic Abuse Framework or the Community 
and Accommodation Based Support (CABS) Framework for scheme costs in 
dispersed refuge units to the maximum value of £180,000 over three years

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

7. Allocate the remainder of the grant (approximately £438,069 for 2021/22) 
following publication of the domestic abuse needs assessment and strategy in 
September 2021 and the subsequent investment recommendations from the LPB.

11. Elected Member Community Grant Scheme Build Back Better - Councillor 
Scheme 

Cllr Tim Harman, Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities presented 
the report on behalf of Cllr Lynden Stowe who sought approval to establish a four-
year grant scheme running to 31 January 2025, where Councillors are each 
allocated £40,000 in total to spend within their division across this period.

The total budget was £2.2 million. The fund built upon the GCC approach to give 
small grants to community groups with minimal bureaucracy and ensuring the 
money reaches the community quickly. The purpose of the fund was to give money 
to local community groups to help with the recovery from the pandemic and building 
back better and stronger. It was felt that County Councillors had a good 
understanding of their area. The decision around approval of the grant would sit 
with the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health. 

The criteria were outlined within the report. Officers would be happy to work with 
councillors to ensure the best use of the money over a four year period.

Cabinet Members noted the difficulties many people were facing during the 
pandemic and it was felt that this would be a real boost to help them get back on 
their feet. Examples were provided of how the money could be spent to build back 
communities. One member urged that councillors look to spend the funds urgently 
as communities were in need of the support. 

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and.

RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health 
to authorise the allocation of the grants in accordance with the criteria and financial 
regulations in consultation with the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member – Finance 
and Change

12. Provision of Food Waste Transfer Services 

Cllr David Gray, Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning sought Cabinet  
consideration of future options for the provision of food waste transfer services
for the delivery of food waste from districts to the central treatment facility,
and to seek approval to put in place the preferred option for the award of a
contract for these services to commence 1st October 2021.

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

The separate collection and treatment of food waste was an established service 
throughout Gloucestershire. All 6 district councils offered a weekly kerbside 
collection service to householders, whilst the County Council provided the treatment 
facility and any necessary haulage from district depots to the treatment facility, 
located in Bishops Cleeve. Current food waste haulage arrangements were in place 
with a number of local private sector operators. 

A new contract for the treatment of food waste had recently been awarded to the 
incumbent provider (Andigestion, at Bishops Cleeve). To support this, food waste 
transfer arrangements needed  to be renewed in Stroud District, Gloucester City 
and Forest of Dean District by 1st October 2021.

There were two viable options to consider in delivering this service outlined in the 
report; a direct award to Ubico Ltd (a local authority owned and controlled company 
of which the council is a shareholder) or procurement from a commercial operator. 
A direct award to Ubico was likely to deliver the most financially beneficial outcome 
in terms of service costs and offers the potential for further efficiencies by 
combining this work with the existing Household Recycling Centre haulage work 
undertaken by Ubico for the council.

It was therefore recommended that members agreed to award a contract for the 
provision of Food Waste Transfer Services in Gloucestershire to Ubico Limited. The 
proposed contract should continue for an initial period of 8 years (commencing 1st 
October 2021) and include an option to extend its term for a further period of not 
more than 2 years.

Cabinet Members discussed putting in place digital technology to allow waste 
collection to be monitored. 

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and
.
RESOLVED to:

1. Award a contract for the provision of Food Waste Transfer Services in 
Gloucestershire to the local authority owned and controlled “Teckal” company 
known as Ubico Limited in which Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) is a 
shareholder. The proposed contract shall continue for an initial period of 8 years 
(commencing 1st October 2021) and include an option to extend its term for a 
further period of not more than 2 years;

2. Delegate authority to the Executive Director for Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Planning to determine whether to exercise such option to extend on the expiry of 
the initial 8 year term.

13. Arle Court Transport Hub –Contract Procurement and Ancillary Orders 

Cllr David Gray Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning sought Cabinet 
approval for  the Executive Director of Economy, Environment & Infrastructure to 

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

conduct a series of competitive procurement processes in respect of the contracts 
described in the Recommendations section of the report for the supply of 
construction works and advanced highways and civils works in relation to the Arle 
Court Transport Hub scheme; and to award such contracts, upon the conclusion of 
such procurement processes, to the preferred tenderers evaluated as offering the 
Council the most economically advantageous tenders.

Members were aware that in October 2020, Gloucestershire County Council had 
signed a funding agreement with Homes England, through the Housing 
Infrastructure Fund, for £249m to deliver a series of infrastructure improvements to 
unlock the housing and job opportunities in Gloucestershire around Junction 10 of 
the M5. This Cabinet Paper related to the procurement of one of those scheme 
elements; the expansion of the existing Arle Court Park and Ride site, Cheltenham, 
to form a new transport interchange, now known as Arle Court Transport Hub.

Cllr Vernon Smith outlined as well as improving the road network, there was also 
cycling, walking and supporting the environment to reduce carbon emissions. He 
praised the scheme which was moving forward. The report outlined the work to 
reduce congestion and pollution on the A40 and ease people’s transition to 
incorporate sustainable transport into their everyday habits. In this context, it 
predominantly meant bus, walking and cycling. The scheme would include 
photovoltaic cells as a green source of energy and 100 electric vehicle charging 
spaces, with the option to expand the number of spaces in the future. 

This paper was seeking Cabinet authorisation to conduct competitive tender 
processes for the supply of design and construction services in relation to Arle 
Court Transport Hub. 

The Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) for the scheme was available to members 
and would be published online. The EIA would be reviewed and updated on 
completion of work packages (i.e. on completion of design, procurement and 
construction), to ensure a continuing duty of regard for equality impacts on groups 
with protected characteristics.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and
.
RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Economy, Environment & 
Infrastructure (in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Planning) to:

1. Conduct a competitive procurement process under the council’s Contractor 
Partnering Framework Agreement: Major Construction Works 2019, Lot 2 in respect  
of a call-offcontract for the supply of construction works in relation to the Arle Court 
Transport Hub scheme;

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

2. Conduct a separate competitive procurement process in respect of a contract for 
the delivery of advanced highways and civil engineering works in relation to the Arle 
Court Transport Hub scheme;

3. Award such contract to the preferred tenderers;

4. Make such ancillary traffic regulation orders as are required in order to 
successfully implement the Arle Court Transport Hub scheme (to include, amongst 
other things, temporary traffic regulation orders (TTRO’s) for temporary speed limits 
etc. during the construction phase of the scheme).

14. Financial Monitoring Report 2021/22 

Cllr Tim Harman, Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities presented 
the report on behalf of Cllr Lynden Stowe, gave an update on the Council’s forecast 
revenue year end position at the end of May 2021 which was a £4.570 million 
overspend all of which is non Covid-19 related. 

A balanced position was forecast in relation to Covid-19 expenditure and income.

The largest non-Covid-19 budget variance was the £6.591 million forecast 
overspend in Children and Families – this overspend is partially offset by the £2.052 
million underspend in Technical & Countywide. The overspend in Children and 
Families reflects the continuing pressure on external placements and home to 
school transport.
 
The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) was forecast to overspend by £16.811 million, 
which includes the deficit carry forward of £13.67 million – this reflects the national 
picture. The implementation of the High Needs Strategy (agreed by Schools Forum) 
would be essential to ensure the budget is balanced in future years and a spending 
review is in progress with a financial recovery plan being reviewed and developed.

Cllr Vernon Smith outlined the investment in highways.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and.

RESOLVED to:

1. Note the forecast revenue year end position based on actual expenditure as at 
the end of April 2021 and May 2021 (Period 2) forecasts for the 2021/22 financial 
year is an overspend of £4.570 million all of which related to non Covid-19 
expenditure, as we are forecasting a balanced position in relation to Covid-19 
expenditure and income.

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

2. Note the forecast capital year end position as at the end of May 2021 of 
£158.187 million against the current budget of £158.187 million.

3. Approve the recommended transfer of £1million from the earmarked minimum 
wages reserve, which is no longer required, to General Reserves.

4. Approve the £4.005 million decrease to the capital programme as outlined in 
section B of the report.

Leader of Council

Meeting concluded at 11:15

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Recommissioning of a Move-on and Enablement Service for Young People with 
Learning Disabilities in Stroud

Cabinet Date 22nd September 2021

Cabinet Members Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, Adult Social Care Commissioning

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek approval of commissioning plans that will allow for the continued 
provision of a move-on and enablement support service for young people 
with learning disabilities in Stroud from April 2022.

Recommendations

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director of Adult 
Social Care and Public Health in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Adult Social Care Commissioning to:

a) Conduct a compliant tender process for the award of a three year 
(with provision for an optional two-year extension) move-on and 
enablement service for young people with mild/moderate learning 
disabilities (LD) in the Stroud locality.

b) Upon conclusion of the tender process, award and enter into contract 
with the provider who has been evaluated as achieving the highest 
requisite score against the relevant evaluation criteria, as set by the 
Council.

c) Determine whether to exercise the option to extend the contract for a 
further period of not more than two years on expiry of the initial three 
year term.

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



Reasons for 
recommendations

The current provision (known as ‘Kingfishers’) is a valuable service based in 
Stroud, which supports young people with a mild to moderate learning 
disability who have the potential to live independently, but need a period of 
accommodation-based enablement support.

There is a demonstrable need for this type of service in the county, since its 
launch the current service has continuously managed a waiting list, with 
some individuals waiting up to 2 years to move in.  The contract for the 
current service will cease in April 2022 and will need to be retendered via 
an open procurement service.

The Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) for people with Learning 
Disabilities and Autism highlights: 

 2.16% of adults and 2.5% of children in the UK are believed to have 
a learning disability.

 The percentage of adults with a LD is predicted to rise by 12.3% 
between 2018 and 2035.

 Approximately 11,746 adults in Gloucestershire have a learning 
disability, with the majority (approximately 79.47%) of these people 
experiencing a mild/moderate LD.

 There are 1,451 children aged between 7-15 identified in schools 
with learning disabilities and/or Autistic Spectrum Conditions (ASC).

 The largest group (43.07%) within those 1,451 children are defined 
as MLD (Mild/Moderate Learning Disability)

The current service model provides for those who have eligible adult social 
care needs upon entry. Evidence shows that in most cases individuals go 
on to live independently with no, or very minimal, long term paid support. 

Please see Appendix 1 ‘Case Study of ‘A’’ for a recent example of an 
individual that has been upskilled to live independently and without any 
long-term social care support by this service. The appendix also 
demonstrates the financial impact of how this service works to support the 
GCC demand management principles.

Appendix 2 ‘Move On Analysis 2015-2021’ provides a breakdown of move 
on destinations for the young people who have accessed the service since 
2015.

Resource 
Implications

Total 5-year contract value = £738,610 (£147,722 per annum) available 
from within existing budgets.

Project management and support resources will be provided from within 
existing support teams.

Page 18



Background 
Documents

 Executive Decision Making by an Officer with Delegated Powers: 
Direct contract award to Action for Children for the Kingfisher service

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for Learning Disabilities & Autism

 Cabinet Report - 20 April 2016

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s28945/Item%207%20-
%20Supporting%20People%20Strategy%20Update.pdf 

 Contract Extension for Accommodation Based Support for 
Vulnerable Homelessness Young People 

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=823

Statutory Authority The Care Act 2014

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

Officer Name:  Kim Forey - Director of Integration

Tel. no: 01452 583799

Email: kimforey@nhs.net

Timeline Cabinet Approval: September 2021

Tender Process: November 2021

Contract Award: January 2022

Contract Start: April 2022

Page 19

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s28945/Item%207%20-%20Supporting%20People%20Strategy%20Update.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s28945/Item%207%20-%20Supporting%20People%20Strategy%20Update.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=823


Background 

1. The provision is a move-on and enablement service for young people with mild to 
moderate learning disabilities has been available in Stroud for over 15 years. Since its 
inception the service has been run by Action for Children who deliver the service from a 
property they own in Ebley, Stroud.

2. The service began with funding made available by Supporting People (Transitional 
Housing Benefit), later transitioning contractual responsibility to CYP Education and 
finally in 2019 to Adults Disabilities Commissioning, where it continues to be funded 
outside of traditional external care arrangements due to its bespoke nature.

3. The current service has availability to provide accommodation for up to seven young 
people at a time. Individuals must be between the ages of eighteen and twenty-four, 
and have a mild/moderate learning disability with the future potential to live 
independently in order to be eligible for the service. In extraordinary circumstances 16 
and 17 year olds will be considered eligible. Priority is given to those who have 
connection to the Stroud area but this is not a requirement.

4. On average, young people are supported for 2 to 2.5 years before moving onto 
independent living. The support delivered at the service includes:

 A licence agreement and support to maintain it
 Person-centred planning that focuses on finding out what is important to each young 

person
 Support with budgeting and benefits
 Support with paperwork
 Advice on staying safe
 Mental health & wellbeing support
 Support with finding work
 Support with finding accommodation
 Support with practical skills such as travel, cooking and cleaning
 Transition support following move on (up to 5 hours per week for 6 months).

This service enables young people to achieve their full potential. A person-centred 
approach is used ensuring the voice of the individual is at the centre of any plans that 
are made and goals that are set.

The service aims to equip individuals with the skills and knowledge to be able to live 
independently, with no or very little long-term paid support – supporting the local and 
national agenda for early, effective preventative support.

5. Referrals to the service are made via social care locality teams, family members, district 
housing teams or other professionals. The service provider manages the waiting list in 
conjunction with these partners to ensure priorities and risks are managed. 

Page 20



The referral process includes discussion with the local housing department so suitable 
move-on properties can be identified at the earliest opportunity, individuals also receive 
a social care assessment to confirm eligibility. 

6. There is a well-established partnership between GCC, the current service provider and 
Stroud District Council which enables the young people accessing the service to be 
allocated to a local authority at the point that they are ready to move on (this practice 
was previously encompassed by the START project). It is this crucial element of 
ensuring that young people are given the necessary ‘Gold Band’ Homeseeker status, 
which ensures a continual throughput in the service and the successful and safe 
transition for young people into their own home. Currently Stroud is the only district 
where this type of agreement is in place, although there is potential for this to be 
replicated with other localities.

7. In line with the provisions of both the Children and Families Act and Care Act, which 
focus on outcomes, personalisation and wellbeing, this service focuses on community-
based preventative support that will avoid crises and help support people to be active 
members of the community.

Options

8. Option 1: Recommission.

This is the recommended option.

It is a valuable service, which supports young people with a disability who have the 
potential to live independently, but need a period of accommodation-based enablement 
support. Evidence shows that, in many cases, these individuals go on to live 
independently with no, or very minimal, long term paid support.

A revised specification will be developed to encompass feedback from key 
stakeholders, this will draw on the successes of the current model whilst ensuring 
identified opportunities for further development are realised.

It is noted that the new contractual arrangements will include TUPE conditions as part 
of any service transfer to a new organisation. Information about any TUPE implications 
will be included within the tender pack for any potential bidders to consider.

9. Option 2: De-commission.  

This option is not recommended as it would result in the service having to close and 7 
individuals with support needs being made homeless. There is little capacity within 
existing supported living services in the Stroud area and it is likely this would be at an 
additional cost. The local housing department would not be able to provide 
accommodation for these individuals at short notice, nor would they be ready for 
independent living at this stage. Emergency accommodation would place them at 
significant risk. The individuals who would have accessed this service would have a 
higher level of need and require more ongoing support from Adult Social Care.

Page 21



10. Option 3: Transition this service onto the existing Health and Social Care Framework 
contract.

This option has been considered and is not recommended due to the bespoke delivery 
and cost model, the specification of the framework would not support this service 
appropriately.

Risks 

11. Any risks associated with the project have been identified and a risk register prepared 
which will be regularly reviewed by the project team and can be made available upon 
request.  

Financial implications

12. In 2019/20 negotiations took place between the Council’s Disabilities Commissioning 
Team and the current service provider to appropriately align the elements of cost 
relating to housing management. This created a permanent service cost reduction of 
£35,000 per annum. 

Financial resource to cover the cost of this service is already available within existing 
budgets.

Climate change implications

13. Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral

Vulnerable to climate change? No

Equality implications

14. Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes 

Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in order 
to satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

15. Any DPIA implications associated with this project have been identified alongside 
colleagues from the Information Management Service (IMS) and included within the 
project risk register as appropriate. The completed DPIA can be made available upon 
request.

Social value implications

16. Any newly awarded contract will contain a requirement for the provider to demonstrate 
social value in line with the contractual obligations of the Gloucestershire health & 
social care framework. It will focus on employment opportunities, engagement with the 
local community and improving the lives and outcomes of individuals.

A question relating to social value will also be included as part of the tender 
questionnaire.

Page 22



Consultation feedback

17. Consultee: Housing Team, Stroud District Council

The service works well and the current provider does a good job of managing 
allocations and ensuring enough time and planning for move-on. Any consideration for 
move-on should explore the possibility of the private housing market, not just rely solely 
on the option of authority provided housing.

The revised specification will ensure the service provider demonstrates the 
exploration/suitability of all types of move-on accommodation.

18. Consultee: Stroud Locality Integrated Social Care Team, GCC

It’s a well-regarded service which we could do with more of around the county. The 
length of stay for some individuals could possibly be shorter, allowing for others to 
receive the benefit of living there sooner.

The length of stay will be defined as a maximum of 2 years in the revised service 
specification. Outcome-based performance incentives within the contract will be 
considered.

19. Consultee: Learning Disabilities Integrated Social Care Team, GCC

The service achieves consistently good outcomes for specific group of vulnerable 
young people and works particularly well with other partners i.e. GCC Enablement 
Team, Housing. Another similar service in another area of Gloucestershire could be 
beneficial.

20. Additional Consultees:

Disabled Children & Young People’s Team, GCC

Strategic Procurement, GCC

Legal Services, GCC

Strategic Finance, GCC

Information Management Service, GCC

Action for Children

21. As part of the ongoing programme of contract monitoring, feedback from individuals 
supported and their families is sought – here is some of this recent feedback:

A parent said in relation to a young person’s move on “that ideally she’d like x to stay at 
Kingfishers permanently or wants the Project manager to retire and look after them”. - 
June 2021

A young person said in APR feedback about their Key worker “she is the best worker 
ever I will miss her when I leave” June 2021

Page 23



A parent said in their EXIT questionnaire: “there are no things I was not satisfied with. 
Moving to Kingfishers was the best thing for X. I am very happy they spent time here”. 
A young person said in their EXIT questionnaire: “There were ups and downs but I do 
not regret my time at Kingfishers. I won’t forget all the support you gave me when my 
Nan passed”. June 2021.  

Officer recommendations

22. That Cabinet approve the recommendations as set out in this report.

Performance Management/Follow-up 

23. The Integrated Disabilities Commissioning Hub have established quality and contract 
management frameworks, compliance with which will be a requirement of any contract 
awarded. Work will be done alongside the Strategic Procurement team to ensure that 
any service-specific key performance indicators are both informative and proportionate.

The contract will be underpinned by robust and peer led performance monitoring in 
partnership with colleagues in district councils, health, social care operations, 
commissioning and safeguarding.

Page 24



Appendix 1 – Case Study of ‘A’ (an individual who has received support from Action for 
Children at Kingfishers)

Initial Referral – January 2014

‘A’ was initially referred to the Adult Helpdesk in January 2014, aged 21 by his 
education provider. There were concerns of ‘A’ becoming socially isolated living at 
home especially as he was planning to leave college in the summer. ‘A’ was feeling 
more reclusive and withdrawn and as he put it "odd". As part of the agreed Education, 
Health and Care Plan (EHCP) he was asking to move into Supported Living just as a 
number of his peers were planning. 

At this stage ‘A’ presented with high anxiety and had been attending an anxiety 
management workshop plus receiving support from a number of health professionals. It 
was also clear that his home environment wasn’t working for either ‘A’ or his family but 
family carers were unsure of how to address this.  

At this time ‘A’ presented with eligible needs in most areas in accordance with The Care 
Act 2014. Appropriate supported living placements explored at the time would have 
cost at least £500 per week.

At this stage ‘A’ did not have a diagnosed learning disability so the referral and 
assessment were processed by the Stroud Locality Social Care Team.

Learning Disabilities Social Care Team Input - March 2015

After input of the local Community Learning Disability Team (CLDT) and the support of 
his GP, ‘A’ was diagnosed as having a Learning Disability.  Concerns were again being 
raised about his social isolation. Family were now expressing that they were no longer 
able to support ‘A’ to meet his needs in the home environment. His education provision 
had moved to another local provider and ‘A’ was also receiving support from the GCC 
Enablement Team who were finding it challenging to engage with the family.  A referral 
was made to Carers Gloucestershire as ‘A’s father and main carer was becoming 
unwell.

‘A’ received another social care assessment in July 2015 again deeming him to have 
eligible needs in accordance with The Care Act 2014. It was at this time he was also 
supported to completed a referral to the Kingfisher service.

Time supported by Action for Children at Kingfishers

Throughout this time ‘A’ received intensive enablement support to address the needs 
identified at assessment. He was supported to develop his independent living skills as 
well as engaging with additional education opportunities and exploring employment 
options.

Page 25



Move On – December 2018

In the lead up to ‘A’ moving on from Kingfishers, Action for Children coordinated a multi-
disciplinary approach to ensure a successful and smooth transition for ‘A’. All the 
necessary support to secure suitable housing and the associated required benefits was 
put in place in a timely way to ensure ‘A’s anxieties were not triggered. 

The transition support offered by Action for Children ensured ‘A’ was able to transfer 
previously learnt skills to his new environment i.e. using new bus routes, accessing 
local drop in and community groups. 

His updated assessment outlined a significant change in his needs due to his newly 
gained skills and confidence. The updated assessment facilitated social care staff to 
connect ‘A’ with universal community support, avoiding the requirement for any ongoing 
paid social care services.

Present Day – August 2021

‘A’ is still living independently and is connected to a number of universal community 
support options which he accesses independently for support when needed. He has no 
formal social care funded services.

Cost Analysis

Investment:

Cost of Kingfisher service for ‘A’ = £43,938

Additional social care services received (up to present day) = £0

Cost ‘Avoided’

Based on assessments and available supported living options (plus accounting for rate 
changes and inflation), it is estimated ‘A’s cost to social care from July 2015 (the point 
he started at Kingfishers) to the present day would have been a minimum of £216,771. 

This demonstrates a cost avoidance total to social care of £172,833 within the past 6 
years for just 1 young person.

Page 26



Appendix 2 – Move on Analysis

29%

53%

18%

Independent Living - no ongoing support

Social Housing/Own Tenancy - short term support

Social Housing/Own Tenancy - long term support

Kingfisher Move On Analysis - 2015 to 2021

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Recommissioning of an Expert by Experience (EBE) led Quality Assurance (QA) 
Programme for health & social care commissioned services for people with disabilities.

Cabinet Date 22nd September 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, Adult Social Care Commissioning

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek approval of commissioning plans that will allow for the continued 
provision of an Expert by Experience (EBE) led Quality Assurance service 
for health and social care services provided for people with disabilities from 
April 2022.

Recommendations

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director of Adult Social 
Care and Public Health, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Adult 
Social Care Commissioning to:

1.
a) Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a contract 

for the supply of Expert by Experience (EBE) led quality checking 
service for health and social care commissioned support for people 
with disabilities (learning disabilities, physical disabilities, mental health 
and autism) for an initial period of three years and include an option to 
extend its term for a further period of up to two years;

b) Upon conclusion of the tender process award and enter into contract 
arrangements with the preferred tenderer; and

c) Determine whether to exercise the option to extend the contract for a 
further period of not more than two years on the expiry of the initial 
three-year term. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



Reasons for 
recommendations

Existing contracts for the Expert by Experience (EBE) led Quality 
Assurance (QA) programme are coming to an end in April 2022 and will 
need to be retendered. The opportunity has been taken to review the 
current arrangements with a view to delivering a more inclusive and 
consistent approaches across Gloucestershire, ensuring the voices of 
individuals receiving support are heard. This service is considered an 
integral part of the ongoing success, relevance and safety of the services 
commissioned by the Council.

The Care Act 2014 requires that local authorities help develop a market that 
delivers a wide range of sustainable high-quality care & support services 
that will be available for their communities. The Act also states that when 
buying and arranging services, local authorities must consider how they 
may affect an individual’s wellbeing. 

An EBE-led quality service for those with disabilities ensures the Local 
Authority continues to implement the recommendations made by 
Government following the Winterbourne View Serious Case Review and 
Enquiry. Ensuring the voices of individuals receiving support are heard and 
considered is an integral part of the ongoing success, relevance and safety 
of the services we commission.

Approval will allow for the Expert by Experience (EBE) led Quality 
Assurance (QA) service to continue and alignment of the three current  
contracts into a single contract for reasons mentioned in this report, 
providing flexibility between disciplines, aligning operational processes and 
creating a more streamlined contract management process. Consistency 
across the three disciplines will be reinforced which in turn will deliver a 
more standardised reporting and action planning process for services, 
reducing inequalities between client groups.

Resource 
Implications

The combined annual value of the three current contracts is £160,000. 

The estimated value of the intended service is £800,000 over the potential 
five-year contract period.

Funding is available from within existing budgets. There will be no additional 
impact on the current level of spend as a result of the recommendations set 
out in this report. 

Project management and support resources will be provided from within 
existing support teams.

Page 30



Background 
Documents

The Care Act 2014

NHS Long Term Plan

Winterbourne View – Time for Change 

Winterbourne View – Government Response

Adult Single Programme Management Team briefing paper – ‘Quality 
Assurance Jan 2020’

Statutory Authority The Care Act 2014

Divisional 
Councillor(s)  All

Officer Name:  Kim Forey - Director of Integration

Tel. no: 01452 583799

Email: kimforey@nhs.net

Timeline Cabinet Approval: September 2021

Contract Start: April 2022

Page 31

mailto:kimforey@nhs.net


Background 

1. Experts by Experience (EBE) are individuals who have direct experience of living with a 
disability or long-term condition and who may receive care and support services to 
maintain their independence.

2. The EBE led Quality Assurance (QA) service is one of three work streams forming the 
Integrated Commissioning QA programme. The programme provides oversight, support 
and scrutiny across all social care services commissioned for individuals with learning 
disabilities, physical disabilities, mental health issues and/or autism. This includes the 
provision commissioned via the Health & Social Care Framework including joint funded 
arrangements (via s256 agreements with the CCG), residential care homes, services 
provided by Continuing Health Care (CHC), Assessment & Treatment Units (ATU), day 
opportunities, respite care and GCC in-house services. 

3. In quantitative terms this scope of the programme extends to approximately 387 
commissioned care and support organisations that support 2,487 individuals at an annual 
cost of circa £101,741,000 per year.

4. The programme was part of the Joint Commissioning Partnership’s response to the 
Winterbourne View enquiry and is comprised as follows:

 
4.1 Integrated Commissioning Quality Team 
A small team of 2FTE front line Quality Officers plus 1FTE Lead Officer and 
0.8FTE Project Support. 
The team are intelligence-led, often utilised as a point of escalation where 
quality concerns have been raised. The team work closely with organisations to 
provide support and guidance to ensure service provision is of a satisfactory 
standard in line with national and local policy, contracts and Quality Assurance 
Frameworks (QAFs).
All Performance Improvement Plans (PIPs) that are implemented in line with 
the escalation process within the Health & Social Care Framework contracts 
are developed, implemented and completed by this team. 

4.2 Quality Compass and Quality Star software 
Quality Compass is a further development of the original Quality 360 survey 
software developed and pioneered by the QA programme in 2011. The 
software collects the views from an individual’s circle of support about the care 
and support service(s) they receive. The metrics collected are used to generate 
a report, which includes recommendations for improvement as well as 
benchmarking data, and this is published to the care and support provider.

Quality Star provides:
- Quality metrics that integrate all available quality information.

Page 32



- Link to CQC inspection reports and results.
- Ability to upload reports/data from approved third party sources i.e. User 

Led Organisation (ULO).
- Additional narrative by internal users.
- Customisable and interactive reporting (including mapping).

4.3 Expert by Experience led Quality Reviews
The EBE service offers the opportunity for individuals receiving care and 
support services to be able to provide feedback in a way they feel comfortable 
to do so, in a peer-to-peer environment with the appropriate tools to be able to 
communicate in the way that best suits them. For those with significant 
communication difficulties or those that may not feel comfortable 
communicating their views directly to an EBE, an observational model of 
assurance is used thus ensuring everyone has their voice represented.
Offering the opportunity for people to share information with peers has proven 
to engender a higher participation and confidence level in the QA service.

5.  The EBE service has delivered many positive outcomes since the inception of the 
programme in 2011:

- Increased participation of individuals in quality reviews
- Increased response rate of individuals and their circle of support to QA 

surveys
- Disclosures of abuse/wrongdoing that would not have otherwise been 

reported
- Opportunities for employment
- EBE’s provide inspiration first-hand to others with disabilities that the 

pursuit of employment is an achievable goal

6. Integrated Commissioning have worked closely alongside the current provider over the 
past 18 months to review the delivery model and supporting frameworks. Frameworks 
focus on five co-produced key areas of enquiry:

- I am healthy
- I am safe
- I matter
- I have good relationships
- I choose

The content within each of these sections is tailored depending on the client group and 
service type i.e. residential, ATU, supported living. This ensures that service/client group 
specific issues are checked and addressed, for example that individuals with an LD receive 
an Annual Health Check from their GP or those with specific health conditions are 
supported by appropriately trained staff.

Page 33



Options

Option 1: Recommission.

7. This is the recommended option.

The EBE service forms an integral part of the QA programme which relies on hearing the 
views of individuals who are receiving support services. The Council has a responsibility to 
assure itself and the individuals it supports that the services commissioned are of a good 
standard, as deemed by those who access them.

EBEs are respected members in their field both professionally and by their peers. By 
utilising the skills of those with direct experience of disability and of receiving care and 
support services, we engender a supportive and collaborative approach which increases 
participation of individuals and the volume and quality of feedback received. 

A revised specification will be developed to encompass feedback from key stakeholders, 
this will draw on the successes of the current model whilst ensuring identified opportunities 
for further development are realised.

It is noted that the new contractual arrangements may include TUPE conditions as part of 
any service transfer.

Option 2: De-commission.  

8. This option is not recommended.  

The EBE service is a valuable resource that supports the QA programme in ensuring 
commissioned services are supported to develop and improve whilst also enabling 
individuals to convey their views to others with lived experience about the care and support 
they receive. 

Allowing this service to cease will significantly reduce oversight within commissioned 
services.

Option 3: Transfer to an in-house provision

9. This option is not recommended. 

Having the EBE service outside of the commissioning partnership provides an element of 
impartiality which would not be achieved should the service become part of the local 
authority. This impartiality can provide both a different perspective to quality improvement 
but also engender a level of openness and candidness we may not experience as social 
care professionals.

Being an EBE employed by a User Led Organisation (ULO) provides the benefit of 
comprehensive peer support from others working across a variety of other user-led projects 
plus access to other employment opportunities which may not be possible within the LA.

Page 34



Risks 

10.Should the EBE service not continue it would lead to a lack of support and oversight within 
commissioned services, thus increasing the risk of sub-standard services going unnoticed 
and not receiving the support they need to deliver provision at an acceptable standard. 
This in turn places vulnerable individuals, often with complex needs; at risk should they not 
be receiving support which is good enough to meet their assessed needs.

The internal GCC Quality Assurance team would not be able to absorb the workload of the 
EBE service due to limited capacity. 

Experts by Experience and other staff members currently employed by the service would 
lose their employment if the service were to cease, this has been highlighted as a 
reputational risk to GCC.

Financial implications

11.Financial resource to cover the cost of this service is available within existing budgets.

There will be no financial impact on the current level of spending solely as a result of the 
recommendations set out in this report.

Climate change implications

12.Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral

Vulnerable to climate change? No

Equality implications

13.Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes

Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in order to 
satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

The Quality Checking services support opportunities for individuals with disabilities to gain 
and sustain meaningful employment. 

This current model ensures consistency of Quality Checking across LD, PD and MH & 
Autism. 

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

14.DPIA identified as required. Any DPIA implications associated with this project have been 
identified alongside colleagues from the Information Management Service (IMS) and 
included within the project risk register as appropriate. 

Page 35



Social value implications

15.Any newly awarded contract will contain a requirement for the provider to demonstrate 
social value. It will focus on employment opportunities, engagement with the local 
community and improving the lives and outcomes of individuals.

A question relating to social value will also be included as part of the tender questionnaire.

Consultation feedback

Consultee – Care and Support Providers

16.A survey circulated to a group of care and support providers who had recently received 
(during COVID restrictions so some work was completed remotely) a quality check via the 
EBE service returned the following feedback:

“It worked well”.
“Really good given our current circumstances (lockdown restrictions)”.  
“Format was perfectly acceptable”. 
“Good process, easy to respond and provide evidence”. 
“The format worked well.  It was good to talk and clarify that we had made all the 
amendments needed”.  

When asked if the EBE service shared any new ideas.
“Yes, exploring a wider range of activities for the people we support”.
“We found the report we got back after our initial audit very helpful.  In light of the 
report, we were happy to make some changes and were grateful for the insight”. 
“The quality team was very understanding and very keen to share their ideas”.
 “Yes, helped us look at the service objectively from another perspective”.
“Nothing in addition to what we are already doing”.
 “They offered info about some training that was really useful.  They also gave some 
ideas of goals we could be setting people during lockdown”.  

When asked how the EBE service has impacted or changed the lives of people 
supported.
 “It is a very person centred approached and we have been able to build on the areas 
we already had in place”.
 “It’s allowed the care provider to get the people we support more involved with their 
thoughts, feelings and aspirations”.
“It helped one service user broaden her relationships with other staff members”.
“We are now providing access to online family hub to a lot more clients’ next of kin”.

Page 36



“It is always good to have fresh eyes looking at what is in place and giving advice on 
areas of improvement or changes that could be offered.  It is hoped these new ideas 
will add more fulfilment to the lives of the people we support”.

Consultee - Experts by Experience

17.“I feel people are being open with us, we are getting honest views from people about staff”

“Some people accept things the way they are, they feel ‘something is better than nothing’ – 
low standards”.  

“We get the information we want, but in a more subtle way”.

“It’s good to speak to staff and managers – are they saying the same things?”

“Zoom has been better for me as a wheelchair user Expert by Experience”.

18. Additional Consultees:

Social Care Operations Teams, GCC

Strategic Procurement, GCC

Legal Services, GCC

Strategic Finance, GCC

Information Management Service, GCC

Cabinet Member - Cllr Williams

Officer recommendations

19.That Cabinet approve the recommendations as set out in this report.

Performance Management/Follow-up 

20.The Integrated Disabilities Commissioning Hub have established quality and contract 
management frameworks, compliance with which will be a requirement of any contract 
awarded. Work will be done to ensure that any service-specific key performance indicators 
are both informative and proportionate.

21.The contract will be underpinned by robust and peer led performance monitoring in 
partnership with colleagues in health, social care operations, commissioning and 
safeguarding.

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Community Meals – Re- Procurement
Cabinet Date 22 September 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning 

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report  To consider options for the community meals service going forward, 
including approval to procure a new three year community meals 
service contract for Gloucestershire which includes two extension 
options each 12 months in length.  

 To request the continued delivery of the community meals contract’s 
term (due to expire on the 31st October 2021) to cover the period 
whilst the procurement exercise is undertaken and new contractual 
arrangements are put in place.

 To provide information on work being undertaken to refine the criteria 
for allocating Community Meals and how this links into alternative 
community-based options that support people to help themselves 
whilst linking with their local community, in line with Gloucestershire 
County Council’s Looking to the Future Strategy 2019-2022.

Recommendations

That Cabinet:

1. approves the procurement of a council commissioned, partially 
subsidised, community meals service in Gloucestershire which 
supports vulnerable individuals by helping them cope with daily living 
and which also provides short term help supported by comprehensive 
advice and  information to ensure they regain their confidence and 
independence and therefore delegates authority to the Executive 
Director of Adult Social Care & Public Health in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning to:

(a)    conduct a competitive tender process in respect of a contract 
for the provision of community meals services in 
Gloucestershire (the “Community Meals Contract”).  The 
proposed contract shall continue for an initial period of 3 years 
and include two extension options each 12 months in length. 

(b)    award such contract to the preferred tenderer.
(c)    apply an inflationary uplift each year in line with other 

commissioned community based services.
(d)    determine whether to exercise each of the two contract 

extension options under the Community Meals Contract (each 
12 months in length) on the third and fourth anniversaries 
thereof respectively. 

2.  Continue with existing contract delivery arrangements whilst 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



undertaking the proposed procurement exercise. 

Reasons for 
recommendations

To allow for the continued delivery of a subsidised hot meal service for 
residents in Gloucestershire when the current contractual arrangements 
ends. The proposed six-week subsidised service will be supplemented by 
information which supports and encourages people to regain their confidence 
and independence thereby supporting the declared aims of our residents and 
the council. There is insufficient time to undertake a compliant procurement 
process between now and the end of October 2021. We will commit to using 
national frameworks to procure the new service to ensure that the process is 
undertaken in the most efficient and timely way possible.

Resource 
Implications

Work currently being undertaken by the Adult Social Care locality teams will 
manage down the reliance on this service. The recommendations of this 
report will be met within staffing resources identified by the project team 
however any overspend on the allocated budget of £162,115 per annum will 
be assigned to the relevant locality external care budgets and will be 
monitored through the assessment and review processes for the ASC locality 
teams.  
For the current financial year (2021/22) the estimated expenditure is 
£383,000.  The majority of the 414 people with an ongoing service receive 
meals 7 days per week.  In total these individuals receive 2684 meals per 
week, at a cost of £5,341.16 or an annual cost of £277,740.32. Though this 
could be managed down over time by reviewing and redirecting these 
individuals to alternative services, this will require focused practitioner time. 
The proposed new contract is due to start in April 2022. Therefore the 
overspend will be reported through the monthly budget monitoring process 
within locality external care budgets and funded from the Adults Reserves in 
2021/22.  In preparation for the proposed new contract individuals those 
currently in receipt of community meals are being reviewed and expenditure 
will be managed down to the current budget by April 2022.
The proposed three-year community meals service contract will have a total 
value of £486,345. The new contract model will introduce a time limited 
subsidy, this when manged  alongside focused Adult Social Care 
Conversations will ensure that the service is used in line with Gloucestershire 
County Council stated aims of helping people to help themselves
If the council elects to exercise the first of its 12 month extension options of 
the allocated budget of £162,115 per annum under the proposed contract, 
the total contract value will be £648,460.  
If the council elects to exercise both of its 12 month extension options under 
the proposed contract, the total contract value will be £810,575.  

Background 
Documents

Cabinet Report:  22 July 2015: 
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s25542/Item%206%20-
%20Recommissioning%20Community%20Meals.pdf 

Statutory Authority Care Act 2014

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

N/A

Page 40

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s25542/Item%206%20-%20Recommissioning%20Community%20Meals.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s25542/Item%206%20-%20Recommissioning%20Community%20Meals.pdf


Officer Name:  Brenda Yearwood
Tel. no: 01452 328516 / 07990 675275
Email: brenda.yearwood@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline We have explored the option of undertaking an open market tender to 
procure this service. However we also have the option to use either the 
ESPO, (Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation) or YPO, (Yorkshire 
Purchasing Organisation), frameworks, both of which supply products and 
services to a wide range of customers including schools, local authorities, 
charities, emergency services, public sector and other businesses such as 
nurseries and care homes, both frameworks cover Community Meals, the 
current provider is already on both frameworks, along with a number of other 
providers.
Considering the tight timeline for (ie, the council’s current contract for the 
supply of community meals services will end on 31st October 2021), the 
recommendations in this report rely on the council using a framework 
agreement to call-off the required services.  Under such an arrangement 
suppliers have already been assessed for their financial stability, experience 
and technical & professional ability, hence this would be the most time-
efficient route for re-procuring this service, thereby minimising the gap 
between the end of the current contract and the start of the proposed new 
contract.

The requirements document, specification and evaluation questions to 
procure the service are currently being developed. These will need to be 
finalised once the Cabinet decision has been made:

1. Soft market testing will be undertaken framework providers in August 
2021

2. Requirements document - submitted to the framework October 2021.
3. Evaluation – November – December  2021
4. Award and transition – January – February 2022
5. New contract starts – 1st April 2022

 

Page 41



1. BACKGROUND 

1.1.Gloucestershire County Council recognises the importance of supporting 
residents to maintain their nutritional well-being and manage healthy lifestyles. 
The role of community meals service is to support older and vulnerable adults 
so they are able to maintain or regain their independence and remain living in 
their own home for as long as possible.

1.2.The initial aim of the community meals  service was to provide short term 
support at times of stress or vulnerability with the view that those requesting the 
service would be offered advice and support so they, (or their families), could 
research longer term options. Prior to the 2020 Covid19 pandemic the Adult 
Social Care ‘conversations’ were the primary means of working with individuals  
to identify local options; lunch clubs, supper clubs, shopping services and meal 
delivery services from the voluntary and community sector and from commercial 
providers the aim being that these services would connect people to their local 
area and community networks.

1.3.During the initial lockdown of the Covid19 pandemic, between March and July 
2020 the number of customers receiving meals increased and a number of 
those previously only receiving meals on week days requested an extension to 
the service to cover weekends. In addition to extending access for new and 
existing users the provider also supported provision of meals to the hotels used 
to house people who were previously without accommodation at the start of 
March 2020 lockdown. This increased usage demonstrated the benefits of 
having a service which could flex in response to changes in demand. We 
therefore recognise the value of continuing to offer a subsidised meal service for 
residents who find themselves in vulnerable circumstances so are therefore 
proposing to keep the current referral process.

1.4.Unfortunately this expansion of the access criteria means that the current 
Community Meals contract is over subscribed.  We therefore need a plan to 
reduce expenditure and return the service to its original focus. With this in mind 
Adult Social Care locality teams have been reviewing those using the service 
and working with individuals and families to identify alternatives for accessing 
locally based support and services.  

1.5.Following a review of the contract in May 2021 the operational and 
commissioning teams within Gloucestershire have been working with the 
recipients of community meals to return to the original purpose and access 
criteria of the 2015 contract. As of 19th May 2021, there were 744 individuals 
receiving a community meals service, by June 2021 the numbers had reduced 
to 606 and further reduced in July to 487. Gloucestershire County Council 
currently contributes £1.99 per meal per day. 

1.6.The annual cost of the meals subsidy varies year on year dependent on the 
number of individuals accessing the service and the number of meals delivered 
each week. Many individuals receive meals on a daily basis but a small 
percentage only access the service on a selected number of days, for example 
week days only as there is support from wider family at weekends, the budget 

Page 42



forecast for May 2021 gave a predicted expenditure of £383,000.  However the 
subsidy divided by the allocated budget of £162,115 would allow 
Gloucestershire the ability to apply the £1.99 subsidy to a maximum of 81,465 
meals approximately 30% of the number receiving a subsidised service in May 
2021 or 223 individuals receiving 7 meals per week. We therefore need to 
continue the review work as we work towards the procurement of a replacement 
contract.

1.7. In preparation for the potential procurement we have been reviewing those 
currently in receipt of community meals under the service categories outlined in 
the contract:

1.7.1. Initial referral 0-6 weeks
1.7.2. Request for continuation 7-12 weeks
1.7.3. Ongoing service – agreed through an Adult Social Care referral and 

assessment
1.7.4. Protected status the former recipients of service from the previous 

provider, Royal Voluntary Service (RVS) who receive a protected service 
having previously been allocated this on an ongoing basis at the end of the 
RVS contract. This protected status was approved by the then Cabinet as 
part of the contract award.

 with the aim of managing the impact of the pandemic and returning to the 
original aim of using the services as a short term support that falls into the Adult 
Social Care three tier conversations Tier One Provision (Help to help yourself), 
Tier Two Provision (Help when you need it), Tier Three Provision (Ongoing 
support for those who need it). In order to prioritise the review we have looked at 
the delivery taking into account the length of time they have been engaged with 
the service

1. Those who only have community meals short term e.g. up to 6 weeks or 7-12 
weeks or waiting for assessment

2. Those who have community meals as part of other on-going services 

3. Those who have protected WRVS status –we need to continue to support 
these individuals so re-tendering for an interim support service, at least in the 
short term, would provide the support necessary for these individual 

4. individuals who are having care and unable to source meals themselves/ 
those leaving hospital/unable to access funds /risk situations etc.

1.8.With the exception of those referred to the service as part of a package to 
support hospital discharge the referral process is managed by the Adult 
Helpdesk who can allocate the initial six week service following a telephone 
assessment, at the time of undertaking this assessment the Helpdesk will also 
provide information on locally based supports and services relevant to the 
individual. At the end of six weeks individuals can request that the access to 
subsidised meals is extended for a further six week and again the Helpdesk will 

Page 43



provide information on locally based services and will refer the person to Adult 
Social Care for an assessment. 

1.9.The original aim of the 2015 contract was to provide interim support whilst 
individuals were waiting for an assessment, at the time all ASC locality teams 
had pending lists of those waiting for assessments so access to the community 
meals service was used to ensure there was some contact for ‘well-being’ 
purposes.  The intention at the point of assessment was to withdraw the meals 
service if and when commissioning alternative supports so that only those with 
no other services and those in the initial referral stages should receive the 
subsidy on this service.

1.10.  With the introduction of the three conversations the pending lists reduced 
and the numbers of community meals started to reduce significantly as a result 
of this. Unfortunately  much of this good work has been lost in the last 18-24 
months as the teams have responded to the impact of the Covid19 pandemic

1.11. Prior to the 2020 pandemic the ‘know your patch work provided the ASC 
teams with up to date information on the services available it each of the county 
districts and though the majority of information relating to meals and nutrition 
has been routinely checked and updated over the last 18 months further 
information on new and emerging services/supports have not been added.  

1.12. In July 2021 there were 73 records on the meals page but some of the 
listings were for weight management or diet clubs.  Overall we have information 
on 65 community based meals services, many of these are in Cheltenham, 
Gloucester or The Forest of Dean.  The 65 listed organisations/ services are not 
sufficient to offer a sustainable alternative to the current meals contract 
highlighting a particular concern for rural areas as the lunch clubs and meals 
services appear to be in the more build up areas of the county, even within the 
rural areas, for example services in the Cotswolds are based in Cirencester.  

1.13. As part of the Community Meals review the, ‘Your Circle’ staff have also 
started a focused piece of work on Lunch Clubs and meals services, contacting 
the agencies to make sure details are up to date, checking information on 
potential opening times as well as the possibility of outreach provision.  At the 
moment the team feel they have the majority of the larger providers but might 
not have some smaller offerings available in the district so are working with the 
ASC practitioners and district partners to build a more robust picture of 
community based supports the current focused work aims to identify new 
alternative to the commissioned service over time. 

2. OPTIONS

2.1. In reviewing the service, we considered the following options three options. Of 
these Option 3 is the preferred option. This option more closely aligns with the 
Gloucestershire Looking to the Future Strategy 2019-2022:

Page 44



 supporting people to live independently for longer  &
 Supporting those individuals who find themselves vulnerable to help them cope 

with daily living and adapt

OPTION 1: Cease the service  

2.2.Though Adult Social Care practitioners need to consider nutrition and the 
provision of practical support to people with eligible assessed needs, to help 
them access and consume meals; there is no legal requirement on the Local 
Authority to fund any meal related costs. Many Local Authorities with social care 
responsibility no longer provide a hot meals service choosing instead to provide 
links on websites to alternative providers of hot meals, home delivery services 
and providers of frozen meals. There are a number of lunch clubs in the county 
where hot meals service or delivery also offers the potential for social interaction 
with other people. 

2.3.Adult Social Care have committed to working with those individuals currently 
receiving an ongoing meals service, supporting them in identifying alternatives. 
The introduction of the three conversations style of assessment moved the 
focus of assessments so that, rather than identifying needs, the practitioner 
identified strengths and supported people to help themselves. The change in 
the focus of assessments had started to result in fewer individuals be allocated 
an ongoing meals service however this trend has been reversed by the impact 
of the pandemic.

2.4. In addition to this there are a number of the former recipients of service from the 
previous provider, Royal Voluntary Service (RVS) who receive a protected 
service. Those with a protected service currently have an annual cost of 
approximately £21k, (£21,420), which equates to just over 13% of the budget. If 
we chose to decommission the service we would either need to reverse the 
decision for these individuals or provide an alternative. Building this service into 
any new contract would be the easiest way to facilitate the required ongoing 
obligation.

2.5.There is also a value in maintaining a contractual relationship which provides 
access to a short-term support service which assists residents to maintain good 
nutritional intake at times when they find themselves in a situation of 
vulnerability, for example the service has a direct referral process to support 
those leaving hospital. The county is a largely rural one with areas where lunch 
clubs may be more difficult to access, we are still developing the networks and 
information channels that support community response in these areas. In the 
meantime, the community meals contract provides a valuable service ensuring 
people receive a daily visit to check on their wellbeing and receive a hot, plated, 
two course meal, potentially avoiding the requirement for a more formal service.  

OPTION 2.  Re-procure a new Community Meals Contract – A countywide 
service in the current contract format

Page 45



2.6.The current contract provides a six-week subsidised service, followed by a 
further 6 weeks of subsidised support on application. The access to the service 
is then reviewed by an ASC practitioner, if the service is identified as part or the 
whole of an ongoing support plan and the ongoing service remains a subsided 
provision. 

2.7. Individuals with an ongoing service form the largest percentage of meal 
recipients. The majority of the 414 people with an ongoing service on the 
system on 19th May 2021 receive meals 7 days per week; only 82 have less 
than 7 meals per week. In total these individuals receive 2684 meals per week, 
at a cost of £5,341.16 or an annual cost of £277,740. Though the Adult Social 
Care Teams have started to review the recipients of the service, returning to the 
original aims of the contract, ,  redirecting these individuals to alternative 
services, there is still some way  to go before we can achieve the required 
numbers. 

2.8.Continuing with this option does not meet the aims of the Council strategy; 
providing support when individuals are at their most vulnerable; focusing on the 
strengths of individuals and communities and supporting people to do things for 
themselves. It is also not in line with the ASC conversation model which reflects 
the aims of the Council Looking to the Future Strategy 2019-2022 and is not 
deliverable in the current budget of £162,115. 

OPTION 3. Manage the continuation of current service delivery post October 
2021; Re-procure a new Community Meals Contract for the earliest opportunity 
– countywide service which reflects the Council’s Looking to the Future 
Strategy 2019-2022.

2.9.Re-procure a new Community Meals Contract that supports a six week 
subsidised meal service. The six-week intervention mirrors the Council Strategy 
in providing support when residents are at their most vulnerable and is aligned 
to the access criteria for Reablement, introducing short term intervention which 
encourages and supports individuals to return to independence. At the end of 
six weeks the individuals can choose to keep community meals, paying the full 
cost or can work with the Helpdesk to find local alternatives. This can also be 
linked to the support for people to be safely discharged from hospital and can 
therefore be reviewed as part of the Home First review.

2.10. The current provider, Apetito Ltd, has been providing a community meals 
service to the Council since April 2016. Following a successful first three years 
of the contract, Apetito were granted two annual contract extensions. The 
intention was to re-procure this contract in the autumn of 2020. However, the 
current service extension (for a seven month period expiring October 2021) was 
agreed as part of the Council’s emergency response to the Covid-19 pandemic.  
There are no further options available under the current contract to extend its 
term again after October 2021 we will therefore keep the procurement process 
as efficient and timely as possible in order to minimise the gaps between 30th 
October 2021 and the start of the new contract. It is unlikely that this could be 

Page 46



achieved in a timescale of less than eight weeks. We aim to have the new 
contract in place by April 2022. 

2.11. The current cost of each community meal is £5.49, including delivery; 
there has been no increase in the customer contribution throughout the lifetime 
of the contract whilst charges for other council services have increased. The 
overall charge for the meals increased in 2020 from £5.29 to £5.49 
Gloucestershire County Council met this additional cost with the subsidy 
increasing from £1.79 to the current contribution of £1.99.  Gloucestershire, with 
a meal costs of £3.50, is now has one of the lowest costs for customers for 
subsidised meal provision in the country, costs vary from £4.25 to £6.50 with an 
overall average of £5.26.

2.12. The current contract does not allow for an inflationary uplift for the 
provider in the same way that other community-based services contracts such 
as domiciliary care and supported living does, this has been a point of 
contention for the service provider.  As part of the tender we are also proposing 
that the service is subject to an inflationary uplift. The decision on how this 
inflationary uplift will be met, (increased subsidy or increased client 
contribution), will be undertaken by the Executive Director of Adult Social Care 
in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning 
on an annual basis at the time of uplift.

2.13. Proposed change in process:

At the time of the initial referral Adult Social Care Helpdesk staff will:

 provide information on alternative, locally based provision/services in relation to 
lunch clubs, supermarket delivery services, community meals and home 
delivery services

 outline the purpose of the service
 outline the costs for the initial service
 outline that any future requests would not be subject to subsidy and explain the 

costing outlining that any further support would be allocated on a full cost basis. 

2.14. All requests for access to community meals would result in a referral to 
the relevant Adult Social Care locality team for a Care Act Assessment in which 
the continued requirement for Community Meals support would be a key factor. 
During the assessment ASC practitioners would explore all alternative options 
and re-iterate that meals delivered through this contract would be charged at full 
cost. 

3. Risks 

3.1.There are a number of potential risks in recommissioning the community meals 
provision;

Page 47



 The model for the proposed new contract may not be a viable model; the 
service provider needs to deliver a countywide service 365 days of the year. 
However, in introducing a model where only the first 42 days are covered by 
a subsidy we may make the service less attractive to recipients and therefore 
not sustainable for the service deliverer.

 The council plans to award a new community meals service contract as soon 
as possible, however it is unlikely to be in place before April 2022.  It is 
therefore proposed to extend the term of the council’s current community 
meals contract with Apetito until such date.   As with any proposed contract 
modification, there is a risk that the council will receive a legal challenge 
under the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (“PCRs”) to the proposed 
extension given that there are no further extension options  available under 
the current contract.  While it is acknowledged that a contract variation is only 
permissible under the PCRs on very limited grounds, the variation proposed 
in this report is justified on grounds that  the service provides support to those 
seeking support from the Local Authority when vulnerable to help them cope 
with daily living and adapt, as outlined in the Council’s Looking to the Future 
Strategy. It also fulfils the Adult Social Care statutory requirement to consider 
nutritional needs as part of any assessment, supporting individual’s with this 
need whilst allowing time for staff to undertake the formal assessment 
process.

 However, a decision not to extend the current contract in October 2021 also 
brings a degree of risk under a number of others areas, the current recipients 
would be without a service as of October 2021 

 Community options may not be available; developments stimulated by the 
Covid-19 pandemic may not be sustainable on an ongoing basis as people 
return to a more standard working week.

 The changes for existing service recipients will need to be managed by ASC 
practitioners and Helpdesk staff. The proposal to gradually reduce the 
subsidy for those with an ongoing service; introducing a full cost recovery 
model at the same time as the potential for an annual inflationary uplift may 
result in increased questions and concerns from those who have been in 
receipt of the service for some time. This is particularly relevant when taking 
into consideration that fact that the only increase in this service cost was the 
increase to the subsidy in 2019/20.

 The contract will be introduced half way through the financial year therefore 
the budget will continue to be overspent. The change to the contract structure 
will also not immediately change the position for those receiving the service 
as the move from a subsided service will normally to be managed through the 
ASC review process. This process will take time and is subject to delay or 
postponement when other priorities occur.

4. Financial implications

4.1. It is not possible to maintain the level of delivery within the current allocated 
budget of £162,115.  Should we move to the proposed contract structure the 
service would be manageable within the budget over time. Analysing those 
currently on the 0-6 week service, hospital referrals and the protected 
individuals the total costs for the service are outlined in the table below:

Page 48



Service Type Clients Meals Cost P/A

0-6 Weeks New referrals 101 570 £58,983.60
Hospital Referrals 13 91 £9,416.68
Protected Recipients 33 207 £21,420.36

£89,820.64

4.2.The proposed contract is not expected to be in place before April 2022 therefore 
there will be a continued overspend in relation to this service for the 2021/22 
financial year. Work undertaken by the ASC teams to manage the budget and 
return the service to its original aims should reduce the original predicted 
overspend.   

5. Climate change implications

5.1.There are likely to be carbon emission implications for this contract due to the 
transportation of hot meals across the whole county. In the development of the 
specification we will encourage providers to have due regard for the 
environment and to put in place actions to limit the amount of mileage 
associated to the delivery of the meals. 

5.2.We will also encourage providers to consider how they can minimise or 
neutralise their carbon footprint through the use of electric vehicles and logistics 
planning to minimise unnecessary mileage 

6. Equality implications

6.1.Community meals are provided and delivered across Gloucestershire under the 
current contract.  The meals are offered under the following dietary, cultural and 
religious considerations:

6.1.1. Diabetic
6.1.2. Textured – soft
6.1.3. Textured - pureed
6.1.4. Gluten Free
6.1.5. Nut Allergy
6.1.6. Other medical requirement as specified
6.1.7. Vegan
6.1.8. Vegetarian
6.1.9. African- Caribbean
6.1.10. Asian Vegetarian
6.1.11. Asian Halal
6.1.12. Kosher

6.2.Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes 

Page 49



6.3.Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment 
in order to satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been 
given.

7. Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

7.1.DPIA is required. Working with IMS to identify and mitigate risks.

8. Social value implications

8.1.The previous contract encourages the use of volunteers and the partnership 
working between the successful tenderer and the voluntary and community 
sector, in particular those agencies who work with older, frail and disabled 
residents. 

9. Consultation feedback

9.1.Ongoing consultation takes place as part of the current contractual 
requirements seeking the views of customers via a customer survey. The 
survey takes into account those regular users but also those who choose to 
stop.  Results are generally very positive about the service.

10.Officer recommendations

OPTION 3. Manage the continuation of current service delivery post October 2021 
Re-procure a new Community Meals Contract – countywide service which 
reflects the Council’s Looking to the Future Strategy 2019-2022

10.1. Re-procure a new Community Meals Contract that supports a six week 
subsidised meal service. The six-week intervention mirrors the Council Strategy 
in providing support when residents are at their most vulnerable and is aligned 
to the access criteria for Reablement, introducing short term intervention which 
encourages and supports individuals to return to independence. This can also 
be linked to the support people to be safely discharged from hospital and can 
therefore be reviewed as part of the Home First review.

11.Performance Management/Follow-up 

11.1. The referral process to access community Meals will continue to be 
managed by the Adult Helpdesk. Any concern, complaints will be logged with 
the Helpdesk. All service suspensions, late calls or missed visits will be reported 
to the Adult Heldesk.

11.2. Access to the service, customer complaints, concerns or compliments will 
be submitted to the Gloucestershire county Council contract Lead on a quarterly 
basis along with performance statistics based on the contract KPI’s, (Key 
Performance Indicator’s). 

Page 50



11.3. The provider will be expected to present KPI’s electronically to the 
contract lead at the end of each quarter and will be required to attend a 
quarterly monitoring meeting which will focus on the return. The contract will be 
reviewed 12-18 mths prior to the contract end date.

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: The procurement of highway services and construction phase works in 
connection with the delivery of Blakeney West Geotechnical Stabilisation Scheme

Cabinet Date 22nd September 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr Vernon Smith – Highways and Flood

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To ask Cabinet to delegate authority to the Head of Highway Authority (in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood) for the 
purpose of procuring highway services and construction phase works, 
through competitive tender, in relation to Blakeney West Geotechnical 
Stabilisation Scheme and awarding contracts for the provision of such 
services and works.
In addition, it will be necessary to make further ancillary orders in order to 
successfully implement the Project and authority is sought to enable GCC to 
make legal orders (such as temporary traffic regulation orders (TTROs for 
speed limits etc.)) during the construction phase of the Project.

Recommendations

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Head of Highway Authority (in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood) to:
1. conduct a competitive procurement process(es) for the supply of 

highway services and construction phase works in relation to the 
Blakeney West Geotechnical Stabilisation Scheme and awarding 
contracts for the provision of such services and works and

2. make any other ancillary traffic regulation orders that might be required 
in order to successfully implement the Project (such as temporary traffic 
regulation orders (TTROs for speed limits etc.)) during the construction 
phase of the Project.

Reasons for 
recommendations

The decision will enable the Council to engage suppliers for the purpose of 
securing a highways services and works in respect of Blakeney West 
Geotechnical Stabilisation Scheme.

Page 53

Agenda Item 8



Resource 
Implications

Blakeney West Geotechnical Stabilisation Scheme will be funded through 
the Highways Capital Programme, as per the July 2021 Budget Monitoring 
report. The current estimate for the scheme is £1.62m. 
£23k has already been spent from the 2020/21 Budget, £569k was already 
included in the 2021/22 Budget and £1.031m has been transferred from the 
existing capital Highways budgets. 
As scheme promoter, the County Council will be liable for any future cost 
overruns associated with the delivery of the scheme.
As per the County Council’s Constitution, ‘Directors are responsible for 
ensuring that variations in capital project estimates that occur during the 
course of a contract are contained within the resources allocated to that 
service’. The scheme’s costs will be monitored and managed accordingly.

Background 
Documents

 Budget Monitoring Report Cabinet July 2021 
 The Budget Monitoring Report Cabinet July 2021 can be viewed here;

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s73502/Budget%20
Monitoring%20Report%20Forecasts%20made%20May%202021%20P
2%20edits.pdf

 

Statutory Authority Highways Act 1980
Traffic Management Act 2004
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

Blakeney & Bream – Cllr Beki Hoyland

Officer Jen Williamson – Project Manager - Highways Major Infrastructure Projects
07425 635490 
jen.williamson@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline Detailed Design Ongoing
Contract Procurement to commence 1st October 2021
Construction to Commence January 2022

Page 54

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s73502/Budget%20Monitoring%20Report%20Forecasts%20made%20May%202021%20P2%20edits.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s73502/Budget%20Monitoring%20Report%20Forecasts%20made%20May%202021%20P2%20edits.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s73502/Budget%20Monitoring%20Report%20Forecasts%20made%20May%202021%20P2%20edits.pdf
mailto:jen.williamson@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background 

1. In February 2020 a section of the slope supporting New Road, Blakeney underwent 
movement, which resulted in partial failure of the westbound lane. A road closure was 
subsequently installed which remains in place.  

2. New Road is one of the primary link roads between the A48 and the centre of the Forest of 
Dean. The carriageway closure has increased traffic on the local lanes as some road users 
have disregarded the official diversion route. This has resulted in concern from local 
residents and political pressure to reopen the carriageway as soon as possible. 

3. A ground investigation was completed in November 2020, this indicated that the 
carriageway was underlain by up to 3.5m of Made Ground (primarily quarry waste) with 
Unweathered Brownstone Formation (weathered mudstone and sandstone) below.  

4. The slope requires stabilisation for a length of approximately 50m, in association with full 
road reconstruction and installation of a new drainage system to effectively manage 
surface water.

5. Construction works will be challenging due to numerous site constraints such as land 
ownership, ground conditions, existing utility services and limited working space due to the 
failed carriageway.

Options

6. A number of different construction techniques have been considered and investigated to 
determine a cost-effective solution that can be safely constructed within programme. The 
options which are currently considered most likely to be feasible are a piled retaining wall 
supporting cantilevered concrete planks or a piled retaining wall supporting a cantilevered 
capping beam. Design works are ongoing to finalise the preferred solution. 

7. Do nothing – This will result in delay to programme. If a competitive tender process is not 
approved the scheme will not continue and funds will be reallocated across the 
programme. The road closure will need to remain in place until works are complete and the 
road is reopened to users.

8. Approve the procurement of a construction phase contractor – a competitive tender can be 
completed and the works will continue to deliver the scheme.

Page 55



Risks 

9. The risk register for the scheme has been regularly updated in line with the GCC Risk 
Management process, in order to investigate, manage and mitigate key risks. 

10.Overall, the risks are well understood and are being eliminated or mitigated as the project 
moves forward. There are, however, a number of risks open that could have an impact on 
the design and cost of the project. Risks will continue to be actively monitored and any 
significant changes affecting the scope of the project will be reported to the Lead Cabinet 
Member.

11.The main risk currently is developing a cost effective remedial solution within budget and 
the programme constraints that can be safely constructed.

12.Risks will be mitigated through robust programme management and a robust and legally 
compliant tender exercise, including market engagement events.

Financial implications

13.Scheme cost is estimated at £1.62m.  

14.This scheme is programmed to start on site in January 2022.

Climate change implications

15.Careful consideration will be made to the effects of the scheme on the natural environment. 
As part of the design phase Environmental & Ecology Surveys are being undertaken and 
Ecological Watching Brief’s will be utilised as required throughout construction. 

16. It is not anticipated that the scheme will have any significant impact on climate change.

Equality implications

17.Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes / No

18.To date, no specific analysis has been carried out with regard to the protected 
characteristics; however, the detailed design of the final scheme will be undertaken in 
accordance with relevant guidance in relation to equalities and safety. 

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

19.Results of screening checklist indicate that there is no requirement to complete a DPIA for 
this scheme

Social value implications

20.A question on social value will be included within the quality questions during tender and 
this will be assessed and allocated a weighting. This will be to include a social value 
benefit for the local area during the construction phase.

Page 56



Consultation / Communications

21.A comprehensive communications plan will be developed for this scheme. This will include 
planned press releases, letter drops, bulletins, emails to key stakeholders and an 
engagement/share event.

22.Consultation will involve a full range of stakeholders:

 GCC Cabinet Members
 Local County Councillors
 Parish Councils
 Internal GCC consultees
 Bus Service Providers
 Haulage Associations
 Emergency Services
 Highways England
 Residents, general public and businesses

23.The County Council will require that, as part of the tender process, any successful 
contractor will undertake contractor share events (that comply with social distancing 
requirements, as such this may result in a virtual event) in advance of any works 
commencing to introduce the contractor, answer any concerns and provide more 
information on the construction programme.  This will be supported by pro-active scheme 
communications. 

Officer recommendations

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Head of Highway Authority (in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood) to:

a) conduct a competitive procurement process(es) for the supply of highway services and 
construction phase works in relation to the Blakeney West Geotechnical Stabilisation 
Scheme and awarding contracts for the provision of such services and works and

b) make any other ancillary traffic regulation orders that might be required in order to 
successfully implement the Project (such as temporary traffic regulation orders (TTROs 
for speed limits etc.)) during the construction phase of the Project.

Performance management/follow-up 

24.GCC has set up a clear and robust structure to provide accountability and an effective 
decision-making process for the management of the major projects. GCC led monthly 
project boards and monthly standing reports to Lead Cabinet Members are all in place.

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE:   Highways Major Project Framework Contract  

Cabinet Date 22nd September 2021

Cabinet Member Councillor Vernon Smith

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval for the Executive Director of Economy, 
Environment & Infrastructure to be authorised to procure a highways 
framework agreement for a term of four years with an estimated value of £60 
million over its term. The proposed framework agreement will be set up under 
two lots; one for Highways Schemes and the other for Structures and 
Geotechnical Schemes.  

Recommendations

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director of Economy, 
Environment & Infrastructure (in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Highways and Flood) to:

1. Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a four year 
Framework Agreement for the supply of highway construction services 
required by the council in relation to Highways Major Projects.  Such 
framework agreement shall comprise two lots; one for Highways 
Schemes and the other for Structures and Geotechnical Schemes.  No 
more than eight preferred tenderers shall be appointed to each lot.  
Preferred tenderers will be selected based on quality, financial and 
social value criteria. 

2. Appoint each of the preferred tenderers to the relevant Lot under such 
Framework Agreement.

Reasons for 
recommendations

The proposed decision would enable the Council to engage suppliers through 
the procurement mechanisms above for the purpose of securing Framework 
Contractors.  This will allow best value for money and best opportunity to 
meet the timescales set out in funding contributions for the delivery of Major 
Projects.   The proposed decision would also allow the Council the best 
opportunity to deliver objectives linked to Council Strategy and the Local 
Transport Plan, providing the infrastructure needed to support sustainable 
growth; delivering major active travel schemes and helping businesses grow 
and thrive through investment in the public highway.

Page 59

Agenda Item 9



Resource 
Implications

The estimated value of the Highways Major Projects allocated through both 
Lots of the Framework Contract over four years is £60million. Potential 
suppliers will be advised of indicative project values of between £0.5million 
and £10million.

The Framework Contracts will be managed within the existing Major Projects 
Teams within Highways Commissioning over the four year term.  There are 
no additional in-house resource requirements in addition to those already in 
place for the procurement of Major Projects. The Framework contract will 
reduce the volume of work required to assess ‘selection criteria’ (company 
information, financial accounts, insurances, H&S etc) on multiple occasions 
generating a cost saving.   

The procurement of the proposed Framework Agreement will require support 
from the Strategic Procurement Team alongside the County’s current 
Professional Service Provider.   The costs of setting up the proposed 
Framework Agreement will be offset quickly in the life of the Framework with 
the reductions in selection criteria as outlined above.   Any initial costs from 
setting up the Highways Major Projects Framework Agreement will be borne 
by existing highways budgets. 

Background 
Documents

 Council Strategy 2021-2022
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2083042/gcc_3071-council-
strategy-2021_22_final.pdf

 Gloucestershire’s adopted Local Transport Plan 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp3

Statutory Authority Highways Act 1980
Traffic Management Act 2004
Local Transport Act 2008
Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013
Infrastructure Act 2015

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

N/A

Officer Any representations should be sent to:
Name: Kath Haworth, Head of Highway Authority
Email: Kathryn.Haworth@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Tel: 01452 328792

Timeline Preparation of Contract Documents – August 2021
Contract Award – December 2021

Page 60

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2083042/gcc_3071-council-strategy-2021_22_final.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2083042/gcc_3071-council-strategy-2021_22_final.pdf
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp3


Background 

1. The County has established a strong track record in delivering Major Projects and in 
recent years has significantly grown the in-house capability to deliver a range of 
projects (Figure 1 below), including; large junction improvements, cycle and walking 
infrastructure schemes, structures and geotechnical schemes and trunk road and 
motorway junction upgrades.  This has resulted in growing the number of council staff 
working on these projects from one in 2014, to over fifteen today.

Scheme Name Approx. Total 
Scheme Value

Delivery 
Period 

Contractor

C&G and Walls Roundabouts £3.1 million 2014/15 Hewlett 
Construction Ltd

Elmbridge Court Roundabout £6.4 million 2015/16 Alun Griffiths
Horsley Hill Landslip £0.55 million 2017 John Graham 

Construction
Berkeley Bridges £2.5 million 2017 Dyer and Butler
Gloucester Bus Station Highway 
Works

£0.5 million 2017/18 Britannia 
Construction

A40 Over Roundabout £2.35 million 2018 Alun Griffiths
Arle Court Bus Lane £1.3million 2018 Alun Griffiths
Metz Way/Abbeymead Avenue £1.5million 2018/2019 NMCN
A4173 Pitchcombe Junction £0.64 million 2019 Knights Brown 
Lydney Cycle Improvements £1 million 2019 Alun Griffiths
A38 Cross Keys Roundabout £3.85 million 2019 Alun Griffiths
A419 Highway Improvements £4.4 million 2018/2019 Knights Brown 
A38 Canal Bridges £4.5 million 2020 Alun Griffiths
West Cheltenham Transport 
Improvement Scheme

£22 million 2020/2021
/ 2022

Knights Brown 
and Alun 
Griffiths

West Cheltenham Walking and 
Cycling Improvements

£1.6 million 2021/2022 Alun Griffiths

A46 Coopers Hill £1.2 million 2021 Walters UK Ltd

Figure 1: Major Projects Delivered Since 2014 

2. The projects delivered by the Major Projects Team are closely aligned with the 
objectives in the Council Strategy and Local Transport Plan that support providing the 
infrastructure needed to support sustainable growth; delivering major active travel 
schemes and helping businesses grow and thrive through investment in the public 
highway.  In the next four years this will include the delivery of a continuous cycle spine 
extending through the heart of the County,  alongside capacity improvements on the 
Gloucester South-West Bypass which have constrained growth and development in the 
City and development of  the Arle Court Park and Interchange enhancing sustainable 
and active  travel.   
 

3. The long standing procurement route for these Major Projects has been to use the NEC 
3 or 4 Engineering and Construction Contract predominantly using a lump sum 
payment method, minimising risk exposure and budget certainty to the Council.  Each 

Page 61



scheme is a key decision and under the Council’s constitution requires a Cabinet Paper 
to be drafted ahead of procuring a construction contract.  

4. The tender programme generally comprises of a supplier engagement event followed 
by an open tender process utilising the Procontract portal with a minimum tender period 
of six weeks.  Tenders are assessed based on submissions meeting a quality threshold 
with compliant tenders assessed on price.    

5. In many cases strict funding conditions require GCC to be in contract early or risk losing 
contributions to the project. In such cases procurement deadlines are squeezed, 
impacting on tenderers ability to submit tenders.

Framework Agreement

6. A framework agreement is a commonly used mechanism for awarding call-off contracts 
to multiple suppliers, thereby establishing a long term relationship to deliver works as a 
council approved supplier. The Council has a range of works to be completed by a 
group of contractors in every service section across the authority. It is recognised as an 
effective method to procure works on a dynamic basis, responding to opportunities in a 
competitive market.  A framework contract offers a quick route to market, but does not 
commit the Council to enter into contracts or deliver a defined volume of work.

Framework Contract Benefits

7. Increasingly contractors that have worked on the County Councils Major Projects have 
expressed a desire to establish longer lasting relationships with the County Council that 
would allow all parties to meet their objectives whilst maintaining the excellent value 
and quality that is currently being achieved.

8. A highways framework contract would reduce the programme durations required for 
entering into contract, whilst still maintaining the same quality requirements the Council 
has become accustomed to.  A Framework Contract would reduce the cost of 
procurement by minimising the volume of work required to assess selection criteria.

9. A Framework Agreement would further encourage partnering principles generating long 
term relationships based on trust rather than short term financial gain.  

10. The proposed Framework Agreement will be partly assessed on social value, will 
include environmental assessment criteria and would present the opportunity to foster 
local supplier relationships.

11. The proposed Framework Agreement will also be available for use by our fellow local 
authorities in Gloucestershire, the City, Borough and Districts, thus being able to 
demonstrate a collaborative relationship between each Authority.

Key Points

12. The proposed Framework Agreement will provide significant programme benefits over 
current procurement routes without compromising on the County’s quality requirements.  

Page 62



The cost of preparing the proposed Framework Agreement will ultimately save costs by 
reducing the volume of work required to assess selection criteria.

13. The reduction in programme timescales will support the County Council’s aims of 
entering into contracts that allow third party funding to be fully secured, thereby 
reducing the risk to the authority

14. The duration of the Framework will be four years with an expected value of £60million 
over the term.

Finance/Resources

15. Pre-committed internal resource from Strategic Procurement and Major Projects will 
predominantly be utilised to prepare the Framework Contract therefore minimising 
costs. Our professional services provider will provide modest resource to support this 
preparation work which will be secured from pre-existing Highways budgets.

16. The cost benefit of procuring under a framework contract will reduce the cost of 
contract procurement costs ensuring the framework contract saves money

Options

17. The options for Cabinet are as follows:

 Option A: To authorise the Executive Director of Economy, Environment & 
Infrastructure  to procure a Highways Framework Agreement as set out in this 
report’s recommendations to allow further competitions with pre-qualified 
suppliers; or

 Option B: To decline to authorise such recommendation and procure all 
opportunities individually.  In the absence of the proposed  Highways Major 
Project Framework Agreement, the council would continue to use an open 
tender process which would result in increased timescales and costs for bid 
preparation and assessment.

Risks 

18. Risk that the new Frameworks are not delivered on time, -  this is being actively 
managed with  a Project Scope document and programme drawn up and will be 
monitored at regular procurement workshops

19. Insufficient interest in a Highways Major Projects Framework,- We have
had early dialog with a range of potential contractors and will be holding supplier 
engagement events prior to going to the market.

20. Internal resources need to be made available for preparing and evaluating the 
procurement(s) - Project Plan drawn up and resources identified to allow for time to be 
set aside.

Page 63



21. Cabinet delays or non-approval will delay procurement timeline and result in delays to 
the procurement of the Frameworks with detrimental effects on start and end dates. 

Financial implications

22. Funding for the procurement of a Highways Major Projects Framework will be secured 
from pre-existing highways budgets.

23. The Highways Major Projects Framework is expected to result in cost savings from 
reducing the volume of tender preparation and evaluation on future procurement 
exercises.

Climate change implications

Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive / Neutral / Negative
Vulnerable to climate change? Yes/ No / Maybe

24. The delivery of a proposed Highways Major Projects Framework Contract would 
support the Councils 2050 Vision by including environmental assessment criteria in the 
evaluation of the tenders giving confidence that providers will carefully consider climate 
change and the environment when delivering highway construction works.
 

Equality implications

Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes / No

25. Due regard has been considered and there is no envisaged impact on any of the
protected groups, potential providers will be asked to demonstrate compliance with
section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. Each individual highway scheme will have its own
individual equalities impact assessment on a case by case basis.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

26. No personal data will be collected or shared as part of the Framework Procurement 
exercise.

Social value implications

27. The Highways Major Projects Framework will in part be assessed against social values 
including employment measures, supporting people into work, apprenticeships and 
training and community initiatives.  

Consultation feedback

28. Engagement has taken place across the business to understand current requirements,
and feedback obtained from both current customers and contractors.

Officer recommendations

29. That Cabinet approve the recommendations as set out in this report.

Page 64



Performance management/follow-up 

30. The Frameworks will be managed in line with the Council’s contract management 
procedures. A full category review is considered in 2 years from the start of the new 
Framework to assess performance, contract management and market feedback. This 
will inform the options appraisal and recommendations for the future.

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Procurement of Physical Book Stock for Gloucestershire Libraries 
Cabinet Date 22 September 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr Norman, Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and 
Libraries

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To gain approval for Gloucestershire Libraries & Information to work with 
the Consortium for United Stock Purchase (CUSP) to undertake a 
procurement for the supply of physical adult and children’s books for a 
period of 5 years.

Recommendations

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director for Economy, 
Environment and Infrastructure in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Public Protection, Parking and Libraries to:

1) Approve the continued membership of the CUSP consortium 
arrangement 

2) Procure as a member of CUSP, led by Somerset County Council, for the 
supply of Adults and Children’s books to combine our budget with other 
public bodies to leverage better value for money

3) Conduct a compliant procurement process in accordance with the 
arrangements with CUSP and using the 376F Library Stock ESPO 
Framework Agreement for the supply of physical stock:

a. to do a direct award for Adult book stock under Lot 1 to Askews & 
Holts Library Services Ltd, which is a single supplier lot.

b. to use ESPO Framework Lot 2 to undertake a mini competition 
for the supply of Children’s and Teen stock 

4) Award one or more Call-Off Contracts under the ESPO Framework 
Agreement whose combined aggregate value shall not exceed £2million 
and for a term of up to five years.   

Page 67

Agenda Item 10



Reasons for 
recommendations

Through the approval of this procurement, and the selection of suppliers as a 
result, Officers will be well placed to achieve best value for the Council in the 
supply of physical stock suitable for use in libraries for the next 5 years, 
meeting statutory responsibilities.

The availability of stock represents one of the core service elements of the 
public library service, meeting the 1964 Libraries and Museums Act and 
therefore the supply and delivery of stock, and the associated tasks achieved 
via the procurement will enable the Council to comply with its statutory duties.

The CUSP arrangement working in a consortium enables GCC to maximise 
value by benefiting from discounts owing to the combined buying power of 
the 12 authorities.

Resource 
Implications

The anticipated maximum spend by Gloucestershire Libraries via the Call-Off 
Contract/s would be £2 million for the potential life of the Call-Off Contract/s 
of 5 years. 

This is funded from within existing Library Service revenue budgets and 
allows for expenditure from Capital if funds are available.

Expenditure will be within allocated resources. 

Background 
Documents

Cabinet Report 2016 16th November 
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=895 
Extension 23/7/2020 
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=34480
&optionId=0 

Statutory Authority Libraries & Museums Act 1964

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Colin Chick, Director Economy, Environment and Infrastructure

Timeline  Cabinet Decision to Procure 22 September 2021

 Procurement commences – 30 September 2021

 Decision to Award for both Lot 1 Adult and Lot 2 Children’s stock to 
be completed by end of January 2022 

 Contracts paperwork to be completed by 1 April 2022

Page 68

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=895
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=34480&optionId=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=34480&optionId=0


Background 

1. Gloucestershire Libraries requires the supply of physical stock by specialist public 
library stock suppliers. Physical stock in this definition is physical, printed books.

This includes specific stock to fulfil the following categories: 

 Junior fiction, non-fiction, picture books, picture books for older readers, Start to 
read collections

 Teen fiction and non-fiction, graphic novels and manga

 Parent and Child collections 

 Adult Fiction
Adult Non-fiction – including Innovation and Business, Health and Well Being, 
Sustainability and Reference collections

2. The supply of stock to public libraries is different to simply buying items from a 
bookshop. For instance:

 We buy across a range of thousands of specific titles, often pre-publication, as 
part of large orders, across our 31 Council Library locations, and our Library 
Service for Education.  This book stock is also accessed by people using our 
Community libraries.

 We seek to use suppliers who service each item to meet our specific public 
library requirements e.g. labels to provide customer information, barcodes and 
RFID tags inserted. 

 The supplier is required to be able to directly deliver to all 31 statutory library 
locations. 

 The supplier is also required to work with our systems and processes e.g. 
electronic data process interfacing with library management systems to ensure 
the public catalogue is accurate regarding on order items. 

 The supplier is required to offer supplier selection where we set the criteria and 
budget for the supply of stock, and the supplier’s specialists select stock based 
on this requirement.

3. Supply is also subject to discounts on the cost of items, recognising the scale of the 
Consortium’s buying.

4. Gloucestershire Libraries & Information has been a member of a stock procurement 
consortium (CUSP) since 2003.  The consortium membership comprises 12 library 
authorities in the south west and reflects the close working relationship between the 
public library authorities in the region across a range of activities.

5. The current stock contract was awarded by use of an ESPO framework in 2016 for 3 
years with an option to extend for 2 years.  The extension was agreed in April 2020 
meaning that the contract now expires in July 2022.  The contract covers the supply 
of physical, mainstream adult and children’s fiction and non-fiction, graphic novels 
and reference books.

Page 69



6. Having reviewed options for procurement, the following advantages that we gain 
from membership of the consortium have driven the recommendation to continue to 
work with CUSP:

 Discounts from library book suppliers are based on the value of the overall 
contract so belonging to a consortium has clear financial benefits.  

 Staff input in the procurement process is greatly reduced by working through the 
consortium. A proposed single lead authority will represent the consortium during 
the procurement reducing the cost of the procurement process to GCC, 
compared to GCC procuring individually.

 Working as a consortium means we benefit from the experience and best 
practice from multiple professionals meaning we can elevate the service offered 
to Gloucestershire Library Users, and continue to develop our learning in an 
efficient way.

 The library book supply market is very fragile with only 2 main suppliers and the 
significant discounts are only available for high volumes which as an individual 
authority would not be so strong a case for discounting.  

 The majority of local authorities buy library stock through consortia that are 
geographically based. CUSP, as the consortia for the SW aligns with our 
regional working on a wide range of library projects and best practice. 

Options for Procurement

7. The alternative options that were considered were:

 To not procure

 To procure as an individual authority using the same Framework

 To procure as an individual authority via Open Tender
8. These options are not recommended because:

 Section 7.2 of the Libraries & Museum Act 1964 details the duty to keep stock, 
“sufficient in number, range and quality to meet the general requirements and 
any special requirements both of adults and children”.  
In order to do this:

 We manage our stock using data and other methods to edit stock and remove 
grubby, out of date stock. 

 We rotate stock to maximise the range of stock available physically in each 
library, and to maximise the loan per volume.

 We offer non-physical stock e.g. digital eBooks, e-Audio and Virtual Reference 
Information.

 We utilise inter lending with other authorities and academic institutions. 
In addition to these methods using existing stock it is essential to have stock supply 
options for the procurement, within available budgets, of new physical stock to 
capture newly published titles, to expand the range of collections in diversity, to 
keep physical information sources up to date and to replace popular titles with new 
editions. This also meets public demand and maintains the reputation of the library 
service to meet public expectations.

Page 70



Therefore, the option to not procure new stock supply arrangements is the least 
desirable option.

 The majority of local authorities buy library stock through consortia that are 
geographically based so joining another consortium is not a helpful option and 
the additional benefits of being in a consortium with neighbouring authorities 
would be lost.

 The library book supply market is very fragile with only 2 main suppliers and the 
significant discounts are only available for high volumes which as an individual 
authority would not apply.

9. Within the CUSP consortium the options considered for procurement were:

 Framework 

 Open Market Tender 
10.The market for public library book stock provision has shrunk so there are 2 main 

suppliers, one of which specialises in Children’s titles.  Stock managers in each of 
the 12 authorities that make up the CUSP consortium were consulted whether the 
procurement should be open or utilise a Framework, and if so, should the 
Framework be one that included this specialist supplier.  Based on the outcome of 
this consortia engagement the decision was taken to select the 376F_18 Library 
Stock ESPO Framework Agreement for the supply of physical stock as the preferred 
procurement route if we do proceed as recommended and procure as part of the 
CUSP consortium. 

Risks

11.  Risk Table:
Risk Mitigation
Significant reduction in stock budget We do not commit to a level of 

expenditure in order to reflect potential 
fluctuations in expenditure

Business failure of company/s awarded 
the contract

 Goods are paid for on receipt, not in 
advance, so low risk of financial loss.

 If more than one company is awarded 
the contract the remaining company/s 
may be able to supply on an interim 
basis

 Stock can be ordered retrospectively if 
there is a gap in supply

 Financial checks have been carried out 
under the framework agreement

Timeline for the Procurement  Both available Frameworks (ESPO and 
NEPO) terminate in March 2022. 
Therefore, this procurement is subject 
to an accelerated timescale. Working 
as a consortium enables us to utilise 
the resource and expertise of a 

Page 71



number of experienced staff across the 
South West to achieve this 
procurement within the deadline.

Financial implications

12.The costs associated with the procurement can be met within allocated resources 
and the proposed procurement is designed to maximise the best value for the 
Council with regard to expenditure on physical book stock and the work associated 
in managing the selection, processing and supply of library stock. In addition, it is 
designed to maintain efficient use of professional resources required to support 
procurement – Commercial, Legal, and Librarian.

13.As we propose to continue to be part of the CUSP consortium there will be costs 
payable to the lead authority Somerset County Council who will lead on the 
procurement on behalf of the Consortium.  These costs are estimated to be in the 
region of £2k and will be funded from within existing revenue budgets.

Climate change implications

14.The supply of library stock does have an environmental impact in respect of the 
delivery of items and processing of stock using a range of paper and plastic 
products.  However, this has to be balanced by the fact that the resultant books are 
then loaned by multiple times by public borrowers and are available to support the 
learning and development of library users who often access the library by foot or 
using public transport.  These items therefore support the green agenda of the 
county by providing a lending service, reducing the purchase and use of ‘single 
read’ books.

15.Working with CUSP we are as a group developing a specification for the 
procurement that includes criteria for the sustainable supply of stock e.g. recyclable 
packaging, recyclable covering for books, reduction in the use of paper and plastic.

Equality implications

16.  The Equality Impact Assessment demonstrates that the selection of physical stock 
is managed in order to meet the duties as set out in the Libraries & Museums Act 
1964 to ensure a wide range of stock is offered to the Gloucestershire Public. 

17. In order to achieve this, Gloucestershire Libraries has a Stock Policy which sets out 
how stock is selected and managed. 
Paying due regard to the protected characteristics, within budgetary constraints we 
aim to provide a wide range of stock that will reflect the interests of our customers 
and we closely monitor levels of use and potential gaps in stock.

18.Having carried out the EIA we will be working with CUSP to ensure the procurement 
enables the assessment, at the bidding stage, of how the supplier can enable us to 
supply stock that represents diverse voices, both as authors, and as characters in 
books, and with positive quality illustrations for children’s books.

Page 72



Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

19.  None 

Social value implications

20.Every opportunity to secure social value will be looked at as part of the procurement 
process but it is generally regarded that given the type of contract that we are 
accessing there are limited opportunities to secure local social value enhancements 
through the contract, not least as it is not a competitive process but we are buying in 
to an established consortium. However the use of the consortium will keep service 
costs down which will allow the libraries to offer improved social value options 
through the service direct.

21.The supply of physical stock is a core element of the statutory public library service 
and as such provides free access to a wide range of reading material for all 
residents in Gloucestershire of all ages, abilities and backgrounds.  Libraries 
encourage individuals of all ages to read for pleasure and purpose to increase their 
understanding of the world, stretch their imaginations and think differently.

22.What makes libraries unique is their neutral status allowing them to build a trusted 
relationship with the customer in a way that other public bodies cannot.  This is the 
crux of what is called socio-recreation or relating to society through recreation and 
can be achieved without the need for a doctor, referral or any other ‘medical’ 
intervention.  

23.The Library Stock Policy outlines the principles for selection of physical stock and 
sets out the ethos for this, linking to the broad aspiration to select stock to meet the 
needs of the Gloucestershire public and being representative of the diverse needs, 
experience and aspiration.

Consultation feedback

24.Gloucestershire Libraries has completed a customer engagement in the summer of 
2021 which will inform future strategy and policy. The findings of this consultation 
are yet to be fully analysed but will be used to inform future stock selection. 

25.We positively welcome suggestions for items of stock from both individuals and 
groups within our local communities and see this as part of our commitment to 
public involvement in service development.

26.The contracts that result from this recommended procurement route will establish 
the stability required in supply for up to 5 years.  This will enable our Librarian team 
to work with our supplier/s in order to continually respond to the changing needs of 
our users and the wider public.  Changes in use will be informed by data that shows 
stock performance, requests for specific titles, and engagement with communities.  
We have recently undertaken a local community engagement in the Matson area to 
inform the community stock requirements as part of the project to refurbish and 
revitalise the service on offer within that community.

Page 73



Officer recommendations
27.That Cabinet approves the recommendations as set out in this report:

Performance Management/Follow-up
28.The supply of physical stock will be monitored regularly via Contract Management 

with the successful supplier, based on their performance against KPI. 
29.The supply of physical stock will be managed using a range of professional tools 

including Stock Selection Specifications, and regular meetings with selection teams 
and account representatives.  Stock selected by the supplier/s on behalf of the 
library service is reviewed by the Librarian team. 

30.The relationship with Somerset County Council and CUSP as the key procurement 
contacts will be managed throughout the procurement process

Page 74



REPORT TITLE: Parking ICT Contracts

Cabinet Date 22nd September 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr David Norman, Public Protection, Parking and Libraries

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet’s approval for the procurement of a parking and 
enforcement related ICT service contracts, divided into three separate lots, 
to replace the council’s existing parking and enforcement related ICT 
services contracts.

Recommendations

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director: Economy, 
Environment and Infrastructure, in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries to:

1. Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a contract 
divided into the following three lots for the purpose of replacing the 
council’s existing parking and enforcement related ICT services 
contracts:

(a) Lot 1: Replacement ICT back office Penalty Charge Notice (PCN) 
Management system, including the council’s correspondence 
management requirements;

(b) Lot 2: Replacement Cashless Parking system;

(c) Lot 3: Replacement Permit Management System

Such lots may be awarded to the same tenderer under a single contract 
or awarded to a number of separate tenderers under not more than three 
separate contracts, whose term(s) shall continue for an initial period of 5 
years and include an option to extend such term(s) for a further period of 
not more than 2 years.

2. Award such contract(s) to the preferred tenderer(s).

3. Determine whether to exercise the option to extend such contract(s) for 
a further period of two years on the expiry of the initial five year term

Page 75

Agenda Item 11



Reasons for 
recommendations

Section 2.4 of this report outlines the benefits of the preferred option and 
the basis for the officer decision.

Resource 
Implications

The costs of the three contracts are estimated to be:

ICT back office system and correspondence management - £160k per 
annum
Cashless ICT system - £25k per annum
Permit system - £70k per annum
Total cost of contracts - £255k per annum, or £1.785m over 7 years, 
including extensions.
Market testing has identified that the suite of contracts may cost the council 
an additional £75k per annum compared to current costs.
Economy, Environment & Infrastructure will aim to absorb the additional 
costs from within existing revenue budgets or by making savings such as 
promoting cashless payments allowing the rationalisation of on street ticket 
machines.

Background 
Documents

 Traffic Management Act (2004) and associated secondary legislation

 Transport Act (2000) and secondary legislation

 The Bus Lane Contraventions (Penalty Charges, Adjudication and 
Enforcement) (England) Regulations (2005)

 Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (England) General 
(amendment) Regulations (2020)

 Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan 2020-2041

Statutory Authority Traffic Management Act 2004

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Name:  Andrew Burford
Tel. no: 01452 425452
Email: Andrew.burford@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline Tenders to be issued: October 2021
Tenders to be returned from market: November 2021
Contract to be awarded: December 2021
New contract to commence: 1st May 2022

Page 76



1 Background 

1.1 The Parking team manages the council’s parking and enforcement activities.  To 
manage the PCN process, in line with legislative requirements, the council utilises 
a PCN management software system to issue PCNs, to automate the process of 
payments, obtaining court warrants, chasing debt (via an interface with 
enforcement agents), appeals/representations and DVLA enquires. The system 
also stores ANPR footage of vehicles identified as committing a contravention in a 
bus lane. The parking back office ICT system is at the heart of all parking activities 
from enforcement through to dealing with appeals, payment and debt collection.

1.2 The system requires a number of interfaces with other systems, these include:

 DVLA - obtain owner information interface;
 Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) cameras – importing of 

ANPR footage and evidence packs;
 Traffic Enforcement Centre – interface to register debts and manage 

court warrants in relation to unpaid PCNs;
 Bailiffs – managing debt recovery;
 Hand held devices that enable CEOs to enforcement at locations;
 Cashless system – to enable on street enforcement;
 Permit system – to enable on street enforcement.

1.3 The management of PCNs, in line with legislation, results in large amounts of 
statutory correspondence which needs to be printed, posted, scanned, attached 
and appended to the councils back office ICT system.

1.4 In addition to the above the council also has a requirement for a cashless system, 
for on and off street pay and display, to allow purchases of paid for parking. 
Parking can be paid for by using the online website, smart phone application, text 
or by phone. This element of the contract offers an opportunity to save money by 
removing on street pay and display infrastructure by encouraging users to pay for 
parking using the cashless system. The money will be saved as ongoing 
maintenance, associated sundry items and cash collections will no longer be 
required. 

1.5 The council also provides virtual permits for sale to residents, businesses, visitors 
and hotels and the authority has a continued requirement for this provision. It is 
likely that the council will see increased demand for cashless and permit 
transactions, via countywide parking reviews; consultation dependent. COVID 19 
has seen an increase in cashless transactions and the authority should ensure 
that the future contract enables growth in these areas. 

1.6 The council currently has a contract in place with Chipside Ltd, including their 
MiPermit product, to deliver all requirements outlined above. The end of the 
current contract arrangements gives the council the opportunity to review what 
other software products are available in the market place, considering innovations 
to make efficiencies e.g. parking bay sensors and electric vehicle charging points.

Page 77



1.7 A lack of investment in the Parking ICT system means that although the system is 
still fit for purpose, it inhibits the potential for digital innovation. Potentially this 
could jeopardise the level of income received.

1.8 The council is currently reviewing how it delivers on street pay and display, with a 
particular focus on digital cashless transactions. This would offer the council the 
ability to rationalise the amount of on street pay and display machines. This 
project has the potential to deliver considerable savings of up to £153,700 per 
annum if all on street machines were removed and transactions became fully 
digital only. To enable on street machines to be removed the council requires a 
robust cashless ICT offering, which must include a responsive customer contact 
centre. The present supplier is still operating to reduced capacity as a result of 
COVID 19 and this could be a risk to the expansion of increased cashless 
transactions in the future.

1.9 The council requires accurate and comprehensive data to enable it to make 
decisions about the service and how it is delivered. Furthermore, the ability to 
obtain system data can influence how enforcement takes place on the ground 
delivering further efficiencies and an increase in the numbers of PCNs issued and 
proactive charging structures based on a demand led approach. It is difficult to 
quantify the exact savings this would deliver, however, in 2019/20 GCC obtained 
£740,767 per annum in on street PCN income from parking so an efficiency of 5% 
would result in a benefit of £37k per annum.

1.10 In 2019/20 GCC obtained £2.1m in P&D income in relation to on and off street 
parking. Experience from other authorities has highlighted that customers pay 
more when they pay for parking digitally compared to cash. Rutland Council have 
suggested that they saw an increase of around 20% per transaction when they 
removed cash payment options. Furthermore, the introduction of a more 
technologically advanced cashless system could enable the introduction of new 
inititives such as emission based parking charges.

1.11 It should be noted that some of the savings would require a political decision and 
member buy-in to deliver in their entirety, i.e. going cashless for on street pay and 
display.

1.12 Market testing has been undertaken and four suppliers engaged in this process. It 
has been identified that there is an opportunity for the council to improve its 
offering to the public based on the results of the market testing.

1.13 The market testing has also identified that the council could expect to see an 
increase in price of £75k per annum as a result of re-procuring the contract, 
however until tenders are received the exact amount cannot be quantified. The 
market testing has influenced the preferred option in this report and has helped to 
support the recommendations outlined in this paper.

1.14 The system will be future proofed to ensure the introduction of compliant 
enforcement of moving traffic contraventions; this will aim to be a cost neutral 
service, as with parking enforcement. Other innovation interfacing will also be 
considered to future proof ongoing savings.

2. Options

Page 78



A number of different options exist in relation to this paper and these are outlined 
below:

2.1 Option 1: Do not procure a new PCN management system (including 
correspondence management), permit management system and cashless parking 
system ICT contracts and instead continue with the council’s current contractual 
arrangements 

No further extension options are available under the council’s current contracts for 
PCN management system (including correspondence management), permit 
management system and cashless parking ICT contracts with Chipside Limited 
hence any extension of its term would result in a breach the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015 and the prospect of legal challenge and resultant damages 
claims. Accordingly, this option has been discounted. 

2.2 Option 2: Cease using an ICT PCN management back office system (including 
correspondence management) or providing cashless and permit management 
elements of the council’s current parking ICT contracts with Chipside Limited.

 The council is not in a position to cease using any elements of the current 
contract. Having customer friendly, efficient and cost-effective provision is a 
statutory requirement and essential to the council in order to be able to manage 
PCNs, permits and cashless parking. It should be noted that the council as 
highway authority is obliged to manage parking since it was decriminalisation in 
2007. 

  A study has been undertaken to investigate if the correspondence management 
element of the council’s current correspondence management contract with 
Chipside Limited can be internalised/brought in-house. Engagement with Canon 
has revealed that the costs of the council setting up the necessary print farm, and 
premises for such a purpose and the operational costs of delivering the 
correspondence management element of the contract internally would 
considerably exceed the cost of the council’s current contract with Chipside 
Limited. Accordingly, this option has been discounted.

2.3    Option 3: Procure a 5 year contract, that is not divided into lots, for the supply of 
ICT PCN management system (including correspondence management), permit 
management system and cashless parking ICT contracts and which includes a 2 
year extension option

One key element of the market testing exercise described in Sections 1.12 to 1.14 
was to identify the best way for the council to procure the various element of the 
required ICT PCN management system (including correspondence management), 
permit management system and cashless parking ICT contracts. The said market 
testing was most revealing in regards how the contract should be tendered. It was 
soon identified that very few providers will offer the whole package required by the 
council. A number of suppliers specialise in areas, and it was clear that these 
products reflected the amount of focus and development in relation to their 
specialised product.

Page 79



 Furthermore, the outcome of the council’s engagement with the market identified 
that it may not be possible for a supplier to provide the correspondence 
management services without also providing the back-office system due to 
interfacing and system access. It would also increase risk of a data breach in 
relation to GDPR requirements.  In view of the information of the market testing 
described in Sections 1.12 to 1.14 and the poor outcome this option would offer it 
has been discounted.

2.4   Option 4: Procure a 5 year Contract for the supply of ICT PCN management 
system (including correspondence management), permit management system 
and cashless parking ICT contracts that is divided into 3 separate lots and which 
includes a 2 year extension option – Preferred Option 

 As outlined above the recent market testing exercise has made the procurement 
pathway much clearer. It is recommended that the council tender the service in 
three lots, namely:

Lot 1. PCN Management System & Correspondence Management
Lot 2. Cashless System
Lot 3. Permit System

This approach will enable the council to ensure that the most suitable package is 
procured, without having to compromise on any system functionality, given that 
the tender specification will require all suppliers to interface with other providers 
systems. 

Market testing has identified that replacing the back office ICT system may 
increase costs to the council by around £75k which will be funded from within 
EE&I budgets.

The potential additional cost should be offset against the considerable efficiencies 
and savings as outlined in this paper.

The evaluation of this contract will be based on a price/ quality mix. 

3. Risks 

There are a number of risks associated with the project and how these will be mitigated 
and managed is outlined below:

3.1   Costs

The current contracts with Chipside are providing a relatively low-cost service for 
the council.

Over the past few years the council has underinvested in the back office ICT 
system, which has resulted in low cost provision but is inhibiting digital 
advancement and savings as outlined elsewhere in the paper.

Page 80



Market testing has identified that, by replacing the back office ICT system, this will 
increase costs incurred by the council. This additional cost should be offset 
against the considerable efficiencies and savings as outlined in this paper. 

3.2   Procurement Risk - Risk of Challenge from a Supplier

It is critical that a public procurement law compliant process is followed during the 
proposed procurement in order to avoid the risk of legal challenge from aggrieved 
suppliers.

3.3    Not Finding a Suitable Supplier 

Market testing has identified a number of suppliers in the market place who are 
able to provide the councils requirements.

3.4    Elements of Service not Included in New Contract

  It is imperative that all elements of the council system requirements are covered 
off in the tender.  The Parking Manager will sign off the tender documents as 
being accurate and reflecting all the needs and requirements of the contract in 
order to deliver the service effectively.

3.5   Supplier Failure/Withdrawal from Contract

 In a competitive market it is not uncommon for suppliers to bid extremely low rates 
to win the contract and then experience financial difficulties or attempt to 
renegotiate rates during the contract term. A clear specification, fair and 
achievable performance measures and effective contract management is needed 
to minimise this risk.

3.6   Tendering the Service as Separate Lots

By procuring the services as separate lots there is a risk that suppliers may 
attempt to avoid liability by apportioning the blame for their faults or failures to 
other lot suppliers. Accordingly, the proposed specification will clearly define each 
supplier’s areas of responsibility.  Moreover, the tender specification will require all 
tenderers to ensure that their offerings interface with the products of the other lot 
suppliers.

4. Financial implications

4.1 EE&I will aim to absorb the estimated £75k of additional costs from within existing 
revenue budgets or by making savings such as promoting cashless payments 
allowing the rationalisation of on street ticket machines.

5      Climate change implications

5.1 The provision of the suite of parking ICT contracts supports council and 
Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan 2020 to 2041 objectives in regards highway 

Page 81



and traffic management that can help towards reducing congestion and pollution 
from vehicles with internal combustion engines.

6      Equality implications

Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes 

6.1 Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in 
order to satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

7      Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

7.1   A DPIA has been completed with a risk score of 5 identified. The DPIA has also 
identified a number of areas, such as PCC/DSS compliance, to include as 
contract clauses in the contract terms and conditions.

8     Social value implications

8.1   As part of the tender quality evaluation an element will consist of social value and 
innovation. Recent parking tenders have delivered social value for the community 
by employing local people or undertaking charitable support for local foodbanks 
and pet charities.

9    Consultation feedback

9.1 Consultation has taken place with other councils, suppliers (via soft market testing), 
and internal stakeholders. The soft market testing has helped the council 
understand how to tender the suite of ICT products as well as understanding 
indicative costs in relation to a future contract. 

Relevant internal officers have also been consulted with including the corporate 
Business Case Assurance Group (BCAG). All of the feedback received has been 
adopted in this report.

10    Officer recommendations

10.1 That the Cabinet supports the recommended option 4 made in paragraph 2.4 of this 
report.

11.0 Performance Management/Follow-up 

11.1 A number of key performance indicators (KPIs) have been developed in relation to 
the proposed new contract. These indicators are focussed on service delivery, 
value for money, innovation and good management of the service. Failure to deliver 
the contract requirements will result in deductions from the rate paid by GCC, or in 
extreme cases contract termination.

11.2 Regular contract review meetings will be required with the supplier and Parking 
Manager to ensure that the contract is managed in accordance with GCC Contract 
Management requirements.

Page 82



11.3 The Executive Director: Economy, Environment & Infrastructure will ensure that the 
Lead Cabinet Member is kept updated with progress and notified of the outcome of 
the tender process. 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service Draft Community Risk 
Management  Plan 2022-2025

Cabinet Date 22nd September 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr. Dave Norman, Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and 
Libraries

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval for the objectives and consultation proposals 
relating to the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) draft 
Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) 2022-2025. 

The proposed consultation will take place with the public, relevant 
stakeholders and partners in an 8 week period between October 2021 and 
November 2021. A period of 4 weeks pre-consultation was performed in 
February 2021 to inform the development of the first draft. Therefore, a total 
of 12 weeks consultation will have been conducted. 

Recommendations

It is recommended that Cabinet:

1. Approves the content of the GFRS draft Community Risk Management 
Plan (CRMP) 2022 - 2025 prepared on the basis of the 8 Objectives 
set out in Paragraph 1.4 of this Report; and 

2. Delegates authority to the Chief Fire Officer to undertake a public 
consultation on the draft Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) 
2022-2025.

Page 85

Agenda Item 12



Reasons for 
recommendations

The primary duties of the Fire and Rescue Authority are contained in the 
Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004. This requires the provision, training 
and equipping of the Service to provide: 

 Firefighting;
 Protection of people and property from fire; 
 Fire safety promotion;
 Road traffic collision rescues; 
 Other emergency responses to civil emergencies. 

In addition to these statutory obligations, the Authority is required to have 
due regard to the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 
(2018). The framework places a legal obligation on all Fire Authorities to 
develop, produce and publish a Community Risk Management Plan 
(CRMP) at least once every 3 years.

Resource 
Implications

There are no resource implications at this time.

Following consultation and review the final plan will return to Cabinet for 
finalisation and adoption at which point resource implications for 
implementation of the outcomes from the 8 objectives will be considered.  

Background 
Documents

 Fire and Rescue National Framework for England (2018)
 HMICFRS State of Fire 2019 and 2020
 HMICFRS Effectiveness, Efficiency and People 2018/19 – An 

inspection of Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service
 Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Community Risk Profiles 2022-2025
 Policing and Crime Act 2017
 Fire Standards Board - Community Risk Management Planning (FSS-

RMP01)
 NFCC CRMP Strategic Framework
 Cabinet Member Decision (25/07/2020): Gloucestershire Fire and 

Rescue Service (GFRS) Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) 
2018 – 2021 One Year Extension 

Statutory Authority Paragraph 4.6 of The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 
(2018).

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All 

Officer Name:  Mark Preece
Tel. no: 01452 888787 
Email: mark.preece@glosfire.gov.uk

Timeline Public Consultation: 01 October 2021 – 26 November 2021
Update CRMP in response to consultation feedback: December 
2021/January 2022
Take CRMP to Cabinet for approval: TBC

Page 86

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705060/National_Framework_-_final_for_web.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-content/uploads/state-of-fire-and-rescue-2019-2.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-content/uploads/state-of-fire-and-rescue-2020-single-page-format.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-content/uploads/gloucestershire-fire-and-rescue-service-report-2018-19.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-content/uploads/gloucestershire-fire-and-rescue-service-report-2018-19.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/3/contents/enacted
https://www.firestandards.org/approved-standards/community-risk-management-planning-fss-rmp01/
https://www.firestandards.org/approved-standards/community-risk-management-planning-fss-rmp01/
https://www.ukfrs.com/community-risk/community-risk-management-planning-strategic-framework


Publish CRMP: 1 April 2022

Page 87



Background

1 The Fire and Rescue National Framework sets out the Government’s priorities and 
objectives for Fire and Rescue authorities in England; a key priority is for the Fire and 
Rescue Authority (FRA) to develop a Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP). When 
developing the CRMP, the FRA should give due regard to the professional advice of the 
Chief Fire Officer.

2 In order to achieve the National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) Fire Standard, a standard 
expected of all Fire and Rescue Services in the creation of their CRMP’s, GFRS must:

 Utilise and share accurate data and business intelligence (from both internal and 
external sources) to support key activities such as evidenced-based decision 
making, horizon scanning, cross border risk identification and organisational 
learning;

 Ensure transparency in the community risk management planning process 
through either implementing and/or supporting ongoing engagement and formal 
consultation processes, ensuring these are accessible and publicly available;

 Ensure that organisational decisions and the measures implemented support 
equality, diversity, inclusivity, are non-discriminatory and are people impact 
assessed;

 Meet its legislative, framework and governance requirements linked to 
Community Risk Management;

 Be able to evidence its external and internal operating environment and the 
strategic objectives the community risk management plan is seeking to achieve;

 Identify and describe the existing and emerging local, regional and national 
hazards it faces, the hazardous events that could arise and the risk groups 
(People, Place, Environment and Economy) that could be harmed;

 Analyse risk, consider its risk appetite, determine the risk levels and prioritise 
risk accordingly;

 Make decisions about the deployment of resources based on the prioritised risk 
levels and planning assumptions involved. This should be carried out with 
consideration to internal and external resource availability (people, financial and 
physical) including collaborative, cross-border and national resilience assistance. 
Consideration should also be given to other strategic influences such as 
consultation feedback, stakeholder engagement and political objectives;

 Continually evaluate the effectiveness, efficiency and delivery of the community 
risk management plan and the organisational impact of risk management 
decisions;

 Be able to clearly define who has overall accountability for the community risk 
management plan and responsibility for the various components contained within 
it; and

 Provide training and/or support (where required) to all who are involved in the 
development, management and implementation of the community risk 
management plan.

3   In June 2020, work commenced towards the delivery of the draft CRMP 2022-2025 with the 
following steps completed:

Page 88



 An evidence based Risk Profile methodology for Prevention, Protection and 
Response.

 Creation of Community Risk Profiles for Prevention, Protection and Response, 
that included the review and collection of evidence from internal and external 
data sources.

 CRMP workshops with the Senior Leadership Team (SLT) and Senior 
Managers, each helping to inform different elements of the CRMP (alignment to 
Council plans and strategies, document structure, risk profiles, objective setting, 
consultation and engagement).

 A pre-engagement consultation with the public, staff and businesses before the 
first draft.

 Finalising of the objective setting with the Department Heads and Senior 
Managers.

 Production of an Equality Impact Assessment which supplements this paper.

4    Following this comprehensive process, the draft CRMP outlines the 8 objectives, which 
have been agreed by GFRS Senior Leadership Team, which will be delivered by the 
Service across the three-year life of the plan. These are:

Objective 1 – Prevention
Deliver intelligence informed person-centred and impactful prevention activities that 
effectively and efficiently improve the safety, health and wellbeing of the diverse people 
who live, work in or visit Gloucestershire.

Objective 2 – Protection
Deliver intelligence informed and impactful protection activities, to include inspections, 
audits, education and enforcement, which continue to reduce the likelihood and impact of 
fire in commercial buildings across Gloucestershire and reduce the risk to both the public 
and firefighters.

Objective 3 - Response Standards
Implement National Operational Guidance and approved National Fire Standards to 
assure and support operational competence, learning and preparedness.

Objective 4 - Response Arrangements
Review our existing arrangements to ensure that we have the required number of 
resources, with the right people and equipment, at the right time, in the right location. 

Objective 5 - People and Social Responsibility
Further improve our inclusive culture to ensure that we attract, retain, support and 
develop a diverse workforce, which is truly representative of our communities.

Objective 6 – Collaboration
Collaboration is important in every organisation. We will collaborate by communicating 
with partners and building on ideas to innovate or do something differently in the public’s 
interest.

Objective 7 - Digital, Data and Technology
Increase the use of data and business intelligence tools to ensure that we understand our 
risks and maximise the use of technology to respond appropriately to those risks.

Page 89



Objective 8 - Asset Management
Continue to provide the best facilities, vehicles, equipment and personal protective 
equipment (PPE) we can afford, enabling us to deliver a professional service to our 
communities.

A public consultation will run from 1 October 2021 to 26 November 2021. A survey will be 
conducted to capture the public’s views on the 8 strategic objectives within the CRMP in a 
Covid-19 safe manner. A detailed communications plan has been developed, but in broad 
terms, promotion will be through:

 GCC and GFRS social media;

 Paid social media and digital advertising

 Video and animation

 Media releases and other media opportunities

 E-mail marketing via GovDelivery

 Internal promotion to staff

 Council’s connected newsletter

 GCC Facebook page and twitter feed;

 During our Safe and Well Visits;

 At online events and meetings.

We will be consulting over a period of 8 weeks, with the results available in December 2021. 
We want to hear from the public on how we can improve and shape our activities over the next 
3 years. As we develop our plans, we will consult with the public again on any specific 
proposals so that we can fully understand the impact they may have.

During our consultation, we aim to consult with a representative sample of the community we 
serve. This means consulting with as many of the population across Gloucestershire as 
possible. Our aim is to receive as many responses as we can to ensure the sample size is 
robust, which means we can be confident in the findings of the consultation.
 
The Covid-19 pandemic is likely to continue to impact on our consultation which means that 
we can’t go out into the community as we normally would. So we’ll be asking for opinions 
online this year and if anyone has any difficulty with internet access they can contact us via a 
dedicated phone number during the working day and paper copies of our survey will be mailed 

Page 90



to them.
 

Options

5 Option 1:
Seek amendments or adjustments to the developed draft CRMP 2022-25 and associated 
documentation with the opportunity to include further comments and amendments after public 
consultation and before final draft.

Advantages:
- Ensures the draft CRMP takes account of all current and emerging risk information.
- Ensures the draft CRMP takes account of all current and evolving governance information.
- Ensures the draft CRMP is considered fit for purpose.
- Enables the Service to move forward with a draft CRMP that accurately reflects intentions 

for the 2022-25 period.

Disadvantages:
- If the CRMP isn’t approved then the CRMP may not be ready for April 2022.

6 Option 2 (Preferred Option):
Accept the developed draft CRMP 2022-25 and associated documentation approving format 
and content as suitable for submission through the governance process and public 
consultation.

Advantages:
- Ensures the draft CRMP takes account of all current and emerging risk information.
- Ensures the draft CRMP takes account of all current and evolving governance information.
- Ensures the draft CRMP is considered fit for purpose.
- Enables the Service to move forward with a draft CRMP that accurately reflects intentions 

for the 2022-25 period.

Disadvantages:
- None foreseeable.

Risks
7 Failure to produce a Community Risk Management Plan will result in the Service and Fire 
Authority not complying with Fire and Rescue National Framework for England (2018). The 
framework places a legal obligation on all Fire Authorities to develop, produce and publish a 
Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) at least once every 3 years.

Failure to act in accordance with the Framework could lead to statutory intervention under 
section 22 of the Fire and Rescue Service Act 2004.

Financial implications
8 All objectives will be managed as projects through the GFRS Portfolio Management Office. 
Progress and will be tracked, monitored and supported through the Portfolio Management 
Board comprising a selection of GCC Directors and GCC and GFRS Heads of Service.

Page 91



There are minimal financial implications in the build up to the final draft arising from design 
work and the public consultation and its analysis. Thereafter there may be financial 
implications arising from the 8 objectives and in recognition of this the Council are planning to 
invest £815k in 2022 – 23. Such financial implications will be governed by due process.

Climate change implications
9 All 8 objectives and their outcomes will be cognisant of the need to satisfy GCC and central 
government carbon neutral policies.

Equality implications
10 An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been completed for the GFRS CRMP 2022 – 
2025 and supplements this report. Further EIA’s may be required following the progression of 
the 8 objectives as they are progressed to outcomes.

A summary of the key points from the EIA: -

Age - Age is a major factor when considering vulnerability to fire and other sources of risk. 
GFRS has made the elderly and the young very much a focus of our prevention work. We 
have entered into valuable and effective partnerships with organisations such as Age 
Concern, GCC Adult and Social Care Teams and Schools (engaging with children on fire 
prevention) to help us access those we need to protect, in a way that will encourage them to 
change their behaviour.

Disability - Disability is a major factor when considering fire and other sources of risk. GFRS 
has been involved with directed prevention work in the homes of people with disabilities, for 
example, we work with The Deaf Association to fit specialised smoke alarms designed for 
people who have a hearing impairment. We also safeguard the interests of people with 
disabilities away from their homes, our Protection Team ensure that employers and other 
commercial establishments fulfil their responsibilities to disabled employees and visitors. 
Whilst being able-bodied is important in some aspects of delivering the services we provide, 
where that is not the case GFRS takes a positive approach to employing people with 
disabilities.

Sex - Service users can be male or female. Our workforce are also of mixed gender, GFRS 
has one of the highest proportions of female firefighters in any UK Fire and Rescue Service.

Race - When we undertake Prevention and Protection work in the community we are 
conscious of the need to be sensitive to cultural and language differences. The training given 
to staff undertaking home fire safety checks recognises the need to exercise sensitivity and to 
be able to overcome any language barriers. Similarly, race is not a barrier to employment 
within GFRS. We actively encourage and welcome applications from all sectors of the 
community so that our workforce is representative of the communities we serve.

Gender reassignment - Gender re-assignment has no implication on whether a person could 
be a GFRS service user or employee.

Marriage & civil partnership - Marriage or Civil Partnerships have no implication upon 
whether a person could be a GFRS service user or employee.

Page 92



Pregnancy & maternity - Pregnancy or maternity has no implication for whether a person 
could be a GFRS service user or employee. In an operational situation the normal process of 
prioritisation of casualties may be affected by pregnancy in the interests of protecting the 
mother and her unborn child. GFRS maternity policies correspond with GCC policies and 
current law. GFRS also has clear policy on the removal of an expectant mother from an 
operational role for the duration of her pregnancy in the interests of protecting the unborn 
child.

Religion and/or belief - Religion or beliefs carry no implication for whether a person could be 
a GFRS service user or employee. Where possible religious observance is accommodated 
within working arrangements; some of GFRS’ more recently developed sites having dedicated 
prayer facilities.  The training given to staff undertaking home fire safety checks and relating to 
diversity in general recognises the need to exercise sensitivity in relation to religion and belief.

Sexual orientation - As part of normal diversity training GFRS staff are made aware of the 
need to be sensitive in relation to sexual orientation. Support groups for people in same sex 
relationships are included in the prevention work undertaken by GFRS and as such, the 
Service maintains a productive relationship with gay, lesbian, bi-sexual and trans-gender 
support groups.

Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in order to 
satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications
11 There are no Data Protection Impact Assessments implications associated with the 
production of the CRMP 2022 – 2025.

Social value implications
12 In order to achieve the NFCC Fire Standard, a standard expected of all Fire and Rescue 
Services in the creation of their CRMP’s, GFRS must ensure that they demonstrate that they 
have delivered on the key points in section 2 of this document.

As a consequence of the national standard the social value implications are not adversely 
affected, indeed, the sole intention of the CRMP is to ensure they are not and that we target 
our resources towards areas of social deprivation and to have a positive impact on social 
value.

Consultation feedback
13 A pre-draft CRMP consultation was conducted in February 2021 and will be made 
publically available in a report form. Below is a brief summary: 

Consultation Response

 264 responses were received. 
 57% were local residents.
 25% of respondents were employees of GFRS and 11% were employees of GCC. 
 The remaining 18% were made of Councillors, local businesses, community/volunteer 

groups, other blue light agencies and neighbouring fire and rescue services. 
 80% of respondents had not used any of the services provided by GFRS in the last 

three years. 

Page 93



Summary:

 63% of respondents were fairly or very satisfied with GFRS. 
 41% of respondents had felt that the service provided by GFRS in the last three years 

had stayed about the same. 20% felt that it got better, 26% of respondents did not know 
and 10% felt that it got worse. 

 70% of respondents tend to or strongly agree that GFRS provides good value for 
money, with 13% disagreeing and the remaining respondents not knowing. 

 The majority (75%) of respondents felt either fairly or very confident that GFRS 
provides an effective service overall. 

 When the respondents were asked to prioritise a number of activities that they felt were 
the most important for GFRS, responding to fires scored the highest. Rescuing people 
from road traffic collisions was the next highest score and preventing fires and 
promoting fire safety followed. 

Activity Rank order
Responding to fires 1
Rescuing people from road traffic collisions 2
Preventing fires and promoting fire safety 3
Responding to National large scale 
emergencies such as flooding and terrorist 
incidents

4

Collaborating with other Blue light 
organisations, for example the Police and 
Ambulance

5

Ensuring those responsible for public and 
commercial buildings comply with fire safety
regulations

6

Obtaining information from landlords/building 
owners to improve response if a fire or other
emergency occurs in the building

7

 When the respondents were asked to rank non-statutory activities, the highest scoring 
activity was, responding to medical incidents. Responding to storms and other natural 
disasters scored the second highest, with responding to water rescue incidents scoring 
the third highest. 

Page 94



Non-statutory activity Rank order
Responding to medical incidents (either assisting 
the ambulance service or as a first responder or 
to serious medical calls) 

1

Responding to storms and other natural 
disasters 

2

Responding to water rescue incidents 3
Promoting road safety 4
Responding to animal rescue 5
Supporting Covid-19 work to reduce the impact 
on the community 

6

Promoting water safety 7
Collaborating with other departments of the 
County Council and wider organisations such as 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group

8

Supporting youth development work 9

 66% of the respondents stated that it is important that our workforce reflects the diverse 
communities that we serve. 

 69% of the respondents felt that GFRS should increase its road safety education and 
prevention activity, even though it is not a statutory duty. 

The results of the eight-week draft CRMP that will be carried out in October and November will 
also be made publicly available. Where objective outcomes require consultation this will also 
be made publically available.

Officer recommendations
14 Approval is sought from Cabinet to agree the DRAFT Community Risk Management Plan 
2022-2025 and to undertake a public consultation on it. 

Performance Management/Follow-up
15 Once the draft CRMP 2022 – 2025 has been through Cabinet and public consultation the 
final draft will proceed to Cabinet for final sign off and publication in April 2022. Thereafter, the 
Services performance against the 8 objectives will be managed as projects through the GFRS 
Portfolio Management Office. Progress will be tracked, monitored and supported through the 
Portfolio Management Board comprising a selection of County Council Directors and County 
Council and GFRS Heads of Service. The newly formed Fire and Rescue Scrutiny Committee 
will scrutinise progress bi-monthly and Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary’s and Fire 
and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) will scrutinise progress at a minimum of once a year.

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



www.glosfire.gov.uk

"Working Together for a Safer Gloucestershire"

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service
Community Risk Management Plan 2022 - 2025P

age 97

http://www.glosfire.gov.uk/


 Contents

2

Foreword………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 3

About our Service Area……………………………………………………….…………………………. 4

Current Response Standards…………………………………………………………………………… 5

What is a Community Risk Management Plan………………………………………………………… 6

How do we Identify Risk…………………..……………………………………………………………... 7

Our Community…………………………..……………………………………………………………..... 8

Mission, Values and Code of Ethics..………………………………………………………………….. 9

Strategic Objectives....................................................................................................................... 10

Prevention ……………...………………………………………………………………………………… 11

Protection …………...……………………………………………………………………………………. 12

Response Standards.……………………………………………………………………………………. 13

Response Arrangements………………………………………………………………………………… 14

People and Social Responsibility….……….......................................................................................... 15

Collaboration……………………………………………………………………….. 16

Digital, Data and Technology……………………………………………………………………………………….. 17

Asset Management………………………….…………………………………………………………………... 18

Timelines…………………............................................................................................................... 19

Consultation……………….............................................................................................................. 20

P
age 98



 Foreword

3

Welcome to Gloucestershire County Council’s Fire and Rescue Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) 
covering the 2022 - 25 period.

As the Fire and Rescue Authority, and governing body for the county, Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) has 
a legal duty to ensure that we provide a highly effective and efficient Fire and Rescue Service that is also value 
for money. The CRMP is the vision of how we plan to mitigate the risks to our communities over the coming 
years.

The Service continues to face wide-ranging challenges from a continually evolving risk picture, new legislation 
and national drivers that require it to ‘reform’. This plan will demonstrate to the people of Gloucestershire the 
dedication and commitment made to ensuring their ongoing safety and provides assurance that ‘come what may’ 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) is prepared for every eventuality and able to react accordingly.

“Working together we will provide the highest standard of community safety and emergency response
services to the communities of Gloucestershire”

GCC made a declaration to reach net zero emissions by 2030. GFRS has a part to play in achieving that goal and 
has already taken steps to support this by moving away from diesel powered response vehicles where it can. 
Meanwhile the effects of climate change are all around us and this is reflected in our operational response e.g. 
flooding incidents. This is a frequent and expected event in parts of Gloucestershire but occasionally we see 
flooding in areas previously unaffected and the expectation for us to take action to protect peoples property and 
possessions is naturally high. We have equipment available at our disposal, the necessary training and national 
memorandum of understanding that ensures we can draw on resources far and wide should we need them. 

Overall we continue to seek ethical and sustainable procurement for our consumable items, our PPE and 
equipment and include the learning from many months of Covid - 19. Our agile working programme has been 
accelerated by the pandemic and evolved to reduce unnecessary journeys for meetings and other events by 
interacting virtually thereby reducing our carbon footprint.

We remain confident that, with the unstinting support of the GCC, GFRS will deliver a high class prevention, 
protection and response service to the communities of Gloucestershire for the foreseeable future living up to the 
Service’s mission statement:

Dave Norman
Lead Cabinet Member 
Gloucestershire County Council

Mark Preece
Interim Chief Fire Officer 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service

P
age 99



 About our Service Area

4

Gloucestershire is a diverse county covering 1,024 square miles and hosting a population of 
approximately 640,000. The county is divided into six districts, City of Gloucester, Cheltenham, Forest of 
Dean, Tewkesbury, Cotswold and Stroud.

Over half of Gloucestershire’ County has been designated as an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB), including parts of the Cotswold's, the Wye Valley and the Forest of Dean. The main urban 
centres are Gloucester and Cheltenham where approximately half of the county’s population live.

GFRS has 32 fire engines with a further 15 specialist vehicles that ensure we provide a high standard 
emergency response to all incidents in all 
areas. These vehicles are crewed by  on-
call and whole-time firefighters and both 
are supported by a core of flexible duty 
Officers and non operational staff at its 
Quedgeley Headquarters or, due to the 
pandemic, from other premises and home 
addresses.

As a Service, we border six other 
Fire and Rescue Services (South 
Wales, Herefordshire and
Worcestershire, Warwickshire, 
Oxford shire, Dorset & Wiltshire and 
Avon), providing mutual cross-border 
support to one another if and when 
required.

P
age 100



 Current Response Standards

5

How do we measure the time that it takes us to respond to an incident?

A response time is measured from the time the call is received by Fire Control to the time that a fire engine arrives at the incident.

The response time is made up of three elements:-

Current Response Standards

Dwelling fires - We will attend dwelling fires based on an average 
response time of 9 minutes or under.

Commercial fires - We will attend commercial fires based on an 
average response time of 10 minutes or under.

Primary fires - We will attend primary fires based on an average 
response  time of 10 minutes or under.

Proposal for the future

We always aim to get to emergencies as fast as we can, every
time. However, we have to be sophisticated in how we allocate our 
resources based on the level of risk and the severity of an incident. 
We measure our response standards to ensure that our resources 
are in the most appropriate location and that the staffing models 
enable us to achieve the best response for the communities that 
we serve. As part of Objective 4, the service will look to review its 
current response standards.

P
age 101



 What is a Community Risk Management Plan?

6

The Fire Authority has a statutory responsibility, under the Fire and 
Rescue Services Act 2004, to produce a CRMP. The plan must cover at 
least a three year period, be reviewed regularly and outline how GFRS 
will tackle and mitigate the risks our communities face. The CRMP is 
informed by our Community Risk Profile (CRP), a document which  
assesses in detail the risks in our local areas, how likely they are to 
occur, how extensive the impact might be and also takes into account 
national risks.

As an over-arching plan the CRMP covers all parts of our Service, 
referencing key documents such as our Service Strategies, Annual 
Service Plan and our Team Plans. This helps everyone in our 
organisation to understand risks and how we plan to reduce the impact 
and respond effectively.

The requirements of a CRMP are set out in the ‘Fire and Rescue National 
Framework for England 2018’. This states that each Fire Authority must 
ensure the following five priorities are met: -

1. To be accountable to the communities for the service they provide;

2. To identify and assess the full range of foreseeable fire and rescue
related risks their areas face;

3. To make appropriate provision for fire prevention and protection 
activities and response to fire and rescue related incidents;

4. To develop and maintain a workforce that is professional, resilient, 
skilled, flexible and delivers;

5. To collaborate with emergency services and other local and national 
partners to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of the service they 
provide.

You will find details of how we address all of the above points throughout 
this plan.

The National Framework also states what CRMP’s must contain and this 
includes an outline of how we allocate our resources to mitigate risks, and 
how we manage and enforce the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 
(RRO) 2005 in relation to business fire safety.

The CRMP will also show you how we have consulted with you, our 
communities, on the development of this plan as well as how we sought 
the options of our staff, representative bodies and partner organisations.

This plan covers the period April 2022 to March 2025 and is reviewed on 
an annual basis to ensure our plans are always up to date and reflect 
changes in local risks, national policies or finances.

At the end of every year we are required to publish a Statement of 
Assurance which outlines how we have performed against our plan and 
the targets set out in it. The transparency this provides makes us fully 
accountable to the communities of Gloucestershire for the service we 
provide to them.

P
age 102

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705060/National_Framework_-_final_for_web.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705060/National_Framework_-_final_for_web.pdf


 How do we Identify Risk?

7

Community Risk Profiles

GFRS has conducted a thorough risk 
analysis of previous incidents, fire safety 
audits and safe and well visits and future 
risks that could lead to emergency incidents 
in the future. Our risk information comes 
from a number of sources and helps us to 
develop our Community Risk Profiles (Link 
to CRPs).

The CRP’s inform our decision making 
regarding the most suitable prevention, 
protection and emergency response 
arrangements to manage risk to an 
acceptable level.

The risks we consider include: -

 Fatalities, reflecting the number of 
people killed at an incident.

 Casualties, covering those requiring 
medical intervention resulting from an 
incident and mental health casualties.

 Evacuation and shelter from hazardous 
events

 Behaviour, public perception and  
anxiety.

 Economy, to include property damage,
heritage loss and business disruption.

 Disruption to essential services 
including transport, utilities, finance, 
communications and other Emergency 
Services.

 Environmental risks including all types 
of pollution to the environment.

P
age 103



 Our Community

8

Although Gloucestershire has an affluent and successful economy, which is generally true, it is not evenly shared. There is evidence to show a link 
between social deprivation and the occurrence of fire, and as such our prevention and protection work, as well as our emergency response has to be 
tailored to the differing needs of each community that we serve.

To ensure that we meet the needs of Gloucestershire and our local communities, it is essential that we make sure that we have the right people, with the 
right equipment, in the right place and at the right time. To enable this, we need to understand the diverse risks and impacts within our area.

P
age 104



 Mission, Values and Code of Ethics

9

Code of Ethics:

The National Fire Chiefs Council, with the Local Government Association, have produced a Code of 
Ethics for Fire and Rescue Services, to be adopted by every service in England. The Code of Ethics 
reflects best practice principles and has been designed to underpin the way we serve our communities, 
carry out our role and work together.

Mission Statement:

 

Values:

Our commitment to you is that we will always aim to be the best 
FRS we can be. In order to achieve this, there are certain 
behaviours that we expect from our staff. How well our staff are 
demonstrating these as part of their day to day job is assessed 
within our bespoke appraisal system. We aim to live these values 
every day: -

P
age 105



 Strategic Objectives

10

Our strategic objectives have been drawn from several sources over 
recent years. Our Cultural Review was conducted evidencing need 
for cultural change within our Service.. Whilst much work has been 
done we know we have much more to do.

GCC internal audit were welcomed into the Service to inspect our 
policies, procedures and processes. 18 reports with 118 
recommendations were addressed through the establishment of an 
Improvement Board over the successive 2 years and we need to 
continue to reflect on and review our practices.

Our first formal inspection by Her Majesty's Inspectorate for 
Constabulary's Fire and Rescue Service (HMICFRS) highlighted the 
need for improvements across our Service.

All of the above has assisted to make the Service more self-aware. In 
response we have established our Portfolio Management Office 
(PMO). This is designed to manage all projects and tasks, including 
those identified by our Cultural Review and our HMICFRS findings. 
Building on the success of our Improvement Board,   we have 
established a Portfolio Management Board who scrutinise progress 
across all areas and provide, advice, support and resources where 
required to ensure we are progressing on our continuous 
improvement journey. In addition, we have learnt many new ways of 
working during Covid - 19 that are an improvement on our usual 
practices and these will become embedded into future ways of 
workings.

All of the above, coupled with our community risk profiling and our 
professional judgement, have built the foundations for the next 3 
years: -

Objective 1 - Prevention
Deliver intelligence informed person-centred and impactful prevention 
activities that effectively and efficiently improve the safety, health and 
wellbeing of the diverse people who live, work in or visit 
Gloucestershire.

Objective 2 - Protection
Deliver intelligence informed and impactful protection activities, to include 
inspections, audits, education and enforcement, which continue to reduce 
the likelihood and impact of fire in commercial buildings across 
Gloucestershire and reduce the risk to both the public and firefighters.

Objective 3 - Response Standards
Implement National Operational Guidance and approved National Fire 
Standards to assure and support operational competence, learning and 
preparedness.

Objective 4 - Response Arrangements
Review our existing arrangements to ensure that we have the required 
number of resources, with the right people and equipment, at the right time, 
in the right location.

Objective 5 - People and Social Responsibility
Further improve our inclusive culture to ensure that we attract, retain, 
support and develop a diverse workforce, which is truly representative of 
our communities.

Objective 6 - Collaboration
Collaboration is important in every organisation. We will collaborate by 
communicating with partners and building on ideas to innovate or do 
something differently in the public’s interest.

Objective 7 - Digital, Data and Technology
Increase the use of data and business intelligence tools to ensure that we 
understand our risks and maximise the use of technology to respond 
appropriately to those risks.

Objective 8 - Asset Management
Continue to provide the best facilities, vehicles, equipment and personal 
protective equipment (PPE) we can afford, enabling us to deliver a 
professional service to our communities.

Whilst we know ‘what’ we need to do, we detail the ‘why’ and the ‘how’ over 
the successive pages. Finally, we describe the timelines to ensure we 
provide assurance that our CRMP is providing the desired outcomes.

P
age 106



 Objective 1 - Prevention

11

Deliver intelligence informed person-centred and impactful prevention 
activities that effectively and efficiently improve the safety, health and 
wellbeing of the diverse people who live, work in or visit 
Gloucestershire.

Effective person-centred prevention activities will ensure we maximise our ability to reduce the potential for harm arising from fire and 
other emergencies such as flooding, road traffic collisions, arson and medical crises. To support and enable this we need to further 
develop our understanding of the different ways in which people encounter risk by collecting and analysing data more effectively to 
ensure we maximise our prevention activities.

 Work collaboratively with partners to capture, share and analyse incident data to provide an intelligence led, risk based 
approach to target the vulnerable and most at risk from fire and other emergencies;
 Work collaboratively to maximise capacity and reach, through the use of specialists, firefighters and partners to make every
contact count;
 Collaborate with other Fire & Rescue Services, the voluntary sector, local stakeholders and, where possible, use academic 
research to ensure we develop and deliver effective prevention activities.
 Clearly evidence through evaluation, the impact our ongoing activities have on the safety, health and wellbeing of the diverse 
people who live, work in or visit Gloucestershire.
 Actively support the Gloucestershire Road Safety Forum;
 Continue to develop the outstanding work that takes place in SkillZONE and in the community to engage with children and their
families as early as possible to improve their awareness of the risks from fire and other emergencies;
 Continue to actively support, and lead where possible, the work of the adult and child safeguarding partnerships to create a 
fairer and more inclusive society in which people can live healthier and less-isolated lives.

P
age 107



 Objective 2 - Protection

12

Deliver intelligence informed and impactful protection activities, to 
include inspections, audits, education and enforcement, which 
continue to reduce the likelihood and impact of fire in commercial 
buildings across Gloucestershire and reduce the risk to both the 
public and firefighters.

Targeting our resources through an effective intelligence led, Risk Based Inspection Programme will make the built environment 
across Gloucestershire safer through improving fire safety legislation compliance, in accordance with the Regulatory Reform (Fire 
Safety) Order 2005, across the business sector in Gloucestershire. This will improve the safety, health and wellbeing of our 
communities; reduce the economic and psychological loss to business owners and reduce a preventable response undertaken by 
firefighters.

 Work collaboratively with partners to capture, share and analyse incident data to provide a strategic information advantage that 
informs our Risk Based Inspection Programme
 Work with other regulators and stakeholders to actively engage and educate local businesses, supported by fair and
proportionate enforcement to reduce risk;
 Maximise capacity and enhance firefighter safety by training operational crews to support fire safety and develop a robust 
Business Safe and Well inspection programme.
 Continue to embed the recommendations from the ongoing Grenfell enquiry in partnership with our Learning and 
Development  and control departments to ensure compliance across Gloucestershire.
 Ensure we maintain a highly skilled and sustainable specialist fire safety team that hold the recognised qualifications for 
regulators as set out in the in the Competence framework for Fire Regulators (2020);
 Ensure continuous improvement through effective evaluation of protection activities utilising audit findings, to inform the annual
Risk Based Inspection Programme.
 Work with the NFCC to actively support and respond to learning from the Grenfell Public Inquiry and the Independent Review of 
Building Regulations.

P
age 108



 Objective 3 - Response Standards

13

Implement National Operational Guidance and approved
       National Fire Standards to assure and support operational 

competence, learning and preparedness.

Fire and Rescue incidents are wide ranging and varied. Historically we have created standard operating procedures to deal with 
them, created from written risk assessments, that inform our training and provide ongoing guidance for our incident commanders. 
Unfortunately, every Fire and Rescue Service in the UK has done the same and there can be some slight differences in approach 
and terminology. As a consequence National Operational Guidance has been written that provides Fire and Rescue Services 
with a clear framework for attending and training for all operational activities. This ensures a more joined up approach when 
working at over boarder incidents or at national large scale multi-agency incidents such as flooding events, acts of terrorism and 
incidents that threaten our environment. In addition a raft of National Fire Standards are being written to ensure there is a 
nationally recognised training standard in support of this National Operational Guidance. Finally, where we attend incidents we 
will debrief them and share our learning nationally. Aligning our guidance and training will not only help us to prepare and plan for 
emergencies, but to contribute to improving firefighter safety and the safety of the much wider community.

 Renew and update our operational procedures and guidance to align with National Operational Guidance.
 Refresh and renew the skills of our operational and Fire Control staff through practical and theoretical learning.
 Plan for major incidents through exercising and testing.
 Work with partners to enhance our response to large scale and multi-agency incidents
 Share learning with our neighbouring Fire and Rescue Services and across the wider sector to ensure that National

Operational Guidance remains current.
 We will regularly review and update our training to ensure we are adhering to best practice.

P
age 109



 Objective 4 – Response Arrangements                          

14

Review our existing arrangements to ensure that we have the 
required number of resources, with the right people and 
equipment, at the right time, in the right location.

There is no ‘one size fits all’ approach to managing a Fire and Rescue Services resources, capacity and capability. In 
addition, Gloucestershire and its communities have different needs and risks to other areas within the country. The priority for 
the Service will always be to safeguard our communities, by preventing harm from occurring in the first place, through our 
Prevention and Protection activities. However, we recognise that emergency incidents will still occur. It is for that reason we 
need to review our fire cover arrangements in response to a changing workforce; risks to the public, firefighters and the 
environment; changing technology; demographics, the lasting effects of Covid - 19 and most of all, to meet the expectations 
of the communities we serve.

In an ever changing environment, we must remain flexible in the delivery of our service. Informed by evidence based risk 
profile, further extensive predictive analysis and insights will help to ensure that we have the right skills, equipment, capacity 
and capability at the right time, in the right location. By capacity we mean the ability of staff present at any one time to provide 
an effective and efficient Prevention, Protection and Response service and by capability we mean the skills, experience, 
knowledge and training of those staff present to provide community focused outcomes.

 Perform scenario modelling of our existing fire cover, specialist appliances and emergency medical response 
arrangements.
 Modernise the staffing model for on-call firefighters and attract a more diverse range of applicants by performing an
extensive review of the current system
 Undertake a systematic review of our mobilisation and attendance times, exploring innovative solutions to improve on 
them.
 Explore the use and location of technology to support the command of operational incidents.
 Review our existing response standards.

P
age 110



15

 Objective 5 – People and Social Responsibility                          

Further improve our inclusive culture to ensure that we 
attract, retain, support and develop a diverse workforce, 
which is truly representative of our communities.
Our team is stronger, safer and more effective when each and everyone of us is given the opportunity to contribute our 
best; irrespective of race, sex, gender reassignment, age, sexual orientation , religion and/or belief, marriage & civil 
partnerships, pregnancy & maternity or disability.

We recognise that diversity is what makes our organisation successful and drives a healthy culture, so we are committed 
to attracting new staff by being an employer of choice. We know that by promoting the right values, we will positively 
impact the working life of every member of staff and those living within the communities we serve.

We have both a moral and legal duty to move forward as a modern Fire and Rescue Service by driving equality, diversity 
and inclusivity. We know the views and feelings of our staff regarding inclusion and we are committed to improving our 
culture. We want staff to feel confident that any issues they may have will be listened to and addressed in a positive way.

We are focused and determined to provide equality of opportunity for all staff and demonstrate due regard for the value of 
difference, operating in an environment that encourages innovation and does not tolerate inappropriate behaviour.

 Delivering the objectives contained on the cultural section of our Service Improvement plan.
 Increasing our resources and capacity in the right areas to deliver equality, diversity and inclusion work across the 

organisation.
 Developing and maintaining our training for every member of staff regarding cultural intelligence.
 Working in collaboration with other agencies and partners to access the best support and scrutiny over our future 

plans.
 Continuing to ensure that our values and code of ethics drive everything we do.
 Continuing to enhance and develop our innovative recruitment and progression practices to drive inclusivity.
 Reviewing and improving our work on positive action.
 Developing our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) Network to strengthen their influence on the Service.
 Increasing engagement through visible leadership and the use of our EDI Network to ensure staff have a voice in 

shaping the future of our Service.

P
age 111



16

 Objective 6 – Collaboration                                
Collaboration is important in every organisation. We will 
collaborate by communicating with partners and building on 
ideas to innovate or do something differently in the  public’s 
interest.

GFRS has collaboration arrangements for its prevention, protection and response activities. For example, we share our 
buildings with Gloucestershire Constabulary, the South West Ambulance Service and the Severn Area Rescue Association. 
Our protection teams inspect premises with the Building Control and Housing Teams where applicable and we refer some of 
our Safe and Well clients to Social Services and other partners who can address and support with other issues. Where the law 
permits, collaborative work can include the sharing of information in support of Children and Adult Services in the best interest 
of those affected. When collaboration works well it enables us to achieve more as a collective team and the benefits are 
tangible, but over time we may have arrangements that need reviewing to ensure they best serve the public interest. The 
Policing and Crime Act 2017 requires the Police, Fire and Rescue and Ambulance Services to keep collaboration opportunities    
under review and, where it is in the mutual interest of efficiency or effectiveness, to put new arrangements into practice.

 A comprehensive collaboration plan with the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC)

 Collaboration with other blue light services, including a rationalisation and sharing of estates as well as looking for joined up 
working practices.

 Continuing to evaluate and improve our campaigns by learning from others.
 Exploring opportunities for collaborative working and partnership development to maximise safety messages and 

campaigns building on what we have learnt throughout the pandemic.
 Building a Collaboration Framework so that we can demonstrate where we are providing added value and to assist us with

ongoing reviews.
 Review our collaboration and partnership agreements to ensure they continue to deliver the best value for our 

communities.

P
age 112



17

 Objective 7 – Digital, Data and Technology                          
Increase the use of data and business intelligence tools to 
ensure that we understand our risks and maximise the use of 
technology to respond appropriately to those risks.

In a digital world it is import that the Service keeps up to date with the relevant advances in data analytics and technology. The 
service has a long history of investing in its technology, this includes a state of the art Control Room, Mobile Data Terminals on 
fire engines, IPads for safe and well visits and the ability to work with agility using laptops and mobile phones.

The Service is currently Cyber Essentials Plus accredited and has been since June 2017. With the implementation of a more 
agile workforce, driven by the Covid - 19 pandemic, and the arrival of the Emergency Services Network (ESN) for improved 
joint operation working, it is important that the Service continues to invest in technology.

 Introduce a new Management Information System that links the areas of Protection, Firefighter Safety and Prevention 
activity and keeps all our risk information together.

 Develop and embed systems to effectively evaluate our activity to keep our communities safe.
 With the support from the National Fire Chiefs Council, we aim to extend the range of data we use, specifically from the 

Health Service and continue to improve and develop our approach to analysing and understanding community risk thereby 
delivering more effective outcomes for vulnerable people across our communities.

 Implement new emergency mobilising technology into our operational service as well as review current systems to deliver 
improved response times.

 Engage with the Home Office led Emergency Services Mobile Communication Programme (ESMCP) in order to implement 
the Emergency Services Network (ESN) within Gloucestershire.

 Evaluate our IT systems to ensure we are making best use of technology as a key enabler for our service.
 Keep our systems updated to the relevant security requirements to keep our data and systems secure.
 Remain accredited to the relevant codes of connection and security e.g. cyber essentials plus.
 Collect and analyse new data to deepen our understanding of where risk lies in Gloucestershire.
 Design and embed a new risk matrix that prioritises our work so that we are able to deliver tailor-made safe and well visits 

to support individual and household needs.

P
age 113



18

 Objective 8 – Asset Management                          
Continue to provide the best facilities, vehicles, equipment and 
personal protective equipment (PPE) we can afford, enabling us 
to deliver a professional service to our communities.

We are aware of the changing risks within our communities and recognise there is a need to procure a range of professional 
services to  maintain a wide range of assets for our staff to deliver a professional service to our communities. When considering 
the renewal or enhancement of our assets, we need to consider the extent to which expenditure increases our effectiveness 
and efficiency to prevent, protect and respond to the significant range of emergency incidents we are called to attend. Overall, 
we continue to seek ethical and sustainable procurement for our consumable items, our PPE and equipment and include the 
learning from many months of Covid - 19.

 Undertake a review of our current fleet that includes vehicles and specialist assets e.g. boats to ensure we have the right 
resources to meet the current and future needs of the Service;

 Undertake a review of equipment and PPE provided to our specialist rescue teams, for example water rescue and working at
height, to ensure they can respond safely, effectively and efficiently.

 Secure sustainable capital and revenue budgets aligned to our strategic objectives;
 Adopt the whole life cycle approach to asset management, engaging with end users and actively pursuing collaboration 
opportunities with partners;
 Implement effective and sustainable asset management plans and systems providing assurance that our fleet, equipment, 
facilities and training resources support current and future needs;
 Ensure we have compliant and collaborative procurement processes so we purchase the right products and services at the
best price.

P
age 114



 Timelines

19

Year 1 2022-23

Cultural Change Plan Implementation

Implement National Operational 

Guidance Emergency Service Network 

Programme PPE Review

Light Fleet Review 

Collaboration Framework 

Security Governance 

Review

Building Fire Safety Risk Review

Firefighter Apprenticeships

Operational Assurance 

Improvements Agile Working 

Consolidation

Aerial Appliance Review

 

Year 2 2023-24

Culture Change Plan Implementation

Implement National Operational 

Guidance Emergency Service 

Network Programme Specialist PPE 

Review

Light Fleet 

Review 

Collaboration 

Review

Fire Ground Radio 

Upgrade Front Line 

Appliance Review 

Power BI Data 

Improvements

 

Year 3 2024-25

Culture Change Plan Implementation

Implement National Operational 

Guidance Emergency Service 

Network Transition Provision of 

Specialist PPE

Incident Command Unit Review 

Severn Park Training Centre 

Review

“Working together we will provide the highest standard of community safety and emergency response services to the communities of 
Gloucestershire”

P
age 115



 Consultation

20

How we intend to consult?
This years consultation runs from (date) to (date). We will be carrying out a brief survey, in a Covid - 19 safe manner, to capture your views which are 
available to complete: -

 On our website www.glosfire.gov.uk;

 On our twitter feed www.twitter.com/glosfire;

 On our Facebook page

 During our Safe and Well Visits;

 At online events and meetings.

If you have any comments or would like to contact us about any issue, please visit our website at www.glosfire.gov.uk where you will find full contact 
details along with links to further information about our services and activities.

If you have any general enquiries, please call 01452 888777 or email us at tbc.

This year we will be consulting over a period of 8 weeks, with the next set of results available in (date). To read all our plans and to complete our survey 
please visit (website address).

We are constantly striving to make our prevention, protection and response services to you better and we are accountable to you in everything we do. We 
want to hear from you about how we can improve and shape our activities over the next 3 years. As we develop our plans, we will consult with you on any 
specific proposals so that we can fully understand the impact they may have.

Do you agree with the consultation approach?
During our annual consultation we aim to consult with a representative sample of the community we serve This means consulting with as many of the 
population across Gloucestershire as possible. Our aim is to receive as many responses as we can to ensure the sample size is robust, which means we 
can be confident in the findings of the consultation.

The Covid-19 pandemic is likely to continue to impact on our consultation which means that we can’t come out into the community as we normally would. 
So we’ll be asking for your opinions online this year and if you have any difficulty with internet access you can speak to us or we can provide paper copies 
of our survey for you on request.

P
age 116

http://www.glosfire.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/glosfire?form=MY01SV&OCID=MY01SV&form=MY01SV&OCID=MY01SV
http://www.glosfire.gov.uk/


REPORT TITLE: Financial Monitoring Report 2021/22

Cabinet Date 22nd September 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change 

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To provide an update on the year-end forecast for the 2021/22 County 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets

Recommendations

That the Cabinet:

1. Notes the forecast revenue year end position based on July 2021 (Period 
4) forecasts for the 2021/22 financial year is an overspend of £6.743 
million all of which relates to non Covid-19 expenditure, as we are 
forecasting a balanced position in relation to Covid-19 expenditure and 
income.  

2. Notes delivery of the £5.453 million of savings against a target of £6.761 
million in 2020/21 or 80.65%, a breakdown is shown at Paragraph 41. 

3. Notes the forecast capital year end position as at the end of June 2021 of 
£160.163 million against the current budget of £156.719 million.

4. Approves the £1.713 million increase to the capital programme as 
outlined in section C of the report. 

Reasons for 
recommendations

Resource 
Implications

These are detailed within the report

Background 
Documents

MTFS Report to 12th February 2021 County Council and Financial Monitoring 
Report to Cabinet 21st July 2021,

Statutory Authority

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

County Wide

Officer Paul Blacker, Director of Finance (01452) 328999 
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Jayne Fuller, Corporate Finance Manager (01452) 328926

jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Timeline Not applicable

Page 117

Agenda Item 13

mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Revenue Expenditure 2021/22

A. Revenue Forecast Outturn Position 2021/22

1. The current forecast of the year end revenue position against the revenue budget of 
£483.008 million, based on forecasts in July 2021 (Period 4) is an overspend of 
£6.743 million all of which relates to non Covid-19 expenditure. 

2. The largest non-Covid-19 budget variance is the £8.829 million forecast overspend 
in Children and Families – this overspend is partially offset by the £2.144 million 
underspend in Technical & Countywide. 

3. The Council’s forecast cost of responding to the Covid-19 pandemic (excluding 
expenditure funded from specific grants) is estimated to be £22.472 million in 
2021/22 which is funded by £11.526 million 21/22 Covid-19 Emergency Grant and 
carry forward from 2020/21 of £10.946 million emergency grant. A balanced position 
is therefore forecast for Covid-19 related activity.   

4. In addition to the £22.472 million of general Covid-19 grant funding detailed above, 
the Council has also received other ring fenced Covid-19 related grant funding. The 
specific grant allocations for 2021/22 total £14.319 million with and additional 
£17.197 million carried forward from 2020/21. Details are in the table below;-:

Page 118



Other ringfenced  Covid -19 related grant
Total      
£m

Received  
21/22     
£m

Carry 
forward 

20/21     
£m

Infection Control Grant  4.334 4.334

Department for health and Social Care-Rapid Testing 3.031 3.031

Test & Trace 1.426 1.426

Covid-19 Bus Service Support Grant 0.180 0.180

H2ST DFE grant 0.425 0.086 0.339

DHSC -Contain Outbreak Management fund 16.312 2.974 13.337
Department for Work & Pensions -  Covid Winter Grant 
Scheme 0.524 0.524
Department for Work & Pensions -  Covid Local Support 
Grant 1.419 1.419
MHCLG Clinically Extremely Vulnerable (CEV) people
Tranches 1-4 .  1.435 0.205 1.230

Community Testing 0.409 0.409

Holiday & Activities Fund 20/21 1.547 1.391 0.156

DWP Local Support grant 0.355 0.355

Practical support payment 1 0.121 0.121

Other ringfenced  Covid -19 related grant 31.516 14.319 17.197

5. The following additional grant allocations have been confirmed since the Cabinet 
Report to the 21st July meeting was finalised:

 Additional allocations from Infection Control Grant confirmed at £1.779 million.
 Department for Health & Social Care Rapid Testing £1.37 million
 Department for Works & Pensions Covid Local Support Grant £1.419 million
 Department for Works & Pensions Covid Local Support Grant £355k
 Department for Education Home to School Transport grant £86k
 Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government, Extremely Vulnerable 

grant £205k

Page 119



6. The assumption in this report is that relevant expenditure will be limited to the value 
of these ring fenced grants – any underspend will either need to be returned or 
carried forward to be spent in accordance with the grant conditions in future years.

7. An analysis of the current forecast position is provided in the table and narrative 
below. 

Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position July Forecasts 2021 (P4)

Variance

Revised 
2021/22 
Budget

%
Forecast 

excluding 
Covid-19

£000 £000 £000 % £000 £000

Adults 156,336 161,478 5,142 3.29% 5,142 0 

Prevention & Wellbeing 35,566 35,687 121 0.34% 200 -79 

Children & Families 126,563 142,405 15,842 12.52% 7,013 8,829 

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 75,888 80,983 5,095 6.71% 5,095 0 

Community Safety 19,966 20,028 62 0.31% 62 0 

Corporate Resources 35,528 40,625 5,097 14.35% 4,960 137 

Total for Services 449,847 481,206 31,359 6.97% 22,472 8,887 

Technical & Countywide 33,161 31,017 -2,144 -6.47% 0 -2,144 

Total 483,008 512,223 29,215 6.05% 22,472 6,743 

Additional Funding Covid-19 
including carry forward to be 
allocated

22,472 0 -22,472 -22,472 

Revised Total 505,480 512,223 6,743 1.40% 0 6,743 

Covid-19 
Forecast

Service Area

Forecast 
Outturn 
Position

Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance

Page 120



Adult Social Care 

8. Adult Social Care is reporting an underlying overspend of £6.708 million which 
includes £5.142 million for the COVID-19 costs.  Excluding the COVID-19 costs 
ASC are reporting an overspend of £1.566 million, which can be covered by the 
Vulnerable Adults Reserve. Therefore Adult Social Care is reporting a balanced 
position, excluding Covid-19 spend. 

9. Adult Social Care reserves currently stand at £9.879 million. The reserves continue 
to be held as Vulnerable Adults Reserve at £2.665 million, with £4.054 million carry 
forwards from 2020/21 anticipated to be used in 2021/22, primarily due to delays 
caused by COVID-19. The balance is specifically set aside for the backdated 
element of new Ordinary Residence cases and known commitments relating to the 
Care Act.

10.There continues to be a number of significant risks that are ongoing which mainly 
relate to, COVID-19, S117 backdated payments, responding to winter pressures, as 
well as the Adult Single Programme (ASP). Currently the ASP savings target stands 
at £3.193 million. The current reported position includes £2.260m as forecast as 
achieved or achievable with £0.799m of this amount being temporarily achieved 
(delayed or impacted by COVID and set against the COVID Emergency Fund).  
Currently the reported unachievable savings is therefore £0.933m

11.The forecast cost of the COVID-19 response for 2021/22 within Adults is made up of:
 £4.261 million of additional support to care providers – not yet confirmed to pay
 £0.065 million additional workforce spend
 £0.103 million on PPE
 £0.002 million miscellaneous spend across a range of budgets
 £0.711 million ASP risks
     £5.142 million funded from COVID-19 general grant

 £7.365 million funded from Covid-19 Specific Grants for Infection Control Fund and 
Rapid Testing Grant, 1&2

12.Learning Disabilities External Care is projecting a £1.742 million underspend. The 
underspend relates to £512k of underlying underspends and £1.230 million of MTFS 
funding which is not expected to be used during 2021/22 because of delays relating 
to COVID-19.  This is a one-off benefit in 2021/22.

13.Older People (OP) and Physical Disabilities (PD) is reporting an £2.773 million 
overspend. The overspend is split across individual service budgets with OP 
showing as £1.408 million and PD £1.725 million.  The overspend relating to the 
unachieved cost reductions from previous years sat on OP but was showing as 
achieved under LD, this has now been amended. The current overspend relates 

Page 121



mainly to the brought forward underlying financial position, voids relating to homes 
run by a major provider, increased cover for bad debts and additional winter 
pressures.

14.The Mental Health position of a £1.787 million (was £991k) overspend as calculated 
by the Gloucestershire Health and Care NHST Finance Team, net of unallocated 
MTFS growth and savings held by the Lead Commissioner. A long term plan is 
being developed with Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Trust to address the 
underlying overspend.

15.Other Services comprise of all staffing budgets for Adult Social Care, as well as a 
number of specific commissioned contracts. The position for these services nets to 
a £1.110 million underspend (was £1.186 million). Significant variances:

a. £870k significant overspend in Reablement in respect of unfound ASP 
2021/22 savings however this is a worst case position, with additional 
planning work being undertaken in July and early August with the aim to 
reduce this.

b. £1.063 million significant underspends: £635k OP/PD Integrated Social 
Care Management (ISCM) due largely to vacancies; and £427k LD 
Assessment, Support Planning & Management mainly due to vacancies. 

Prevention and Wellbeing 

16.Services within this area include Public Health, Supporting People and a number of 
smaller budgets covering the prevention hub team and grants. In total Prevention 
Services are £121k over-spent but this includes £200k of Covid-19 expenditure. 

17. In total Covid-19 grants either carried forward or allocated in year to the Council 
total £18.630 million. The funding will be targeted at continuing the containment and 
management of the outbreak through testing and tracing, supporting vulnerable 
groups and communities. 

18.The underlying non-Covid-19 position for Prevention and Well Being is a £686k 
under-spend. Public Health services are funded by a ring-fenced grant, which if 
unspent is required to be carried forward in a specific reserve. The Public Health 
(PH) position, excluding Covid-19 expenditure, is forecast to be £607k under-spent 
and this will be transferred to the PH reserve at year end. Therefore the forecast 
non-Covid-19 underspend net of the transfer to the PH Reserve is £79k relating to 
prevention hub activities.

Page 122



19. Initial estimates of supplier relief for supporting people providers against the general 
grant are £200k; the actual position will be clarified in the Autumn 

20.The in-year forecast for Public Health is an under-spend of £607k due to lower take-
up for health checks as fewer people are currently accessing the service, and the 
cost of staff involved with the COVID response being charged to grants instead of 
the Public Health grant.

Children & Families

21.The current forecast for the year end revenue position as at July 2021 for non-DSG 
funded services is an overspend of £15.842 million (12.52% of budget). Included 
within these figures is the forecast additional cost of the impact of Covid-19 on 
budgets which totals £7.013 million giving an underlying overspend of £8.829 million 
The significant overspend continues to be against the external placements budget 
due to increasing numbers of children in care partly linked to the pandemic but also 
the number and cost of placements. Home to school transport and social care 
staffing costs are also overspending. 

22.Additional forecast expenditure for the impact of Covid-19 covers three key areas 
which are external placement costs including the additional cost of accommodation 
for care leavers, cost of social care staff and support to vulnerable pupils. A 
significant part of this forecast includes the continuing impact on social care and 
education services even though lockdown measures are easing.

23.Activity levels within social care continue to cause significant budgetary pressures 
on children’s services and in particular against the external placement resulting in 
the over-spend. At the end of June 2021 children in care numbers were 828 
compared to 754 at the end of April 2020.

24.The current forecast over-spend against the external placement budget is £11.856 
million (38.1% above budget) and includes a contingency of £3.65 million for new 
cases in-year to allow for additional placements to replace existing care 
commitments or for higher number of placements due to increased activity. The 
forecast also includes the current and future impact of Covid-19 on placement 
numbers which totals £5.272 million resulting in an underlying overspend of £6.584 
million. The underlying over-spend is due to the number of residential, fostering and 
supported living placements and also the cost of complex residential placements. 
The current forecast average unit cost of a placement is £110,100 per annum, 
(residential/supported living average unit cost of £177,700). The current unit costs 
are likely to change due to fluctuations in assumptions used at the start of the 
financial year. There are currently 482 external placements, of which 128 are 
residential and 132 supported living placements. 

Page 123



25.At this stage in the year the forecast has to be based on a lot of assumptions in 
terms of growth in activity, delays in transitions, capacity in the fostering market both 
in-house and external and the positive impact of Trevone House providing additional 
capacity for young people. Assumptions will be reviewed on a monthly basis and 
adjusted accordingly. Improving social care practice to divert children from care at 
an earlier point and achieve permanence at the earliest opportunity will reduce 
numbers of children in care costs in the longer term.

26.Against safeguarding staffing budgets there is a forecast over-spend of £1.013 
million (5.3% above budget) with an underlying position net of COVID of £718k. 
Effective management of the workforce, improved processes for recruitment, more 
effective advertising and the support and training provided by the social work 
academy should address the current cost pressure. Turnover of staff has been 
between 15.5% and 18.1% over the last six months and at the end of June there 
were 88 agency workers in post. 

27.Home to School transport is reported as £1.168 million overspent and is due to the 
number and cost of the transport for SEN pupils, increased cost of procuring new 
routes and the number of solo journeys required.

28.The increase in the number of Education, Health and Social Care plans (EHCPs) is 
causing a budgetary pressure in SEN budgets with a reported over-spend of £334k. 
Whereas in-house fostering and adoption services are under-spent by £529k due to 
activity at the start of the year being below budgeted assumptions resulting in the 
increased placements required having to be absorbed by the external market. 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position

29.Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be over-spent by 
£17.643 million in 2021/22, which includes the deficit carry forward of £13.67 million 
and the 2021/22 deficit budget for High Needs of £4.105 million including recent 
adjustments between Local Authorities. The deficit budget results from setting 
realistic budgets within high needs services considering growth trends and existing 
activity demands on special school and independent provision and top up budgets. 

30.The budget pressures that Gloucestershire is facing reflect the national picture with 
significant deficits in DSG high needs being held in many Local Authorities. The 
implementation of the High Needs Strategy will be essential to ensure the budget is 
balanced in future years and a spending review of services is in progress with a 
financial recovery plan being reviewed and developed alongside this review. 

Page 124



Economy, Environment & Infrastructure

31.Economy, Environment and Infrastructure are currently forecasting an overspend 
position of £5.095 million (6.71% of the budget).  This is all down to the impact of 
Covid-19 related costs or loss of income as set out in the paragraphs below.

32.Loss of income is forecasted to be £2.535 million which is split between £0.426 
million from Registrations and Libraries, £2.064 million from parking related income 
and £0.045 million from other income.

33.Covid-19 costs are forecasted to be £2.560 million made up of £1.703 million for the 
Economic Recovery Strategy, £0.083 million for PPE and social distancing related 
spend and £0.337 million of other spend across the directorate on a range of issues. 
Included within the £2.560 million of Covid 19 costs are unachievable savings 
relating to £0.193 million for registration & library income and £0.244 million against 
parking fee income which are both highly unlikely to be achieved.

34.There is a non Covid-19 overspend forecast against Highways due to the high level 
of road defects arising from the prolonged period of bad weather which has required 
additional gangs and material spend in quarter one of £0.430 million. If we continue 
with the additional gangs and materials throughout the year then we will be 
forecasting an overspend of circa £1.72 million.  EE&I are looking to absorb £0.420 
million with vacancies throughout the year and a Lead Cabinet Member key decision 
has been taken to fund up to £1.3 million from un-ring fenced reserves such as the 
Insurance Reserve therefore we are currently forecasting a balanced position for 
EE&I excluding the Covid-19 related pressures outlined above.

Community Safety Directorate

35.The Community Safety Directorate is forecasting an overspend of £62k (0.31% of 
budget) which are estimated costs attributed to Covid-19.  Excluding Covid-19 
costs, the forecast outturn indicates an on-target spend. The figures include £587k 
of carried forward funds, approved by June Cabinet, to implement the Fire and 
Rescue Service Improvement Plan.

Corporate Resources

36.Corporate Resources are forecasting an overspend of £5.097 million (14.35% of the 
budget). Included within these figures is the forecast additional cost of the impact of 
Covid-19 on budgets which totals £4.960 million giving an underlying overspend of 
£137k. 

Page 125



37.The additional forecast expenditure of 4.960 million for the impact of Covid-19 
incudes £100k in the Asset Management & Property Services budgets, £75k against 
Occupational Health, £74k Information Management Service, and £33K in Policy & 
Performance and £490k Legal costs, together with a contingency allocation of 
£4.188 million which is available to support further Council wide spend pressures 
should they arise during 2021/22.

Technical and Countywide

38.The forecast Non-Covid-19 outturn position for Technical and Countywide budgets 
is a £2.144 million underspend. The main areas of variance are highlighted in the 
paragraphs below.

39.Positive interest rate credits on cash balances are forecast to produce a £915k 
under spend during the year. This is lower than previous years as a result of lower 
interest rates introduced to mitigate the economic impact of Covid-19. 

40.The 2021/22 budget includes a savings contingency. This was approved by Council 
to reflect the high risk nature of some of the savings programmes in demand led 
areas in 2021/22. £1.229 million is being used to support the overall budget position 
for 2021/22. 

B. Delivery of Savings Programme

41.At the end of Quarter 1, £5.453 million savings are forecast to be been delivered 
against a target of £6.761 million. This represents 80.65% of the annual target 
achieved 

42.A total of £1.308 million is forecast to be at risk of being delivered by the end of 
2021/22, which would represent 19.35% of the annual target. The most significant 
elements at risk being £870k reablement savings and £375k income target across 
Economy, Environment & Infrastructure

C. Capital Expenditure

Current Spend 2021/22

43.The re-profiled capital budget for 2021/22 is £156.719 million. Actual spend against 
the capital programme as at the end of June 2021 (period 3) is £15.474 million.

Page 126



Budget and Forecast Outturn Position 2021/22

44.The forecast outturn position for 2021/22 is £160.163 million, against the budget of 
£156.719 million, giving a forecast in-year overspend / advanced delivery of £3.444 
million.

Service Area

Reprofiled
Budget
2021/22

Current
Year

Spend
2021/22

% Current
Year

Spend
Against

Reprofiled
Budget

Forecast
Outturn
2021/22

Forecast
Year-end
Variance

£'000 £'000 % £'000 £'000
Capital Receipts Works Before Sale 0 0 0 0
Adults 6,726 917 14 8,921 2,195
Childrens Services

Schools 41,591 5,806 14 42,738 1,147
Non-Schools 543 17 3 604 61

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure
Highways 65,619 4,967 8 65,619 0
Strategic Infrastructure 5,321 57 1 5,321 0
Waste Disposal 712 10 1 712 0
Libraries 1,289 28 2 1,336 47

Community Safety
Fire and Rescue Service 648 322 50 642 -6
Trading Standards 39 0 0 39 0

Corporate Services
AMPS 12,022 3,142 26 12,022 0
ICT Projects 8,457 48 1 8,457 0
Business Service Centre 227 82 36 227 0
Archives & Information Management 53 0 0 53 0
Customer 972 78 8 972 0
Investing In Self Funded Income Schemes 12,500 0 0 12,500 0

Total 156,719 15,474 10 160,163 3,444

Adults Capital Programme 2021/22

45.The Adults Capital Programme is forecasting an in-year overspend of £2.195 million. The 
2021/22 forecast spend has increased following the agreement of the Disabled Facilities 
Grant spending plan to support people throughout the county to live independently through 
improvements to the home, including support for children with complex needs. This is an 
in-year overspend only but has no effect on the overall capital budget.

Children’s Services Capital Programme 2021/22

Schools

46.The Schools Capital Programme is forecasting an in-year overspend of £1.147 million. 
This is mainly due to a revised forecast spend profile for the New Cheltenham Secondary 
School in order to complete the project on time following delays caused by the judicial 
review. This is an in-year overspend only and has no effect on the overall capital budget.

Page 127



Economy, Environment and Infrastructure Capital Programme 2021/22

Highways

47.The Highway Capital Programme is currently forecasting in line with the £65.619 million 
reprofiled budget, however Covid and the associated self-isolating of staff is starting to 
impact on delivery of the programme. At this point it isn’t possible to forecast the 
consequences of this going forward.

Other Services Capital Programmes

48.All other services are forecast to spend within £250k of the current budgets.

Changes to the Capital Programme in 2021/22 and future years

Adults 

49.  It is proposed that Cabinet support a £676k increase in the GIS capital budget to 
fund the purchase of 22 vehicles over the next 3 years as the current vehicles reach 
the end of their useful life. These vehicles were previously leased so the estimated 
capital financing costs of £104k per annum can be funded from the existing base 
budget.

Highways 

50. It is proposed that Cabinet support a net increase of £361k in the Highways capital 
budget as summarised below:

 £57k transfer from income Reserves towards the capital maintenance of 
Travellers sites.

 £10k contribution from Hucclecote parish council towards a
Community Offer project.

 £10k contribution from Leckhampton parish council towards a
Community Offer project.

 £10k developer contribution towards the B4063 Gloucester to Chelt Cycle 
Route project.

 £124k developer contribution towards Lydney Highway Strategy project.
 £108k developer contribution towards Twigworth/Longford Footway 

Improvements project.
 £32k developer contribution towards Ermin Street Traffic Management 

project.

Page 128



 £-5k developer contribution currently allocated to Whaddon Rd Traffic 
Calming project. This funding is not currently refundable and therefore will 
remain available to reallocate at a later date.

 £15k developer contribution towards the WCTIS project.

51. It is proposed that Cabinet support a transfer of £435k developer contribution within 
the Highways capital budget from Cheltenham to Bishops Cleeve Cycle Track 
project to the A435 Bishops Cl' to Racecourse Capacity project.

Waste Disposal

52. It is proposed that Cabinet support an increase of £90k in the Waste capital budget 
using approved funding from the Energy from Waste reserve.

Libraries

53. It is proposed that Cabinet support an increase of £50k in the Libraries capital 
budget relating to a developer contribution to the Chipping Campden Library project.

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service

54. It is recommended that Cabinet support a decrease of £6k in the GF&RS capital 
budget for the TRANMAN Database project. This project has an approved budget of 
£81k funded from reserves. The project is now complete and this £6k underspend 
can now be made available to fund other service priorities.

ICT Projects

55.  It is recommended that Cabinet supports a £483k increase to the ICT capital 
budget funded from the Covid grant towards 2020/21 cost of WAN/LAN and 
Desktop replacements.

Business Service Centre

56. It is proposed that Cabinet support an increase of £59k in the BSC capital budget 
funding from the Covid grant towards 2020/21 cost of relating to Business Analytics.

Overall

57.As a result of the above changes, the overall capital programme will increase by 
£1.713 million. 

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: SCHEDULE OF PROPOSED DISPOSALS

Cabinet Date 22nd September 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr Lynden Stowe, Finance and Change

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To approve the proposed Schedule of Disposals in order to meet capital 
receipts targets.

Recommendations

In relation to both Appendices listed below, that Cabinet: 

1. confirms that those sites described at Appendix A (Exempt) which have 
previously been declared surplus by Cabinet in March 2021 and not yet 
disposed of, continue to be declared surplus to requirements.

2. declares the sites listed on the proposed Schedule of Disposals Appendix 
B (Exempt) surplus to the Council’s land and property requirements.

3. delegates authority to the Assistant Director – Asset Management and 
Property Services to dispose of these sites in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Change and Council’s Chief Financial 
Officer.

Reasons for 
recommendations

Through the approval of the Schedule of Disposals, and the declaration of 
these sites as surplus to requirements, Officers will be well placed to 
achieve best value for the Council in the disposal of these sites, thus 
contributing towards capital receipt targets 

Resource 
Implications

The disposal of these sites in accordance with the Policy for the Disposal of 
Property will generate capital receipts for the Council that will be used for 
overall financing of the capital programme.

Capital receipts will continue to be closely monitored by Asset Management 
and Property Services (AMPS) and Finance to ensure we have sufficient 
resources to deliver the councils capital programme.

Background 
Documents

Cabinet decision on Schedule of Proposed Disposals March 2021

Statutory Authority Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972

Page 131

Agenda Item 14

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=32614


Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Neil Corbett, Assistant Director – Asset Management and Property 
Services
Tel. no: 01452 328813
Email: neil.corbett@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Timeline On-going

Page 132

mailto:neil.corbett@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background 

1. As part of the council’s savings programme, the council is undertaking a challenging 
disposals programme by seeking to achieve £47m in capital receipts over a four year 
period, April 2021 to March 2025.  For 2020/21, AMPS achieved £7.290m in capital 
receipts.  

2. The programme has been developed across the organisation, led by AMPS in 
consultation with the Property Board who challenges the use of property across the 
council, in order to ensure the council’s property portfolio is being effectively used to meet 
the future needs of the business.  Property and land are recommended to Cabinet to be 
declared surplus prior to disposal to contribute towards the savings programme.  

3. A schedule of sites was declared surplus by Cabinet in March 2021 and it was agreed that 
an update on these sales and any further sites which Property Board recommend should 
be declared surplus would be submitted to Cabinet late 2021.  In line with the Policy for 
the Disposal of Property the approval given by Cabinet is valid for 6 months or until next 
update report is submitted, therefore a new decision confirming approval to dispose must 
be given in order to progress activity in achieving these capital receipts.

Schedule of Disposals 

4. The attached Schedule of Disposals at Appendix A (Exempt) was approved by Cabinet in 
March 2021.  In accordance with the Policy for the Disposal of Property, AMPS are now 
seeking confirmation of the decision to dispose of previously approved sites that have not 
yet been sold.  The schedule has been updated to show completed sales and sales 
agreed and any changes to previously agreed disposal strategies.  

5. The attached Schedule of Disposals at Appendix B (Exempt) outlines new proposed 
disposals for 2021 onwards.  The sites listed have been recommended as surplus by 
service areas and AMPS to Property Board, and Officers from the Development and 
Disposals team within AMPS have recommended the most appropriate disposal strategy 
to deliver best value for the Council.  Property Board has approved the recommended 
disposal strategies.

6. One Gloucestershire Estate partners have been consulted about potential asset sales as 
part of the One Public Estate Programme.

7. Capital receipts received and sales agreed to date for 2021/22 currently totals £7.807m 
with further sales being negotiated.  Approval of the appended Schedules of Disposals will 
enable new sites to be programmed for disposal to help achieve capital receipt targets.

8. Officers will provide an updated schedule to Cabinet in early 2022, delivering an update 
on sales to date and any further sites which Property Board recommend should be 
declared surplus by Cabinet. 

Completed Sales

9. Since the last report to Cabinet in March 2021, the following land and properties have 
been sold by Gloucestershire County Council:

Page 133



ADDRESS VALUE
Former Monkscroft School site, Cheltenham £2,500,000
Former St White’s School site, Cinderford £156,691
Land at Wotton Under Edge Fire Station £125,028
Land fronting The Ridge and Furrow Public House, Gloucester £4,000
Chester Walk Car Park, Cheltenham £0

10. Chester Walk Car Park, Cheltenham was part of a land swap in which Gloucestershire 
County Council acquired part of Cheltenham Borough Council’s car park adjoining St 
Georges Road offices.

Rural Estate Strategy

11. The Rural Estates Strategy 2016-2030 sets out the future strategy for the progressive 
rationalisation of the rural estate.  

12. A review of this strategy will be undertaken to determine its adherence to the current plan 
and to identify any further opportunities.  This review to include an updated review of the 
potential for the estate to generate renewable energy or provide opportunities for 
biodiversity net gain and that it is aligned with the Councils Climate Change Strategy. 

Options

13. Cabinet are asked to confirm that the properties and land described at Appendix A 
(Exempt) which have previously been declared surplus by Cabinet in March 2021 and not 
yet disposed of, continue to be surplus to requirements.

14. Cabinet are asked to declare all sites on the Schedule of Disposals Appendix B (Exempt) 
as surplus to the Council’s land and property requirements.  Should Cabinet choose to 
identify any specific sites which they do not wish to declare surplus at this point, Officers 
will remove them from the Schedule and return them to Cabinet for decision at a future 
date.

Risks 

15. Should Cabinet elect to remove any specific site from the Schedule of Disposals, this 
could cause a delay in the disposal process for these specific sites – which could have an 
overall impact on the delivery of future capital receipts targets. The Council is best able to 
respond to the market and opportunities if sites are already declared surplus to 
requirements by Cabinet – enabling the achievement of best value. There is a significant 
risk that short delays in decision making can lead to long delays in the disposal. 

Financial Implications

16. Capital receipts generated from the disposal of property will be used for overall financing 
of the capital programme. 

Page 134



Climate Change implications

17. The proposed disposal of the properties listed in the schedule will provide an opportunity 
for the Council to divest itself of property which, in some cases, does not meet modern 
day design standards and whose heating systems need to be replaced to meet the 
Council’s climate change strategy.

Equality implications

18. In recommending sites as surplus to Council requirements, and in compiling the Schedule 
of Disposals officers across the Council have paid due regard to the impact on groups with 
protected characteristics. Some sites on the Schedule are surplus to requirements due to 
changing plans for office accommodation used by the Council, and where these buildings 
are currently occupied by our employees, or those of our partners, the impact of the 
closure of the building and the relocation of their place of work will be taken into 
consideration. Information on the impact will be gathered through the collection of data 
concerning the individual members of staff who will need to be relocated. Where required, 
due regard will be paid to the needs of staff to ensure that any issues relating to the new 
workplace are considered (eg specific chair requirements, disabled parking spaces etc) in 
order to mitigate any negative impact.  Where buildings have been providing a service 
those users have been catered for in other buildings. 

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

19. A DPIA is not required for this decision

Social value implications

20. There are no social value implications regarding the disposal of council property.

Consultation feedback

21. Consultation has taken place with the Lead Cabinet Member, Property Board, service 
areas and other organisations where appropriate in the development of this Schedule of 
Disposals.

22. Local members are consulted prior to land and property being marketed.

23. As each site is disposed of, the Development and Disposals team will do so in accordance 
with the Council’s ‘Policy for the Disposal of Property’ which contains clear consultation 
requirements.  

Officer recommendations

24. Officers recommend that Cabinet declare the sites listed on the proposed Schedule of 
Disposals surplus to the Council’s land and property requirements, and delegates 
authority to the Assistant Director – Asset Management and Property Services to dispose 
of these sites in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change and the 
Council’s Chief Financial Officer.

Page 135



Performance Management/Follow-up

25. In accordance with the ‘Policy for the Disposal of Property’, Officers will provide an update 
to Cabinet early 2022 on the progress against the Schedule of Disposals and developing 
plans for future disposals. This will be monitored by the Property Board at regular 
meetings and by the Senior Management Team in AMPS.

Page 136



Document is Restricted

Page 137

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 141

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Bus Back Better – Gloucestershire’s Bus Service Improvement Plan

Cabinet Date 22/09/21

Cabinet Member Cllr Philip Robinson, Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills

Key Decision No

Purpose of Report To note progress to date on developing the Gloucestershire Bus Service 
Improvement Plan (BSIP) and to agree the areas of focus to be included in 
the plan.

Recommendations

That Cabinet:
1. notes the update and progress to date on the Gloucestershire BSIP;
2. approves the areas of focus in 1.8 of this report; and
3. delegates authority to the Executive Director of Economy, Environment 

and Infrastructure to:
(a) further develop and finalise the BSIP in consultation with the 

Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills, and
(b) submit this to the DfT no later than  its deadline of 31 October 

2021.

Reasons for 
recommendations

The BSIP forms an integral part of the long term strategy for public 
transport as part of the Department for Transport (DfT) ‘Bus Back Better’ 
strategy. Councils will need to have a BSIP in order to receive future DfT 
funding and support to invest in public transport in the long term. This 
report considers stage one of a two stage process: an Enhanced 
Partnership document will need to be agreed with bus service operators 
prior to 31 March 2022. This will be subject to public consultation before it 
is taken to Cabinet for approval prior to submission.

Page 143

Agenda Item 15



Resource 
Implications

As instructed by the DfT, the BSIP is a high level strategy document that 
doesn’t commit the council to any investment obligations or other 
commitments at this stage of the process, but rather it outlines the areas the 
council will focus on in partnership with the Gloucestershire transport 
service operators, in consultation with the public, in order to include the 
outcome of such input and consultation process in an Enhanced 
Partnership agreement. Such Enhanced Partnership agreement will include 
details of estimated costs for any transport development schemes to be 
included.
The development of the BSIP to date, the planned development of the 
Enhanced Partnership and the consultancy provided by Atkins have been 
funded  using a  DfT grant of £385,000 provided explicitly to help with such 
capacity costs. All development costs will be met with this grant.

Background 
Documents

DfT – Bus Back Better – National Bus Strategy for England
Local Transport Plan 2020-2041

Gloucestershire ULEV Strategy - June 2021

Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy – December 2019

Statutory Authority Gloucestershire County Council is the Local Transport Authority and Local 
Highway Authority

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Name: Tom Main 
Tel. no: 01452 425999
Email: tom.main@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline 22/09/21 – Cabinet approval
31/10/21 – Submit BSIP to the DfT
01/11/21 to 31/03/22 – develop, consult and seek Cabinet approval of the 
Enhanced Partnership document
31/03/22 – Submit Enhanced Partnership to the DfT
01/05/22 onwards - Implementation

Page 144

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/980227/DfT-Bus-Back-Better-national-bus-strategy-for-England.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2020-2041/transport-strategy-for-gloucestershire-to-2041/


Background 

1.1 In May 2021 the Department for Transport (DfT) published guidance on National Bus 
Strategy: Bus Service Improvement Plans. This is a key part of the government’s Bus 
Back Better strategy to support Local Authorities to improve public transport services in 
partnership with transport service operators. The development of this strategy can be 
broken down into two steps:

STEP 1: The development of a Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP). This will be 
a high level strategic document that states the aims of the Council and its 
transport service operators, the areas of focus to improve the local bus 
services in the county in order to; (a) aid the bus industry in its recovery 
from the Covid-19 pandemic; (b) improve passenger access; (c) grow the 
number of passengers using the Gloucestershire local bus network.

STEP 2: The development of an Enhanced Partnership agreement. This is a 
detailed agreement between the council and our transport service 
operators that states how the council and the transport service operators 
in Gloucestershire are going to develop and implement specific schemes 
and provide high quality services to achieve the aims stated in the BSIP.

The purpose of this Cabinet report is to update on progress and to gain approval for the 
first of these steps. The BSIP is the first document that is required by the DfT whose 
submission deadline is 31 October 2021. Following publication of the BSIP there will be a 
period of public consultation, discussion with the transport service operators and drafting 
of the Enhanced Partnership agreement. This Enhanced Partnership agreement will then 
be brought to Cabinet before the DfT deadline of 31 March 2022 in order to gain consent 
from Cabinet to proceed with the actions and schemes contained within. 

Together these two documents will form the wider strategy to invest, improve and expand 
the public transport (local bus) network in the county giving residents greater ability to 
travel for employment, education, health appointments and leisure activities. An improved 
public transport network is a key enabler of the economic recovery and growth strategy of 
the county.

1.2 The public transport offer in Gloucestershire can be broadly split into two parts; a) the 
commercial network that operates without direct Local Authority subsidy, and b) the 
publicly subsidised network. Currently the council invests approximately £3.5m annually in 
direct subsidy of public and community transport services focused on mainly rural areas 
where a bus service is not commercially viable and off peak services in urban areas. We 
also spend over £6m annually reimbursing bus service operators for their acceptance of 
the English National Concessionary Travel Scheme (ENCTS), a free bus pass scheme for 
those who qualify on the grounds of age or disability.

1.3 The council is aware of the many challenges in securing a bus service network fit for the 
future, and meeting these requires a multi-faceted approach. The tailoring of the future bus 
service network needs to be focused on aims and objectives that are stated within the 
BSIP. The challenges are linked to a number of key policy documents, and specifically 
focussed on the carbon agenda and making the bus services as accessible and attractive 

Page 145



to as many potential customers as possible, with a spotlight on enabling the less socially 
mobile and younger population to access both education and employment.

1.4 This year a critical new challenge is managing the detrimental impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic. At the height of government restrictions on movement and social distancing bus 
service operators saw an average of a 90% drop in passenger numbers, impacting on fare 
income across commercial and subsidised services. This revenue shortfall has been 
temporarily bridged by the DfT’s Coronavirus Bus Service Support Grant (CBSSG) to bus 
service operators, and by GCC maintaining our ENCTS reimbursement payments at 90-
100% of pre-pandemic levels. This was done to avoid large scale reductions in bus 
services. However it is recognised that such support cannot continue indefinitely and while 
passenger numbers have generally recovered to around 60-70% of pre-pandemic levels, a 
strategy is required to assist the public transport network to ensure it both survives and 
thrives in a post-pandemic county.

1.5 Climate change is of course another leading issue to be considered and integrated into the 
long term transport strategy. This is being looked at in two ways:

 Vehicles – the current fleet of vehicles on the Gloucestershire public transport 
network are diesel fuelled, ranging from older Euro 3 emission standard engine 
vehicles to newer Euro 6 which emit far fewer pollutants (e.g. nitrogen oxide and 
particulates). Discussions with transport service operators as part of the ULEV 
Strategy and BSIP work are vital to understanding ways to upgrade our public 
transport vehicles not just to the higher standard of engine, but to alternative 
fuels like electricity, compressed natural gas and bio-fuel.

 Public transport use – it is estimated that public transport vehicles in the county 
contribute around 1% to the total vehicle emissions in Gloucestershire; whereas 
private cars contribute around 55%. Whilst emissions can be reduced by 
upgrading the public transport vehicles operating on the network, the greatest 
scope to contribute to emission saving targets will be by encouraging people to 
use public transport more. 

Contributing to the reduction in Gloucestershire’s emissions in both ways is a key aim of 
improving the transport offer and improving access for residents of the county. 

1.6 DfT guidance provides that the BSIP should complement and incorporate existing 
transport projects and development strategies. In Gloucestershire these include the Arle 
Court Transport Hub (part of the Junction 10 works); a potential mass-rapid transit scheme 
in the Cheltenham-Gloucester urban area; the Joint Core Strategy; and the Local 
Transport Plan.

The Local Transport Plan (LTP) provides detail on the council’s existing strategy and 
policies with regards to the bus network, service quality, bus priority, community transport, 
information, climate change impact, investment, land use, behaviour change and many 
more aspects of travel. The aim of the BSIP and Enhanced Partnership is to integrate with 
this policy and build on these already agreed goals.

Page 146



1.7 Following the government’s Bus Back Better announcement, a team of council officers has 
been working with its term consultant, Atkins Global (part of the SNC-Lavalin Group), to 
develop the BSIP strategy, consult with key stakeholders, analyse the current public 
transport network and work with partner Local Authorities and the DfT to ensure the 
council’s approach aligns with the guidance set out by the DfT. The council have met with 
all transport service operators in the county to discuss the Bus Back Better strategy, the 
BSIP and its role in public transport going forward, and most of all to discuss their ideas as 
to what barriers exist to growing the use of public transport, what areas we should be 
jointly focusing on to secure a sustainable future for bus services and what opportunities 
are available to include in this strategy work.

1.8 The aim of the meetings to date has been to identify a number of key areas for continued 
focus and work, agree them with the transport service operators and the public following a 
full consultation later in 2021, and use this to form the basis of the more detailed and 
outcome orientated Enhanced Partnership due to be completed by the end of March 2022. 
The key areas of focus for the council in its BSIP can be summarised as follows:

 Information – high quality information is key to giving both existing and potential 
passengers confidence in the public transport network. It is also an opportunity 
to market bus services to the public. There is a universal desire to improve the 
quality and consistency of information at the roadside via timetable displays and 
real time passenger information (RTPI), and online via the numerous journey 
planning websites and apps, all of which use data that is maintained by the 
council.

 Infrastructure – the locations where passengers wait for transport services are 
a key area of interest. Passengers require a comfortable, safe environment with 
ready access to high quality information. The council has outlined development 
of a Transport Interchange Hub strategy in the current LTP, this involves 
identifying key transport interchanges and ensuring they have the correct 
infrastructure such as bus shelters, real time timetable information, lighting, and 
access to other features where appropriate such as bicycle parking and e-
scooter rental. The continued roll-out of real time displays at strategic, targeted 
locations and the potential development of audio announcements are an aim of 
the BSIP.

 Vehicles – the current public transport fleet can be split into those provided by 
Stagecoach West Ltd (the largest bus service operator in the county); the 
vehicles provided by smaller operators; and lastly the Community Transport 
fleet. Stagecoach are committed to progressing towards Euro 6 standard on all 
of their routes (where currently of 200 vehicles 83% are Euro 5 or higher, and 
31% of those are Euro 6). They are also exploring other options for fuel in the 
future, including Bio-Methane and Compressed Natural Gas (CNG). At present 
the high cost of electric vehicles means that investment is dependent upon 
Government funding and the technology behind hydrogen vehicles is unproven. 
The BSIP is an opportunity to have a strategy in place for expected future DfT 
funding opportunities and to introduce changes to phase in lower emission 
vehicles in the council’s public transport contracts. There is an aim to make all 

Page 147



public transport vehicles and therefore public transport services carbon neutral 
by 2030.

 Bus Priority – journey time and bus service reliability have come up repeatedly 
in bus service operator consultation processes as the main barriers to growth. 
Congestion in urban areas can severely impact the reliability of bus services; it 
extends journey times and means commercial investment tends to be an attempt 
to maintain service frequency in the face of increasing congestion rather than 
improving the service. In order to develop the ‘spoke and hub’ model further, 
where the demand responsive and less frequent services feed in to the core 
commercial network, the core bus routes need to have significantly improved 
journey times and reliability. This can be done with a mixture of measures, key 
areas of focus and research will be in physical bus priority at notable congestion 
points in and around urban areas, continued roll-out of the Traffic Light Priority 
(TLP) scheme, and continued scoping of a potential mass-transit corridor in the 
Cheltenham-Gloucester urban area. Faster journey times and a more reliable 
journey are a key aim of bus service operators and the council for the BSIP, 
schemes will be scoped and costed for review in the Enhanced Partnership.

 Ticketing and Fares – this can be a confusing area for passengers. There are 
multiple operators of bus services in the county each with individual fares and 
ticketing schemes. This is again complicated when other modes of transport, 
such as rail have a separate fare structure. The DfT are aware of the complexity 
of multi-operator and multi-modal ticketing arrangements so they have 
committed to investing in a revenue sharing IT system that will then be available 
to Local Authorities. It is important that the BSIP reflects this aim and provides a 
basis for further exploration. The BSIP and Enhanced Partnership agreement will 
aim to work towards a simplified fare structure with the potential for capped fares 
on expensive routes, these tend to be in rural areas that suffer from low 
passenger numbers and high mileage therefore impacting those who are 
marginalised by limited access to transport services. Through ticketing (i.e. a 
single ticket being accepted on multiple services in order to make complex trips 
easier) is a major aim of the BSIP work.

Contactless payments for bus tickets are available on the Stagecoach network 
and it is increasingly expected that all bus services should offer this payment 
method. A clear aim of all other bus service operators is to investigate the roll-
out of contactless payment to their services in order to address this expectation.

Young people are a particular area of focus. They present a significant 
opportunity for long term passenger growth and are a group who suffer from a 
lack of transport options if they are under the age for driving or if they are  unable 
to afford a licence, or decline the opportunity to drive in order to reduce their 
carbon footprint, or do not drive for any other reason. They are also a group 
significantly impacted by the economic fallout from the Covid-19 pandemic and 
will require significant support to access education and training opportunities and 
employment.

 Multi-modal integration – bus services are a major part of the mobility offer to 
residents of Gloucestershire, however there are areas where they are not 

Page 148



suitable or optimal. Demand Responsive Transport (DRT) is already in place in 
the county and following the council’s successful bid for £1.3m in the DfT’s Rural 
Mobility Fund we are planning to expand the DRT offer in the county with a view 
to it becoming an integral part of rural transport delivery. How well these DRT 
services integrate with the core bus network will be key to the success of both 
types of transport.

Demand for bus service integration with rail services is also high - it is important 
to consider the rail network for external trips in and out of the County, including 
London, Birmingham, Bristol and Cardiff. The route in from the west (South 
Wales) does provide some internal Gloucestershire trips, but as a whole the rail 
network is not a competitor to the bus services.

It is however critical that the links to the railway stations by bus are improved. 
Important stations for bus/rail links are Cheltenham, Gloucester, Kemble (for 
Cirencester and links between the two), Stroud, Stonehouse, Lydney, Moreton-
in-Marsh and Ashchurch (for Tewkesbury).

 Bus Service provision – the challenge for the council as the local transport 
authority and local highway authority is to create the right conditions to support 
both the core commercial services (mainly provided by Stagecoach), provide 
opportunity for further commercial investment in transport services and to 
stimulate demand for rural services (both commercial and subsidised) which 
includes Demand Responsive Services, Dial-a-ride and Community Transport. 

The Bus Back Better project as a whole is an opportunity for the council to work 
with the transport service operators and the public to identify the most 
appropriate way of delivering better public transport in each area, and to provide 
a strategic foundation for a pipeline of future investment and development. It is 
expected that future funding will be made available by the DfT and that funds will 
go to Local Authorities who have both (a) agreed a BSIP and Enhanced 
Partnership agreement with transport service operators in their area;  and (b) 
have a sound strategy for successful investment in local public transport.

In the council’s LTP it has set itself a target of achieving at least an hourly 
frequency of bus service timetable on public transport services on key strategic 
corridors, and improving access for less frequent bus services alongside 
Demand Responsive Transport in sparsely populated rural areas, some of which 
currently have only one timetabled trip a week. 

 Marketing and Engagement – as the main commercial bus service operator in 
Gloucestershire, Stagecoach have commented that they would like a joined up 
approach with the council around marketing and engagement. This would make 
use of the reach of both organisations to engage with the public and achieve 
growth in passenger numbers and therefore revenue. Smaller operators have 
stated that they would appreciate assistance from the council with marketing and 
council officers are aware of opportunities to raise the profile of the council when 
public funding is used to provide subsidised services.

Page 149



Linked with this is engagement with the public. As part of the Bus Back Better 
project the council will fully consult with the public around the proposed strategy, 
this will be a first step towards continued engagement beyond the initial 
consultation phase to ensure all parties are aware of barriers to use and access 
of public transport and opportunities for growth. The DfT guidance states that an 
on-going engagement should be a key part of this.

Marketing and engagement will be targeted at all residents of the county and 
particular focus will be made on younger people who are almost always under-
represented in the past.

Options

2.1 To agree the recommendations set out in this report.

2.2 To decline the opportunity to take part in the national Bus Back Better scheme.

Risks 

1.1 The lack of an agreed BSIP and subsequent Enhanced Partnership agreement would 
leave Gloucestershire at significant risk of missing out on future funding streams from the 
DfT and other sources. The DfT have stated that they require all Local Authorities to 
engage in the Bus Back Better project given that funding will likely be conditional on their 
participation. It also carries a large reputational risk of being viewed by the public as 
missing out on a chance to be part of this national effort to improve local transport.

1.2 As stated in paragraph 1.4 of this report, the Covid-19 pandemic has had a major impact 
on bus passenger numbers and therefore revenue. Recovery from such an impact in the 
medium and long term will depend on a successful BSIP and Enhanced Partnership 
agreement as a means of coordinating future public and private sector investment and 
development. Without this there is an extremely high risk that many bus services in the 
county will fail once government revenue support ends and, as a consequence, many 
residents will be left without a viable means of accessing education, employment, leisure 
activities and vital local services.

Financial implications

4.1 The BSIP does not commit GCC to any investment obligations at this stage, as it is a high 
level strategy document that states the areas the council wishes to pursue as part of the 
Bus Back Better project and will form the basis of the Enhanced Partnership agreement 
document. This Enhanced Partnership agreement document will contain detail on how the 
council will achieve the aims set out in the BSIP, including estimated financial implications. 
This will be brought to Cabinet at a later date for consideration and approval before it is 
submitted to the DfT prior to the deadline of 31 March 2022.

Page 150



4.3 The development of the BSIP to date, the planned development of the Enhanced 
Partnership and the consultancy provided by Atkins have been funded  using a  DfT grant 
of £385,000 which was provided explicitly to help with such capacity costs. All 
development costs will be met from this grant.

Climate change implications

5.1 Increased use of public transport, regardless of the vehicle fuel type, is a net benefit to the 
county in terms of the reduction of emissions of greenhouse gases and local air pollutants. 
Public transport vehicles in the county currently contribute around 1% to the total vehicle 
carbon dioxide emissions of Gloucestershire. By comparison, private cars contribute 
around 55%. Improving use of the existing public transport network will contribute 
enormously to meeting the council’s net zero emission savings target. Improvements to 
this network, giving more Gloucestershire residents more opportunity to travel and to more 
destinations, will make an even greater contribution.

5.2 Moving from fossil fuelled vehicles to renewable sources is a key aim in the medium term 
for public transport, as set out in the ULEV Strategy. As part of the BSIP consultation with 
bus service operators so far, the council has discussed in detail electric buses, 
compressed natural gas solutions and also bio-methane. The BSIP will contain a 
commitment to further investigating alternative fuelled vehicles and ensure we are 
prepared with an agreed strategy when funding rounds are opened by the government 
which is committed to helping Local Authorities and transport service operators with the 
high cost of migrating to such vehicles.

5.3 One short term measure the council wishes to include in the BSIP is a commitment to 
raise the vehicle emission standards of its subsidised bus network. Currently the council 
does not specify any minimum engine requirements (see paragraph 1.5 of this report for 
more information on these engine standards) as part of its contract tender process. The 
council aims to provide a phased approach first to specify Euro 5 engines to operate GCC 
contracts, then to Euro 6. It is important to do this in a measured way to avoid spikes in 
contract costs and to give providers the opportunity to asses their fleet and plan a 
replacement strategy to meet this requirement.

Equality implications

6.1 At this time, no Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken due to the strategic 
nature of the work so far. However a full assessment will be performed as part of the 
Cabinet report for the proposed Enhanced Partnership agreement at the relevant time, as 
this will contain stated and detailed actions that will have a positive effect on users of 
public transport, many of whom are expected to fall within the protected characteristic 
groups.

6.2 The council is acutely aware that some of the most vulnerable residents in the county rely 
on public transport to move around and access services. There are many aspects of 
public transport that are in place to improve access to vulnerable residents, such as high 
kerbs/low floor buses, improved access to information, the ENCTS pass offers unlimited 
travel for eligible pass holders, improved training for bus drivers and continued 

Page 151



engagement with local disability groups. The more sustainable bus services we can 
maintain, the better access we will give to all residents of the county including those with 
protected characteristics.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

7.1 There is no current impact of this work with regards to Data Protection as no personal data 
is used. However, this may need to be considered in future once details are confirmed.

Social value implications

8.1 The majority of bus service operators who provide transport in Gloucestershire are 
Gloucestershire-based SME companies who put a significant amount of time and resource 
into the local economy by employing drivers, passenger assistants, office staff and 
managers. They also invest significantly in training and development of their staff, all 
drivers of larger vehicles will have to undertake and pass the professional CPC 
qualification. Many such operators also work with and contribute to local charities, and 
most of our Community Transport operators are charities in their own right due to the 
exceptional service they offer to their local area, areas that often lack regular transport 
services due to their extremely rural nature.

8.2 Transport services also contribute significantly to the economy by offering residents 
opportunities to move around the county for training, education and employment. A 
healthy transport network is vital to a growing local economy and also to give people a 
chance to socialise. Many younger, older and disabled residents do not have access to a 
car so the only way they can travel to meet family and friends, access health 
appointments and take part in leisure activities is by using the public transport network.

Consultation feedback

9.1 Council Officers and Atkins Global have met and consulted with all bus service operators 
in the county during the period 01/05/21-20/08/21, in order to advise them of the BSIP and 
the impact it will have on public transport, and also gather their feedback around any 
issues arising therefrom. It also gave such operators a chance to raise any issues they 
considered important, and in many cases shape a significant part of the council’s BSIP. 
Partnership working is at the heart of the Bus Back Better project and the BSIP is the first 
stage towards a fully agreed Enhanced Partnership with all transport service operators.

9.2 It is a requirement for the council to go out to full public consultation prior to the 
submission of the Enhanced Partnership in March 2022. This will be done in full in a timely 
manner to both assess the responses, consider them for inclusion in the agreement, and 
enable Cabinet to consider this feedback prior to the council’s submission of  the 
Enhanced Partnership agreement to the DfT.

The council is currently gathering public feedback in other ways, i.e. via the Transport 
Focus passenger representative group, comments made to transport service operators 

Page 152



and Councillors, engagement sessions and the existing knowledge of Officers who have 
years of experience engaging with the public regarding transport.

9.3 After the BSIP and Enhanced Partnership agreement are agreed and finalised, public 
engagement will form a key part of the council’s public transport strategy going forward. 
The council aims to include a mechanism for the public to pro-actively engage with it both 
with regular events and an electronic reporting system.

Officer recommendations

10.1 That Cabinet note the update on progress so far on the GCC BSIP, that they approve the 
areas of focus in detailed in paragraph 1.8 of this report and delegate authority to the 
Executive Director of Economy, Environment and Infrastructure, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills to develop and submit the final 
version of the BSIP to meet the DfT deadline of 31 October 2021.

Performance management/follow-up 

11.1 The Bus Service Improvement Plan will be published by 31 October 2021 and the 
Enhanced Partnership will enter force on 1 April 2022. GCC will publish a review of the BSIP 
by 31 October of each subsequent year for as long as the Enhanced Partnership is in force. 

Page 153



Appendix 1 – BSIP Logic Map

A logic map for the BSIP to summarise the context, challenges, possible 
interventions/implementations and outcomes is included below. This provides a framework for 
the rest of the BSIP.

Page 154


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Recommissioning of a Move-on and Enablement Service for Young People with Disabilities in Stroud
	6 Recommissioning of an Expert by Experience (EBE) led Quality Assurance (QA) Programme for health & social care commissioned services for people with disabilities..
	7 Community Meals – Re-Procurement
	8 The procurement of highway services and construction phase works in connection with the delivery of Blakeney West Geotechnical Stabilisation Scheme
	9 Highways Major Project Framework Contract
	10 Procurement of Physical Book Stock for Gloucestershire Libraries
	11 Parking ICT Contracts
	12 Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service Draft Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2025
	GFRS CRMP 2022-2025 Cabinet Paper edit version v2

	13 Financial Monitoring Report 2021/22
	14 Schedule of Proposed Disposals
	Appendix A Exempt Schedule of Disposals
	Appendix B Exempt Schedule of Disposals

	15 Bus Back Better - Gloucestershire's Bus Service Improvement Plan

